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Special order after final judgment re: attorney’s fees and costs.
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Please see attached, Exhibit 1, page 4a.

Whether the district court erred in its August 25, 2023 order by awarding to PwC $2,425,710.30 
in attorney’s fees and costs.
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~|W)̂Xb\X_h\ ŶẐ _̀_[aXb\[YX_e\Ŷ gll\g̀tgcXỲ \̀ds]glYcX��rdah\[XhYX_Y[
j('?Ev�jsk�vVjsk�YZv}k

������

�!����!�������
�� ���������������������"

���������
�� ���
����������
�
���

����O:�+�

����O2�+�

����O=

7������
�
��

7������
�
��

7������
�
��

(F@AGNYX_Y[chgd\lrZcrg[XXY('?Ex�YZhYX_Y[ĉYZZ\b\gZ_[aYZZ\eY[c_d\ZgX_Y[hg]XỲ X̀b\
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�������
��u

�+�8��������
��
�����
���

�
�	������������
������
������� �$���
�
�����
���!
���������
��������
�"��"��
���
������� 5.z. �������!�
��
���� ������"�� ��
�����u

ViW*_�\gsZ_\̂d\ceZ_lX_Y[jiXYvtYZdckŶ \geblgZX]�cc\lgZgX\èg_hc�
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Please see attached, Exhibit 1, page 9a.
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EXHIBIT 1 



4a

8. Nature of Action.

Plaintiff filed his complaint seeking to hold PwC responsible for negligently representing him 
with respect to a 2003 transaction commonly referred to as a “Midco transaction.” The district 
court, Judge Elizabeth Gonzalez, entered an October 24, 2018 order granting summary judgment 
in favor of PwC, ruling that claims arising from services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003 are 
time-barred. Plaintiff amended his complaint to allege claims arising against PwC in 2008, and 
on January 5, 2021, Judge Gonzalez denied PwC’s motion to strike Plaintiff’s jury demand. On 
mandamus, Judge Joanna Kishner, who replaced Judge Gonzalez, entered an April 29, 2022 
order that Plaintiff was bound by a jury trial waiver under Lowe Enters. Residential Partners, 
L.P. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 118 Nev. 92 (2002). The matter proceeded to a bench trial 
on Plaintiff’s amended complaint. On February 9, 2023, Judge Kishner entered Findings of Fact 
and Conclusions of Law and Judgment, ruling in favor of PwC at trial. Plaintiff timely appealed 
from that final judgment.

On August 21, 2023, Plaintiff filed a motion for relief from the judgment under NRCP 60(b). 
The motion is based on newly discovered evidence. The District Court has scheduled a hearing 
on Plaintiff’s NRCP 60(b) motion for November 1, 2023.

On March 15, 2023, before Plaintiff filed his NRCP 60(b) motion, PwC filed a motion seeking 
its attorneys’ fees and costs, based on two $50,000 offers of judgment it made to Plaintiff—the 
first on September 25, 2019, and the second on October 6, 2021. On August 25, 2023, the 
District Court entered an order denying PwC’s motion with respect to the 2019 offer of 
judgment, granting the motion with respect to the 2021 offer of judgment, and entering an award 
to PwC of $2,425.710.30. (Dkt. No. 86317.)



Appellant (underlying Plaintiff) Michael Tricarichi’s Causes of action against: 

 

- Respondent (underlying Defendant) PwC: 

o Negligence, gross negligence & negligent representation for acts in 

2003—summary judgment granted in Respondent’s favor. See Exhibit 

2.  

o Negligence, gross negligence & negligent representation for acts 

arising after 2003—judgment in favor of Respondent PwC following 

bench trial.  See Exhibit 5.  

 

- Defendants (non-Respondents) Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A., Utrecht-

America Finance Co., Seyfarth Shaw LLP, and Graham R. Taylor: 

 

o Aiding and abetting fraud, civil conspiracy, and racketeering— Court 

granted motion to dismiss all claims against Defendants Raboban, 

Utrecht & Seyfarth.  See Exhibits 12 and 13.  

o All claims against Defendant Graham R. Taylor were dismissed 

pursuant to NRCP 4(e)(2) as he was never served and made no 

appearance in the case. See Stipulation and Order to Amend Case 

Caption memorializing dismissal, attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

Nevertheless, out of an abundance of caution, Appellant Tricarichi 

filed in the District Court a notice of voluntary dismissal of all claims 

against Defendant Taylor without prejudice. See Notice of Voluntary 

Dismissal, attached hereto as Exhibit 11.   

 

- Defendants (non-Respondents) Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A., Utrecht-

America Finance Co.:  

o Unjust enrichment— Court granted motion to dismiss all claims 

against Raboban and Utrecht.  See Exhibit 12.  
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Patrick Byrne, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 7636 
Bradley T. Austin, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 13064 
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89169 
Telephone:  702.784.5200 
Facsimile:  702.784.5252 
pbyrne@swlaw.com 
baustin@swlaw.com  
 
Peter B. Morrison, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
peter.morrison@skadden.com 
Winston P. Hsiao, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
winston.hsiao@skadden.com 
SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP 
300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400 
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3144 
Telephone: (213) 687-5000 
Facsimile: (213) 687-5600 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI,  
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vs. 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLP, 
COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A., 
UTRECHT-AMERICA FINANCE CO., 
SEYFARTH SHAW LLP and GRAHAM R. 
TAYLOR, 
 

Defendants. 

Case No. A-16-735910-B 
 
Dept. No. XI 
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TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE COUNSEL: 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the attached ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT was entered in the above-entitled matter on October 24, 2018.   

 

Dated: October 24, 2018                                SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 
 

 By:  /s/ Bradley Austin     
Patrick Byrne Esq. 
Bradley T. Austin, Esq. 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
 
Peter B. Morrison, Esq.  
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
Winston P. Hsiao, Esq. 
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & 
FLOM, LLP 
300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400 
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3144 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

 
  



 

 - 3 -  
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Sn
el

l &
 W

ilm
er

  L
.L

.P
.  

 
L

A
W

 O
F

F
IC

E
S

 
3

8
8

3
 H

o
w

ar
d

 H
u

gh
es

 P
ar

kw
ay

, 
S

u
it

e 
1

1
0

0
 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, 

N
ev

ad
a 

 8
9

1
6

9
 

7
0

2
.7

8
4

.5
2

0
0

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 As an employee of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P., I certify that a copy of the foregoing NOTICE 

OF ENTRY OF ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT was served on October 

24, 2018, by the method indicated: 
  

 i) BY FAX:  by transmitting via facsimile the document(s) listed above to 
the fax number(s) set forth below on this date before 5:00 p.m. pursuant to EDCR Rule 
7.26(a).  A printed transmission record is attached to the file copy of this document(s). 

 ii) BY U.S. MAIL:  by placing the document(s) listed above in a sealed 
envelope with postage thereon fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, 
Nevada addressed as set forth below. 

 iii) BY OVERNIGHT MAIL:  by causing document(s) to be picked up by 
an overnight delivery service company for delivery to the addressee(s) on the next 
business day. 

 iv) BY PERSONAL DELIVERY:  by causing personal delivery 
by                     , a messenger service with which this firm maintains an account, of the 
document(s) listed above to the person(s) at the address(es) set forth below. 

 v) BY ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION:  submitted to the above-entitled 
Court for electronic filing and service upon the Court’s Service List for the above-
referenced case. 

 vi) BY EMAIL:  by emailing a PDF of the document listed above to the 
email addresses of the individual(s) listed below. 

 
Mark A. Hutchison, Esq. 
Todd L. Moody, Esq. 
Todd W. Prall, Esq. 
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC 
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
mhutchison@hutchlegal.com 
tmoody@hutchlegal.com 
tprall@hutchlegal.com 
 
Scott F. Hessell, Esq. 
Thomas D. Brooks, Esq. 
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 
55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 
Chicago, IL 60603 
shessell@sperling-law.com 
tbrooks@sperling-law.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

  

   
 /s/ Veronica Cross 
An employee of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P. 

 4822-0665-0745.1 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  

 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

Defendant. 

CASE NO.:   A-16-735910-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XXXI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW AND JUDGMENT 

 

 

 

 

 This matter came on for a Bench Trial before the Honorable Judge Joanna 

S. Kishner, Department XXXI, commencing October 31, 2022, and the trial 

concluded November 10, 2022.  Appearing for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi was 

Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC., along with pro hac 

vice counsel, Scott F. Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of SPERLING & 

SLATER, P.C.  Appearing for Defendant PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. (“PwC”) 

was Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq. of SNELL & WILMER, 

LLP, along with pro hac vice counsel, Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. 

Landgraff, Esq., Katharine A. Roin, Esq., of BARTLIT BECK, LLP.   The Court, 

having heard the testimony of the witnesses, having reviewed the trial exhibits 

and evidence, and having heard arguments of counsel finds and orders as 

follows: 

Electronically Filed
02/09/2023 1:33 PM

Statistically closed: USJR - CV - Bench Trial - Judgment Reached (USJRBT)
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
I. Introduction and Relevant Parties 

1. This case arises from a 2003 transaction, in which Plaintiff Michael 

Tricarichi (“Tricarichi”) sold his shares of his wholly-owned business, Westside 

Cellular (“Westside”) to Fortrend International LLC (“Fortrend”) for approximately 

$34.9 million (the “Westside Transaction”).  Tricarichi retained Defendant 

PriceWaterHouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”), among others, to provide tax services 

related to the sale.1   

2. The IRS later audited Westside’s 2003 tax return and sought to 

collect Westside’s unpaid taxes from Tricarichi.  The Tax Court ultimately 

ordered Tricarichi to pay roughly $21 million in additional taxes and penalties, 

plus interest. Ex.2 66, Tricarichi Tax Court Memo at 068.  

3. In 2016, Tricarichi filed this lawsuit against PwC, alleging that PwC 

was negligent in providing tax advice in 2003. Dkt. 1, Compl. ¶¶ 81–96.  The 

Court granted Summary Judgment for PwC on that claim - on statute of 

limitations grounds. Dkt. 119, Order Granting Summ. J. at 3.  Tricarichi then 

amended his Complaint to allege that PwC was separately negligent five years 

later for, among other things, failing to advise him in 2008 about IRS Notice 

2008-111, which was issued in December 2008. Dkt. 140, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115–

121. Tricarichi set forth that inter alia if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he could have avoided years of litigation with the IRS. Id. ¶ 121.  

                                                           
1 While the background facts of this case have been extensively cited not only in at least two 
appellate decisions and in the Order in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court reiterates 
the relevant background facts as set forth in the trial to the extent they do not conflict with the law 
of the case.   
2 “Ex.” refers to exhibits admitted into evidence at trial. “TT” (followed by the corresponding day of 
trial) refers to the trial transcripts, which are filed as docket numbers 396–405.  
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4.  At trial, Tricarichi sought  to recover the interest that has accrued 

on his tax deficiency between early 2009 and 2018 as well as attorney’s fees 

and other costs he incurred litigating against the IRS (approximately $3 million) 

— a total of approximately $18 million. 

 
II. The Westside Transaction  
 
5. In April and May of 2003, Westside received approximately $65 

million in settlement proceeds from antitrust claims brought in Ohio. Ex. 66 at 

007.  The Record reflects that Tricarichi knew he would face substantial tax 

liability on the settlement - both at the corporate level, and as a shareholder of 

Westside and began looking for ways to minimize his tax burden. Id.  Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, made an introduction to a company called Fortrend in early 

2003, who told Tricarichi that it would purchase his Westside stock and offset the 

taxable gain with losses, thereby eliminating Westside’s corporate income tax 

liability. Id. at 008.  Tricarichi set forth that the amount after payment of legal fees 

and employee bonuses, Westside was left with approximately $40 million. Nov. 2, 

2022, Trial Tr. 89:11-16; Trial Ex. 66 at 011.  Regardless of whether the net 

amount was $65 million or $40 million for purposes of the claims at issue in the 

present litigation the analysis is the same.  

6. Tricarichi retained his long-time attorneys at Hahn Loeser & Parks, 

LLP (“Hahn Loeser”) to oversee all aspects of the transaction, including 

structuring it, drafting the deal documents, and providing advice on how Tricarichi 

could minimize his tax burden. TT8 (Vol. 2) 9, 12–13 (Hart Dep. 56:14–20, 

93:24–94:5).  
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7. Hahn Loeser corporate and tax attorney Jeff Folkman, among 

others, had authority to act on behalf of Tricarichi and acted as his agent in 

various matters with respect to the Westside Transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 127, 

Email from J. Folkman at 001; TT3 89:7–90:20 (Tricarichi).  

8. Ultimately, Tricarichi sold his shares of Westside to Nob Hill 

Holdings, Inc., a Fortrend affiliate, for approximately $35 million. The transaction 

closed on September 9, 2003. Ex. 66 at 016, 023. 

III. PwC’s Engagement 

9. Tricarichi separately hired PwC to evaluate the tax implications of 

the proposed Westside Transaction. TT4 142:10–13 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi used 

his brother James as a “conduit” during his dealings with PwC. TT3 143:7–15, 

175:25–176:3.  Tricarichi’s brother, James, was an accountant. 

10. Tricarichi signed a written Engagement Agreement with PwC 

dated April 10, 2003. Ex. 100.  The Engagement Agreement consisted of an 

Engagement Letter which incorporated an attached document entitled “Terms of 

Engagement to Provide Tax Services.”  These documents, collectively, 

comprised the agreement between the parties. See PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, No. 82371, 2021 WL 4492128, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 

30, 2021).  

11. As this Court has found previously, Tricarichi received both the 

Engagement Letter and the Terms of Engagement, and the Engagement 

Agreement was a valid and binding contract. See Dkt. 336, Order Granting 

PwC’s Mot. to Strike Jury Demand ¶ 33.3 

12. The Engagement Agreement specified that PwC would provide 

                                                           
3 The instant Court was assigned the case in 2021 after certain decisions, which are law of the 
case, had been made by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez (ret.) 
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“tax research and evaluation services” for the Westside Transaction. Ex. 100 at 

001.  The Engagement Letter, thus, set forth specific parameters regarding the 

scope of the engagement rather than an open ended engagement.  

13. Section 7 of the Terms of Engagement contained a limitation-of-

liability clause, which states in relevant part:  
IN NO EVENT, UNLESS IT HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED 
THAT [PWC] WAS GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR ACTED 
WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY, SHALL [PWC] BE LIABLE TO 
THE CLIENT OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
EMPLOYEES OR SHAREHOLDERS OR TO ANY OTHER THIRD 
PARTY, WHETHER A CLAIM BE IN TORT, CONTRACT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL 
PROFESSIONAL FEE PAID BY YOU TO US UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE TO WHICH 
SUCH CLAIM RELATES. 

Id. at 007.  

14. Section 3 of the Engagement Agreement advised that  
Tax laws and regulations are subject to change at any 
time, and such changes may be retroactive in effect 
and may be applicable to advice given or other 
services rendered before their effective dates. [PwC] 
do[es] not assume responsibility for such changes 
occurring after the date we have completed our 
services.  

Id. at 006. 

15. Section 10 of the Engagement Agreement specified that it will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. Id. at 007. 

16. It was undisputed that several PwC tax professionals worked on 

the Engagement, including Richard Stovsky, the Cleveland-based engagement 

partner; Tim Lohnes, a partner in the corporate M&A group in the national office 

in Washington DC; as well as partners Don Rocen and Ray Turk.  

17. The PwC team performed a number of services pursuant to the 

Engagment Agreement’s terms, including analyzing draft agreements, 

researching potential tax issues, discussing applicability of Treasury Notices, 

and suggesting deal terms to protect Tricarichi (including indemnity protections 
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and insurance).  

18. PwC memorialized parts of its advice to Tricarichi in a memo 

referred to at trial as the “Stovsky Memo,” which Stovsky updated periodically 

after having conversations with other PwC partners, as well as with Tricarichi or 

his advisors. Ex. 2.  PwC also kept a file with notes and other communications 

that it contended were relevant to its analysis. See, e.g., Ex. 1. 

19. PwC primarily investigated two topics for Tricarichi: (1) whether the 

Westside Transaction was reportable to the IRS as a so-called “Midco” 

transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16; and (2) whether Tricarichi could be held 

liable for Westside’s taxes, including under a transferee liability theory. Id. at 

002–004.4 

20. As to the first question, Stovsky advised Tricarichi that the 

transaction “more likely than not” would not be reportable to the IRS as an 

intermediary or Midco transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 001, 004; 

TT4 158:1–7. 

21. As to the second question, Stovsky similarly advised Tricarichi that 

the transaction “more likely than not” would be “respected” by the IRS; and thus, 

that Tricarichi would not be held liable for Westside’s taxes under transferee 

liability. Ex. 2 at 001–003; TT4 154:3–6.  

22. Based on the testimony of various witnesses for PwC, the “more 

likely than not” qualifier to PwC’s advice is a standard tax industry term that 

meant, consistent with its plain language, there was at least a 50.1% chance of 

prevailing (up to 70% or 75%); or conversely, a 49.9% chance of losing. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 250:5-9 (Harris); id. 60:10–19 (Greene); see also TT1 154:5–20 

                                                           
4 Although the parties disputed the depth of Midco experience the tax professionals at PwC had 
in 2003, that dispute need not be resolved given the Summary Judgment ruling.  
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(Lohnes); TT6 143:2–18 (Boyer).  That specific interpretation of “more likely 

than not” was not set forth in any written communication sent to Tricarichi or his 

representatives.   

23. Based on evidence provided, Stovsky, either directly or through 

conversations with Tricarichi’s representatives, also suggested that Tricarichi 

take out an insurance policy for any potential tax liability or transferee liability.  

Tricarichi did not follow this advice. Ex. 110, Handwritten Notes. TT6 23:18–

25:10.  

24. PwC billed Tricarichi $48,552.00 for the Engagement, which 

Tricarichi paid in full. See Ex. 3, PwC Invoices. 

25. PwC issued its last invoice on October 29, 2003, for services 

rendered through September 30, 2003. Id. at 006.   After that, PwC did not enter 

into any Engagement Letter to perform any paid services for Tricarichi or 

Westside.  While it was undisputed that there was no monetary compensation 

provided after the $48,552.00 was paid in full by the end of 2003, and there was 

no written Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi in 2003, it was disputed 

between the parties as to whether there was an implied client relationship due to 

there being either an ongoing obligation to notify Tricarichi of new IRS bulletins 

or rulings, or the fact that there were communications between PwC and 

Tricarichi or his agents after 2003 relating to the IRS issues that arose regarding 

the Westside Transaction.  

26. While there was evidence that PwC reviewed IRS bulletins and 

information relating to Midco transactions after providing Tricarichi its advice, 

Plaintiff did not meet his burden to show that conduct created an affirmative duty 

on behalf of PwC towards Tricarichi for claims that were not already precluded 

by the Summary Judgment Motion. 

27. For example, in approximately, November 2003, at Mr. Stovsky’s 
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request, Mr. Lohnes reviewed an updated IRS list of prohibited transactions to 

see if the Westside Midco Transaction, or a similar transaction, was listed. Trial 

Ex. 32.  Mr. Lohnes concluded that the November 2003 list “contain[ed] no 

items that would impact [Westside’s] transaction, other than the items we 

discussed previously, namely the midco listed transaction.” Id. at 001.    

28. In addition, it was undisputed that PwC or its attorneys and 

Tricarichi (or his attorneys) had contact after Tricarichi’s IRS dispute began.  It 

was disputed at trial, however, whether these communications were to provide 

general assistance such as providing copies of documents or whether they 

related to the retention of professional accounting services. E.g., Ex. 7, Email 

from S. Marcus to S. Dillon. 

29. At trial, PwC witnesses consistently testified that by 2008, they did 

not consider Tricarichi to be a current client, and that he did not have an 

ongoing relationship with PwC after 2003. TT2 110:24–111:6 (Lohnes); TT3 

31:21–32:3 (Lohnes); TT5 100:15–16 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi, likewise, confirmed 

that he never engaged PwC at any point after 2003, and did not have any 

ongoing relationship after that time.  Indeed, it was shown that while Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, had some interactions with PwC, and so did Tricarichi’s lawyers, 

there was no evidence that Tricarichi retained PwC’s services utilizing a similar 

process involving a written Engagement Letter and payment of fees as he had 

in 2003.  Additionally, the 2003 Engagement Letter, on its face, did not set forth 

there was an ongoing relationship; but, instead, was limited to the scope of 

services provided and paid for.  Further, no additional funds were paid by 

Tricarichi, or anyone on his behalf, to PwC for any type of accounting services 

on behalf of Tricarichi, or involving any interest held by Tricarichi.  TT3 162:25–

163:5; 164:25–165:5 (Tricarichi). 

30. In light of the foregoing specific facts and evidence presented at 
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trial, the Court finds that Tricarichi ceased being a PwC client as of October, 

2003 when the services pursuant to the specific Engagement Agreement were 

completed and the final bill sent.  By 2008, Tricarichi was a former client of 

PwC’s and had no ongoing professional relationship with the firm.   

31. The next issue for the Court to determine is whether, in light of 

Tricarichi’s status as a former client and/or given the interactions between PwC 

and either Tricarichi, his agents, his counsel and/or the IRS, PwC created a 

relationship with Tricarichi that subjects it to liability pursuant to the claims in the 

Amended Complaint.  The Court sets forth the various issues raised by 

Tricarichi below.  

IV. PwC’s Prior Experience with Midco Transactions Do Not 
Provide a Basis for Liability Against PwC in the Instant Case 

32. Tricarichi alleged that PwC’s advice and/or involvement with other 

Midco transactions demonstrated that it knew or had reason to know that the 

advice it provided to Tricarichi was inaccurate or inconsistent; and thus, he 

should prevail on his Amended Complaint.  In support of that contention, 

Tricarichi provided argument and/or evidence that advice provided in what was 

referred to as the “Enbridge Matter” and the “Marshall Matter” was contrary or 

different that the advice he received.  PwC disputed both the allegations as well 

as the applicability of both matters.    

 
A. The Enbridge Matter 

33. It was undisputed that the Enbridge matter arose in 1999 (prior to 

the issuance of Notice 2001-16) and involved the purchase of shares from the 

Bishop Group, Ltd. by Midcoast Energy Resources (which later came to be 

known as Enbridge). Ex. 156, Enbridge Op. at 001–004.  PwC (through its 

Houston office) gave tax advice to Midcoast in the transaction. Id. at 002.  

34. While the Enbridge matter involved a purported Midco transaction, 
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the Court finds numerous differences between it and the instant case.  First, 

there were four parties (including an intermediary entity) to the Enbridge 

transaction, while the Westside Transaction only involved three parties and 

lacked an intermediary entity. Id. at 002–004.  

35. Second, the Westside Transaction also did not include a target 

corporation with built-in gain assets or a purchaser seeking to achieve a step-up 

in the tax basis of such assets, as was the case in Enbridge. TT8 (Vol. 1) 196:8–

14 (Harris). 

36. Third, the Enbridge transaction did not involve questions of 

transferee liability. Id. 195:22–196:7 (Harris). 

37. Thus, the evidence presented to this Court demonstrated that 

there were differences between the two transactions as to not only their 

structure, but also their timing vis a vis applicable IRS rules and regulations.  In 

addition, the Federal District Court’s decision in Enbridge was published and 

generally available to the public as of March 2008, including to Tricarichi and his 

counsel. See, Enbridge Energy Co. v. United States, 553 F. Supp. 2d 716 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008).  Specifically to the case at bar, there was a memo from R. Corn to 

Plaintiff Tricarichi which demonstrated that Tricarichi was advised on the 

differences between Enbridge and the Westside Transaction so Tricarichi could 

not have relied on any failure of PwC to provide him information about Enbridge 

when his own counsel set forth that it was distinguishable from his case.  Ex. 

169, Memo from R. Corn to M. Tricarichi at 003–004. 

 
B. The Marshall Matter 

38. In addition to Enbridge, Tricarichi also contended that PwC failed 

to disclose that it had any prior relationship with Fortrend and any of its prior 

transactions.  The evidence presented to the Court set forth that the Marshall 
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matter involved the family shareholders of a C corporation who sold their shares 

to a Fortrend affiliate to minimize their tax liability from an expected litigation 

settlement. Ex. 56, Marshall Tax Court Op. at 001–003.  PwC (through its 

Portland office) advised John Marshall not to proceed with the transaction and 

stated that it would not consult or provide advice on the transaction. Id. at 004–

005.  The transaction closed in March 2003. Id. at 007.  

39. As with the Enbridge matter, the Court finds numerous differences 

between the Marshall matter and the instant case.  The Marshalls undertook an 

integrated transaction with significant non-cash built-in gain assets (as opposed 

to none in the Westside Transaction), and the nature of this transaction 

presented greater risks of transferee liability than the Westside Transaction. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 199:3–12 (Harris).  Given the differences in the matters, Tricarichi did 

not meet his burden to show that PwC  has liability to him for failing to disclose 

or take into account the advice given in  that transaction.  

V. Tricarichi’s Tax Dispute with the IRS and IRS Notice 2008-111 

40.  In his Amended Complaint, Tricarichi alleges that his claims are 

not time barred based on a tolling agreement and instead PwC is liable for his 

damages and interest because of what PwC did and did not do regarding IRS 

Notice 2008-11.  The gravaman of Tricarichi’s claims are his contention that:  

had PwC informed Mr. Tricarichi of the problems with its advice regarding the 

Westside Midco Transaction and the resulting error on Mr. Tricarichi’s tax 

return(s), Mr. Tricarichi would have been able to amend his return(s), avoid 

interest on taxes and penalties, avoid litigation with the IRS, and thereby avoid 

related legal fees and expenses. Nov. 2, 2022, Trial Tr. 124:12-126:6. 

41.  PwC contended in its defense inter alia  that: 1.  All  of Tricarichi’s  

claims are barred by statute of limitations; 2. Neither its 2003 advice, nor its 

internal review of the 2008 Notice, which it did not advise Tricarichi it reviewed 
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in 2008, did not fall below the standard of care based on the information 

available and the risk factor it placed on its advice even with a retrospective 

view of the 2008 Notice provisions; 3.  Tricarichi hired  experienced tax lawyers 

who he relied upon in making his decisions and those lawyers provided similar 

advice and analysis as PwC did;  4.  There was no client relationship after 2003  

and thus no duty was owed in 2008 or later; and 5. Tricarichi’s damages are due 

to his own conduct including not settling with the IRS. 

42. It was undisputed that on December 1, 2008, the IRS issued 

Notice 2008-111, entitled “Guidance on Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelters.”  

The impact and obligations relating to that Notice were disputed at trial. Ex. 44.  

43. The plain language of the Notice itself sets forth that the purpose 

of Notice 2008-111 was to “clarif[y]” the agency’s prior notice on Midco 

transactions, IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 003.  

44. Specifically, Notice 2008-111 advised taxpayers that a transaction 

would be treated as an “Intermediary Transaction” if: (1) a person engages in 

that transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the Notice); (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice; 

and, (3) no safe harbor exception applies. Id.  

45. In so doing, PwC and others interpreted the Notice to mean that 

the IRS narrowed the scope of Notice 2001-16. TT6 137:17–138:4 (Boyer); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 182:23–183:1 (Harris). 

46. Notice 2008-111 addressed only reportability of transactions to the 

IRS, not liability under the tax laws. Ex. 44 at 003.  The Notice did “not affect the 

legal determination of whether a person’s treatment of the transaction [was] 

proper or whether such person [was] liable, at law or in equity, as a transferee of 

property in respect of the unpaid tax obligation . . . .” Id.  

47. After the IRS issued Notice 2008-111, Lohnes responded in an 
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internal email to a question from Stovsky: “I read through the Notice and agree 

with your assessment that it shouldn’t change any of our prior analysis.” Ex. 

159, Lohnes Email to Stovsky. Stovsky testified that his receiving  the IRS 

subpoena to PwC relating to the Westside Transaction led him to communicate 

with Lohnes about the Notice. TT6 67:9–13. 

48. It was undisputed that the IRS began auditing Westside’s 2003 tax 

return in August 2005, and it interviewed Tricarichi in connection with that audit 

in 2007. Ex. 144, IRS Notice of Audit to Westside Cellular.  PwC was not 

involved with the preparation of Westside’s 2003 return.  

49. On January 22, 2008—roughly ten months before issuing Notice 

2008-111—the IRS sent Tricarichi an Information Document Request (“IDR”) 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 150.  The IDR 

advised Tricarichi that he may be liable for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. 

Id. at 001, See also, Order on Summary Judgment.  

50. The IRS also issued a summons to PwC on January 29, 2008, 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 152.   On February 

22, 2008, PwC responded to the summons, on its own behalf.  In so doing, PwC 

provided documents and set forth its contention that it had not provided any 

services to Tricarichi since 2003. Ex. 155.  Tricarichi was not billed for any of 

these activities. See Ex. 3. 

51. The IRS determined that as a result of the Westside transaction 

the company owed an additional $15.2 million in taxes and $6 million in 

penalties for 2003. Ex. 66 at 027.  In a draft transferee report sent to Tricarichi 

on February 3, 2009, the IRS sought payment of Westside’s outstanding tax 

liability from Tricarichi. Ex. 161 at 003–025. 

52. After receiving the draft transferee report, Tricarichi recruited 

highly experienced tax counsel to advise him.  
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53. Among those who Tricarichi hired were Glenn Miller and Michael 

Desmond of Bingham McCutcheon.  Miller has practiced tax law for 

approximately 30 years. TT7 185:6–8.  Desmond is a tax lawyer with over 25 

years of experience, including being employed at the DOJ’s Tax Division. TT6 

169:15–170:1.  After his work for Tricarichi, Desmond later served as IRS Chief 

Counsel. Id. 170:18–171:13. 

54. Tricarichi also hired a team of lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell, led 

by Don Korb, a senior tax lawyer who, at the time of his deposition in 2020, had 

been practicing tax law for over 45 years. TT8 (Vol. 2) 28 (Korb Dep. 15:25–

16:4).  Korb’s experience included serving as Chief Counsel of the IRS from 

2004 to 2008. Id. at 28–29 (Korb Dep. 18:13–15, 19:23–20:1).  

55. As his trial with the IRS in the Tax Court approached, Tricarichi 

also hired several lawyers at McGuire Woods, led by one of its partners, Craig 

Bell. TT6 182:24–183:10 (Desmond).  

56. While representing their client before the IRS and consistent with 

PwC’s prior assessment, Tricarichi’s lawyers repeatedly argued that under the 

standards set forth by Notice 2008-111, the Westside Transaction was not an 

intermediary transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 102, 4/29/09 Response to Draft Protest 

Letter at 006–010; Ex. 103A, 10/9/09 Formal Protest Letter at 012–016; Ex. 

183, 10/27/10 Appeals Conference Presentation at 002–003, 010–012; Ex. 197, 

3/18/11 Korb Letter to IRS at 003–004.  

57. Each of the communications cited above contained lengthy 

explanations of Notice 2008-111,  by individuals separate from PwC including  

tax lawyers, and they all set forth a similar opinion that Lohnes had provided 

internally to Stovsky---i.e. that the 2008 Notice did not apply to the Westside 

Transaction. See id.  For example, the admitted exhibits included a  March 2011 

communication from one of Tricarichi’s lawyers in the tax proceedings, Korb, 
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wherein he contended  that “pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language 

of Notice 2008-111, the sale of West Side Cellular stock is neither an 

intermediary transaction nor substantially similar to an intermediary transaction. 

We see no basis on which this conclusion can be challenged.” Ex. 197 at 004 

(emphasis added); see also Ex. 183 at 002–003, 010–012.   

58.  The evidence established that Tricarichi’s lawyers and the IRS 

also undertook efforts to settle the case.  For example, in October 2010, the IRS 

indicated it would be willing to settle the claim for roughly $14.5 million. Ex. 186, 

Email from D. Korb to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 187, Tricarichi’s Baseline Case 

Calculation at 005; TT6 177:3–9 (Desmond).  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  

59. On December 6, 2010, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Crowell 

sent a “decision tree” analysis to the IRS, which purported to calculate the IRS’s 

chances of success at trial as a means of estimating the settlement value of the 

case. Ex. 190, Email from A. Mason to P. Szpalik at 002. Tricarichi’s lawyers 

took the position that the IRS had only a 17 percent (17%) chance of 

establishing liability for Tricarichi and an 83 percent (83%) chance of failing to 

make such a showing. Id.  

60. At trial, Tricarichi confirmed that as of December 2010, he 

understood that he had an 83 percent (83%) chance of winning his case against 

the IRS based on the decision tree presented by his lawyers and which PwC 

had no part in creating or editing. TT4 75:19–25.  

61. On December 8, 2010, the IRS sent a new settlement offer of 

approximately $16.1 million. Ex. 192, Email from R. Corn to D. Korb; Ex. 193, 

IRS Settlement Computation at 001.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer. 

62. The IRS made another settlement offer in August 2011 of 

approximately $12.4 million. Ex. 201, Facsimile from P. Szpalik to D. Korb at 

002.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  
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63. Tricarichi did not settle his IRS case.  Tricarichi testified that he did 

not have the ability to settle for the amount that was being sought.  TT4 30:23–

31:1; id. 74:12–14; id. 86:11–13.  Tricarichi’s lawyers also testified that he was 

not interested in considering settlement offers in the double-digit millions. TT6 

198:2–17 (Desmond). 

64. On June 25, 2012, the IRS issued a formal “Notice of Liability,” 

asserting that Tricarichi owed $15,186,570 in income tax and underpayment 

penalties of $6,012,777 (for a total of approximately $21.2 million) for the 

Westside Transaction. Ex. 210.  Tricarichi petitioned the Tax Court for review 

shortly thereafter. Ex. 66.   

65. On May 30, 2014, Tricarichi rejected his lawyers’ suggestion that 

he might consider making a settlement offer to the IRS saying, “I don’t want to 

give the irs (sic) the impression that we think our case is weak, which I don’t 

believe it is.” Ex. 228, Email from M. Tricarichi to M. Desmond.  

66. In their arguments to the Tax Court, Tricarichi’s lawyers continued 

to argue that the Westside Transaction was not an intermediary transaction and 

did not satisfy Notice 2008-111. See, e.g., Ex. 225, Tricarichi’s Tax Court Cross-

Motion in Limine at 005.   

67. The Tax Court held a four-day trial on Tricarichi’s petition in June 

2014.  After the trial, but before the Tax Court issued its decision in August 2014, 

the IRS proposed settling the case for roughly $13.7 million. Ex. 231, Email from 

M. Desmond to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 232, Draft Settlement Discussion Framework; 

TT6 201:18–202:3 (Desmond). 

68. There was no settlement. Ex. 234, Email from M. Tricarichi to 

M. Desmond.  

69. The Tax Court issued its opinion on October 14, 2015, upholding 

the IRS’s Notice of Liability and ruling for the government on all issues. Ex. 66 at 
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005.  Tricarichi’s subsequent appeals were unsuccessful. Tricarichi v. Comm’r of 

Internal Revenue, 752 F. App’x 455, 456 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 

38 (2019).  

70. The evidence showed that PwC provided the information required 

by the IRS or requested by Tricarichi and his agents or lawyers, regarding the 

tax dispute and/or tax trials.  There was no evidence that Tricarichi hired PwC to 

perform any professional services for him relating to the tax dispute and/or tax 

trials. 

71. The Record further shows that while PwC did not contact Tricarichi 

before or after Lohnes reviewed the 2008 Notice at Stovsky’s request, Tricarichi 

was familiar with Notice 2008-111 and was repeatedly advised as to its content 

and applicability by the attorneys he hired.  

72. For example, Tricarichi reviewed drafts of the April 29, 2009, and 

October 9, 2009, letters to the IRS, both of which contained detailed discussions 

of Notice 2008-111. TT7 189:1–18, 190:6-22 (discussing Ex. 102); Ex. 103A at 

030.  In fact, Tricarichi signed the October 9, 2009, letter himself, attesting under 

penalty of perjury that he had “examined this protest, including any 

accompanying documents,” and that the “facts presented in this protest are true, 

correct, and complete.” Id. 

73. Tricarichi’s attorneys also testified that they advised him on Notice 

2008-11 specifically, and Midco transactions generally, both orally and in writing. 

TT7 189:19–190:2, 193:5–15 (Miller).  

74. For example, in October 2009, Korb sent a memo to Tricarichi and 

his personal attorney Randy Hart, advising them that the Westside transaction 

was “quite different” from the type of transaction described in Notice 2008-111. 

Ex. 165 at 003.  Tricarichi also reviewed settlement presentations to the IRS that 

discussed Notice 2008-111 and the reasons it did not apply to the Westside 
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Transaction. Ex. 174; Ex. 182.  

75. The Court, therefore, finds that Tricarichi was aware of Notice 

2008-111 and his counsel’s interpretation of its applicability to the Westside 

Transaction at least as of April 29, 2009.  There was also evidence that during 

the months and years that followed, his lawyers continued to advise him 

repeatedly that in their opinion, and/or they had a strong argument to present to 

a court, that the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were not met.  This is the 

same conclusion that PwC reached when it reviewed Notice 2008-111 shortly 

after its issuance. See Ex. 159.  

76. The preponderance of the evidence also shows that Tricarichi was 

aware, or should have been aware, of the existence and contents of the Stovsky 

memo no later than 2009.  At trial, Tricarichi testified at one point that he first 

saw a copy of the memo when PwC invited him and his lawyer, Randy Hart, to 

review a box of documents it was planning to send to the IRS in response to a 

summons it received regarding the Westside Transaction. TT4 7:21–23; see 

also TT5 89:23–90:2, 90:21-91:1 (Stovsky); TT6 62:19–63:12 (Stovsky).  This 

meeting occurred in February 2008. See Ex. 155; TT6 62:11–25 (Stovsky).  At 

another point during his testimony, he stated that he was unsure whether he 

saw the Stovsky memo in 2008.  TT3. 122:14–19 

77. Even if Tricarichi did not read the memo at the time he and Mr. 

Hart were to review the documents to be sent to the IRS, that same memo was 

cited by the IRS.  Specifically, in February and August 2009, the IRS cited the 

Stovsky memo and described its contents to Tricarichi in the draft and final 

transferee reports that it issued. Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010.  Further, in 

September 2009, PwC sent Tricarichi a copy of the files it had provided to the 

IRS, which included the Stovsky Memo. Ex. 51 at 001.  Additionally, in October 

2009, Sullivan & Cromwell billed Tricarichi, in part, for reviewing the Stovsky 
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Memo. Ex. 168 at 002.  Thus, even though Tricarichi stated at one point that he 

never heard the phrase “more likely than not” before trial, (TT3 107:17–21) and 

provided different recollections of when and/or whether he read or was made 

aware of the contents of the Stovsky memo, the evidence demonstrates that 

given the number of other witnesses and documents, Tricarichi reasonably 

should be viewed as being on notice of the contents of the Stovsky memo.  

VI. Procedural History of Tricarichi’s Dispute with PwC 

78. On January 14, 2011, Joel Levin, an attorney for Tricarichi, sent 

Stovsky a letter in which he stated that “it is [Tricarichi’s] position that this multi-

million dollar potential tax liability [for the Westside Transaction] lies at the feet 

of PWC for failing to provide him competent services, advice and counsel with 

respect to the subject stock sale to Fortrend, particularly concerning the 

potential tax consequences.” Ex. 205 at 002.  

79. In April 2016, Tricarichi filed a Complaint against PwC  in the 

Eighth Judicial District alleging that PwC’s 2003 advice on the Westside 

Transaction was negligent. Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 37–40, 81–96. 

80. On October 22, 2018, the Court granted Summary Judgment in 

PwC’s favor, holding that the statute of limitations barred any claims based on 

PwC’s 2003 advice. Dkt. 119 at 2.  The Court entered Judgment in favor of PwC 

“regarding any and all claims arising from the services PwC provided Tricarichi 

in 2003.” Id. at 3.  

81. Tricarichi filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a claim 

for negligence based on PwC’s alleged failure to tell him about Notice 2008-111. 

Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 116–17.  Tricarichi alleged that if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he would have immediately stopped litigating against the IRS and 

paid the tax deficiency. Id. ¶ 119. 

82. In the meantime, Tricarichi pursued a professional negligence 
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claim against his attorneys at Hahn Loeser, alleging that they committed 

malpractice by advising him to enter into the Westside Transaction.  After a 

mediation in September 2012, Tricarichi and Hahn Loeser settled their dispute 

for $4 million before any litigation was filed. Ex. 217, Letter from J. Levin to N. 

Schwartz; Ex. 218, Confidential Settlement Agreement at 003 (¶ 5). 

VII. Standards of Professional Care 

83. The primary source of professional responsibility standards for 

CPA tax practitioners during the time at issue in this case were standards 

promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

84. In fact, the Engagement Agreement between PwC and Tricarichi 

specified that all services were to be performed “in accordance with the AICPA’s 

Statements on Standards for Tax Services.” Ex. 100 at 007 (Section 7). 

85. Both Nevada (where Tricarichi was located) and Ohio (where PwC 

dispensed its advice) adopted the AICPA professional standards, at least in part, 

to govern accountants licensed to practice. Nev. Admin. Code §§ 628.0060-5(a) 

& (d), 628.500; Ohio Admin. Code § 4701-9-09. 

86. AICPA Rule 201 provides that a CPA tax practitioner must exercise 

professional competence and due care, which depends on the scope of the 

practitioner’s engagement under the particular facts and circumstances. Ex. 4, 

AICPA Professional Standards.  

87. The AICPA has defined the standard of care, and competence in 

the context of tax planning advice and tax return preparation, in a series of 

documents known as the Statements on Standards for Tax Services, or SSTSs. 

Ex. 106, Statements on Standards for Tax Services 1–8 (Aug. 2000). 

88. SSTS No. 6 is entitled “Knowledge of Error: Return Preparation.” 

This standard addresses situations in which an accountant (or “member”) 

discovers either an error in a previously filed return or the taxpayer’s failure to 
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file a return in the past. Id. at 027.  

89. SSTS No. 6 states that “[a] member should inform the taxpayer 

promptly upon becoming aware of an error in a previously filed return or upon 

becoming aware of a taxpayer’s failure to file a required return.” Id. (¶ 3). 

90. An “error” under SSTS No. 6 is any position that has less than a 

one-in-three chance of success. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 1); id. at 008 (¶ 2(a)), id. at 

011 (Interpretation 1-1); Ex. 149 at 046, IRS Circular 230 (Section 10.34), 

Definition D1; TT8 (Vol. 1) 191:17–25 (Harris).  

91. The “Explanation” section of SSTS No. 6 clarifies that its 

obligations exist only when the accountant is continuing to represent the client. 

Both Paragraphs 5 and 9 of SSTS No. 6 refer to telling the “taxpayer” (client) 

about the error if the member became aware of it “[w]hile performing services 

for a taxpayer.” Ex. 106 at 028–029 (¶¶ 5, 9); TT7 32:16–33:12 (Dellinger).  

92. Paragraph 6 of the same section discusses “whether to continue a 

professional or employment relationship with the taxpayer” if the taxpayer does 

not correct the error. Ex. 106 at 028 (¶ 6).  This, again, presupposes an existing 

client relationship, a point upon which both PwC’s and Tricarichi’s experts 

agreed. TT7 30:22–31:11 (Dellinger); TT8 (Vol. 1) 36:21–37:7 (Greene). 

93. Nothing in the text of SSTS No. 6 imposes any obligations on an 

accountant with respect to a former client.  Trial testimony established that such 

an open-ended obligation on accountants to their former clients would pose 

enormous practical difficulties. TT7 33:13–22 (Dellinger); see also TT8 (Vol. 1) 

38:19–22 (Greene).  

94. SSTS No. 8 is entitled “Form and Content of Advice to Taxpayers.” 

It addresses the “circumstances in which a member has a responsibility to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided.” Ex. 106 at 033 (¶ 1).  
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95. The standard states: “[a] member has no obligation to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided with respect to significant matters, except while assisting a 

taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans associated with the advice 

provided or when a member undertakes this obligation by specific agreement.” 

Id. (¶ 4).  

96. The “Explanation” section of the standard further specifies that “a 

member cannot be expected to communicate subsequent developments that 

affect such advice unless the member undertakes this obligation by specific 

agreement with the taxpayer.” Id. at 034 (¶ 9).  

97. Finally, the standard notes that taxpayers should be informed that 

any advice rendered reflects professional judgment based on an existing 

situation, and that later developments could affect earlier advice.  It further 

instructs that “Members may use precautionary language to the effect that their 

advice is based on facts as stated and authorities are subject to change.” Id. at 

035 (¶ 10).  PwC included such language in its Engagement Agreement. See 

FOF ¶ 14, supra.  

 
VIII. Tricarichi’s Claimed Damages and PwC’s Mitigation Defense 

98. Tricarichi seeks, as damages, the legal fees incurred in his IRS 

litigation, and the interest on his unpaid taxes and penalties that accrued from 

January 1, 2009, through November 13, 2018.  Specifically, in this case Tricarchi 

contends that PwC is liable to him for $3,180,143.03 in legal fees and costs, and 

$14,937,400.18 in interest owed to the IRS.  

99. As one of its defenses, PwC contended through its expert that the 

damages asserted are too high and do not reflect appropriate mitigation.  PwC 

contended that had Tricarichi set aside the money he potentially owed the IRS 
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and invested it in stock funds, bond funds, real estate funds, or some 

combination of these, he could have enjoyed rates of return on the funds he 

kept from the IRS significantly higher than the three-to-six percent interest rates 

charged by the IRS during the same period. TT7 132:5–140:8 (Leaunae). 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
I. Elements of Tricarichi’s Cause of Action (Count III) 

100. Tricarichi tried a single claim of professional negligence (Count III 

of his Amended Complaint) to the Court. Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 115–121.  Count III 

focuses only on whether the issuance of Notice 2008-111 in December 2008 

gave rise to any duty to Tricarichi that PwC breached. Id.5  

101. Despite the narrow focus of Count III, some of the evidence at trial 

focused on what was contended to be negligent acts and omissions that 

occurred in 2003, when PwC originally rendered its advice, or earlier despite the 

Court’s prior Summary Judgment ruling, which barred as untimely “any and all 

claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003.” Dkt. 191 at 3.  

Given the time and effort spent on the providing the detailed history of the case, 

and given the extensive procedural history including appeals and multiple 

proceedings in other courts, the Court has included historical facts and 

testimony for clarity of the record.  By incorporating a fuller factual background, 

the Court is not sua sponte altering or amending any prior judgment or ruling as 

they remain law of the case. See, e.g.  Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7–

8 (2014) (“[A] court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open 

                                                           
5 The Amended Complaint also contains Counts I and II against PwC, both of which were 
included only for preservation purposes after the Court dismissed them on Summary Judgment in 
2018. Dkt. 140 n.1.  Counts I and II were not tried to the Court, nor was any other claim in the 
Amended Complaint apart from Count III. TT9 167:25–168:23. 
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questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher 

one in earlier phases”) (quotation omitted); see also Dkt. 234 at 4. 

102. The elements of a cause of action in tort for professional 

negligence are:  
(1) the duty of the professional to use such skill, 
prudence, and diligence as other members of his 
profession commonly possess and exercise; (2) the 
breach of that duty; (3) a proximate causal connection 
between the negligent conduct and the resulting 
injury, and (4) actual loss or damage resulting from 
the professional’s negligence. 

Sorenson v. Pavlokowski, 94 Nev. 440, 443, 581 P.2d 851, 853 (Nev. 1978).  

103. As set forth in more detail below, at trial, Tricarichi failed to meet 

his burden of proof on all four elements.  

 
II. First Element: PwC Did Not Owe Tricarichi a Duty of Care in          

2008 

104. The Court concludes that PwC did not owe any duty to Tricarichi, 

who ceased being a client in 2003, such that PwC should have updated its 

previously-provided advice in 2008, after Notice 2008-111 issued. See 

Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC, 125 Nev. 578, 584, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (Nev. 

2009) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the Court to decide). 

105. Under the AICPA’s SSTS No. 8, a member does not have any 

obligation to communicate with a taxpayer about subsequent developments, 

except “while assisting the taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans 

associated with the advice provided or when the member undertakes this 

obligation by specific agreement.” Ex. 106 at 033.  

106. At trial, Tricarichi argued that the first exception (“while 

implementing plans or procedures”) was satisfied because PwC provided 

comments on the stock purchase agreement between Westside and Nob Hill in 

2003, which he claimed created a continuing obligation for PwC to update him 
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on subsequent developments in 2008. TT9 112:13–24.  

107. The Court disagrees.  By its plain language, the exception only 

applies “while” the member is assisting the taxpayer in implementing 

procedures. TT9 81:17–84:1 (Harris); TT7 67:2–68:5 (Delllinger).  Even if 

providing comments on the agreement counted as “implementing” Tricarichi’s 

plan in 2003 (a question that the Court need not reach here), it is undisputed 

that those efforts ceased in 2003.  By 2008, PwC was not performing any work 

for Tricarichi.  

108. As to the second exception, in the present case there was a 

specific Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi.  PwC’s Engagement Letter, 

consistent with SSTS No. 8, specifically disclaimed any ongoing obligation for 

changes to the tax laws after services were rendered. Ex. 100 at 006 (Section 

3); Ex. 106 at 006.  Further, there was no contention that Tricarichi was not 

aware of the terms of the Engagement Letter as he even made comments on 

the Engagement Letter which he signed.  

109. Tricarichi also pointed to Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8, 

which discusses when a member may consider providing advice in written, as 

opposed to oral, form. TT8 (Vol. 1) 10:13–14:11 (Greene); Ex. 106 at 034.  In 

the present case, there was disputed testimony about whether there was a 

specific discussion about obtaining the information orally or in writing or if 

Tricarichi knew that he could have requested the opinions to be set forth in 

writing.  Regardless of whether there was a difference between the parties 

whether any discussion took place or not, and even if the Court were to credit 

Tricarichi’s view, the language of Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8 is what the 

Court focuses on to determine if the first prong of the cause of action is met.  As 

the plain language of the provision sets forth that the decision regarding the 

form of advice is left to the “professional judgement” of the member, the Court 
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cannot find that it imposes any affirmative duty on members to provide written 

advice.  Instead, the Court reads the language as setting forth situations when 

written advice may be preferable. TT8 (Vol. 1) 208:10–25 (Harris).  

110. Thus, the Court concludes that Tricarichi did not meet his burden 

to demonstrate in the present case that the standards set forth in SSTS No. 8 

gave  rise to any duty of care on the part of PwC to Tricarichi.  

111. SSTS No. 6, likewise, does not create any duty to Tricarichi.  The 

Court has already found that SSTS No. 6 is limited to circumstances involving 

awareness of an error on a tax return when an accountant is performing 

services for a current client.  Here, PwC was no longer performing services for 

Tricarichi in 2008.  At trial, even Tricarichi’s expert would not commit to imposing 

a duty on PwC under these circumstances. TT8 (Vol. 1) 38:19–22 (“[Q.] Let’s 

say there were no services being provided to Mr. Tricarichi by PwC in 2008, in 

that circumstance would PwC have a duty to disclose an error to a former client, 

under SSTS 6? A. Perhaps not.”).  

112. PwC’s later, occasional, contact with Tricarichi and his lawyers, 

while responding to IRS subpoenas for documents in 2008 and later for 

testimony in 2013 and 2014, does not constitute performing services for 

Tricarichi.  PwC was required by law to respond to IRS subpoenas on its own 

behalf.  Tricarichi concede that he did not seek to engage PwC, and PwC did 

not invoice Tricarichi for time spent responding to the IRS subpoenas or 

testifying at his Tax Court trial. 

113. Relying on internal PwC policies and a single practice guide 

published by the AICPA, Tricarichi also asserted at trial that PwC had a duty to 

maintain a written file documenting how it reached its conclusions about Notice 

2008-111. TT7 106:1–14, 109:7–19 (Greene); Ex. 22; Ex. 88.  

114. While the Court took into account both the policies and the 
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practice guide, it cannot find that either of these created a duty that meets the 

criteria necessary for a professional negligence tort.  Furthermore, the practice 

guide is not authoritative literature and describes only “best practices”; it does 

not impose requirements on all accountants. TT8 (Vol. 1) 88:1–23 (Greene). 

Indeed, it would be Tricarichi’s burden to establish that a failure to follow internal 

policies or the terms of a practice guide creates a duty under Nevada law but he 

did not provide any case law to the Court to support that contention.  Instead, 

the only case cited by either party was outside the jurisdiction and it provided 

that a company’s internal standards are distinct from, and can be more rigorous 

than, external duties imposed under the law. See, In re Conticommodity Servs., 

Inc. Sec. Litig., No. MDL 644, 1988 WL 56172, at *1–2 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 1988).6   

115. Based on the above reasons, the Court concludes, as a matter of 

law, that PwC did not owe any duty of care to Tricarichi, its former client.  

Accordingly, Tricarichi has failed to establish the first element of his claim.  

While the failure to meet all elements of a cause of action would allow Judgment 

in favor of PwC, the Court addresses each of the other elements as well.  

 
III. Second Element: Even if PwC Owed a Duty to Tricarichi, PwC 

Did Not Breach That Duty 

116. Even if PwC owed a duty to update its former client, the Court 

concludes that based on the evidence, Tricarichi has failed to prove that PwC 

breached its duty.  

 

                                                           
6 Plaintiff Tricarichi did cite a one case from a federal District Court in Nevada, Garner v. Bank of 
Am. Corp., 2014 WL 1945142 at *7–8 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).  That case, however, is inapposite 
as it discusses generally that a duty can arise from a special relationship but does not address 
the specific issues raised in this case.  
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A. Failure to Disclose Notice 2008-111 to Tricarichi Was Not 

a Breach Because Tricarichi Did Not Meet His Burden to 
Show that  the Notice Rendered PwC’s Prior Advice 
Erroneous  

117. Assuming arguendo that SSTS No. 6 did create a duty to 

Tricarichi, that duty could only be breached if Notice 2008-111 made PwC aware 

of an “error” in a previously filed return. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 3). It did not.  

118. First, it is undisputed that PwC was not aware of any error on a 

previously filed tax return as a result of Notice 2008-111.  Tricarichi contends, 

instead, that PwC should have been aware of an error because it should have 

interpreted the 2008 Notice as invalidating or being contrary in some respect to 

the advice given by PwC in 2003.  The evidence presented by Tricarichi was 

that the IRS’s position that Tricarichi owed taxes as a result of the Westside 

transaction was upheld by the tax court, and then the appellate court; and by 

implication, PwC should have known that Tricarichi would not prevail in either of 

those courts.  The challenge with that argument is that it is flawed and not 

supported by the facts.  First, there was no evidence that the IRS relied on 

Notice 2008-111, which came out in December 2008, to commence its audit of 

the Westside transaction, which began in 2005 about three years before the 

Notice came out.  Further, on January 22, 2008 - roughly ten months before 

issuing Notice 2008-11 was sent to Tricarichi - he had already received an 

Information Document Request (“IDR”) from the IRS seeking documents related 

to the Westside Transaction.  The IDR advised Tricarichi that he may be liable 

for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. Ex. 150.  Thus, even if Notice 2008-111 

did more than narrow the circumstances in which a transaction would be 

reportable, as was contended by PwC and others, Tricarichi did not meet his 

burden to show that PwC breached its duty within the statute of limitations time 
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frame by failing to update him as there was no evidence that PwC knew that 

such a Notice would come out in until it actually came out and by that time the 

IRS had already begun its audit and he had already received the IDR.  

119. To the extent that Tricarichi also claims that he would have 

modified his tax returns and taken other actions after December 1, 2008, if PwC 

had informed him that Notice 2008-111 impacted the merits of the IRS’s position 

on the audit they had already commenced in 2005, that contention was also not 

established by the evidence. Instead the evidence showed that even after he 

had various opportunities to resolve his tax dispute and had the benefit of 

several legal tax professionals advising him, he chose not to settle the tax 

dispute. 

120. PwC further contended that pursuant to Notice 2008–111, a 

transaction is treated as a Midco transaction if: (1) a person engages in that 

transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the notice); and (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice. 

Ex. 44 at 003.  

121. There was no dispute that the term “Plan” is defined in Section 2 

of the Notice, and it must include the disposition of Built-in Gain Assets. Id. at 

003-004. “Built-in Gain Assets” is, in turn, defined as an asset “the sale of which 

would result on taxable gain.” Id.  

122. The undisputed evidence at trial—from fact and expert witnesses 

called by both parties (including Tricarichi himself)—was that Westside did not 

have any Built-in Gain Assets at the time of the transaction, and that the 

Westside Transaction did not involve the sale of any Built-in Gain Assets. TT2 

95:16–18 (Lohnes); TT4 63:5–10 (Tricarichi) (referring to Ex. 182 at 003); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 76:20–22 (Greene); Id. 191:11–16 (Harris); TT7 200:3–23 (Miller).  The 

theory espoused in questioning by Tricarichi’s counsel, that the release of the 
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claims in the lawsuit constituted Built-In Gain Assets, was not supported by a 

single witness or any evidence in the case. 

123. At the time of the transaction, Westside had only cash in its bank 

accounts from the lawsuit settlement with the cell phone carriers, which was 

considered ordinary income, not taxable gain from the sale of a Built-in Gain 

Asset, and reported that way on Westside’s tax return. TT2 47:12–22 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 76:17–19 (Greene); Id. 259:11–21 (Harris); see also Nahey v. 

Comm’r, 111 T.C. 256, 261–65 (1998) (holding that settlement of lawsuits “does 

not constitute a sale or exchange” and thus would be treated as ordinary 

income, not capital gain).  

124. Thus, given the language of the Notice and how was interpreted 

by others on behalf of Tricarichi, PwC did not fall below the standard of care by 

reviewing Notice 2008-111 and making the determination that it did not change 

the firm’s prior analysis that, “more likely than not”, the transaction was not 

reportable. Ex. 45, Lohnes Email to Stovsky.   

125. Tricarichi argued at trial that Lohnes or Stovsky should have 

consulted one of the designated “Subject Matter Experts,” or SMEs, at PwC 

before reaching this conclusion.  This argument, however, had no evidentiary 

support.  Tricarichi claimed at trial that it was the failure of PwC to inform him 

that Notice 2008-111 impacted his personal liability to the IRS as a transferee.  

Whether PwC had a SME involved or not is irrelevant.  It was uncontested that 

PwC (via Stovsky) did not believe there was any information to provide Tricarichi 

based on Notice 2008-111.  Stovsky was Tricarichi’s relationship tax 

professional at PwC who, in the past, had communicated what he thought 

should be communicated to Tricarichi.  Whether Stovsky communicated 

internally with only Lohnes, or also with others such as a SME, prior to making 

that determination, it was PwC’s decision, via a tax partner, not to provide 
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Tricarichi with any analysis of Notice 2008-111, and whether that decision does 

or does not meet the standard of professional negligence, is the issue before 

the Court.  The issue is not a speculation of whether if Stovsky or Lohnes 

reached out to a SME would that SME give the same or a different opinion and 

if so what would have happened.  Tricarichi’s claim and PwC’s defenses are 

based on what actually occurred - not speculation of what could have occurred 

with a different set of facts.   

126. In addition, in the present case, Tricarichi did not establish that the 

individuals at PwC who provided the advice in 2003 were not qualified to 

provide the advice.  PwC did provide evidence that Lohnes had prior expertise 

in Midco transactions, even though he could not recall names of specific matters 

he worked on. TT3 4:21–5:20 (Lohnes).  Second, the directory of SMEs was not 

an exhaustive list of people at PwC with knowledge about particular 

transactions, but rather that it served merely as a contact list for people outside 

of Lohnes’ group (Washington National Tax Service). TT2 115:2–116:10 

(Lohnes).  Finally, a designated SME on Midco transactions, Mark Boyer, 

testified that Lohnes had a level of expertise in Midco transactions similar to his 

own. TT6 140:15–141:12.  

127. Another reason that PwC’s advice in 2003 was not in “error” was 

because it rendered its advice with a “more likely than not” confidence level. 

That allows for up to a 49.9 percent (49.9%) likelihood of the result going the 

other way.  Thus, even if IRS 2008-111 did expand, rather than narrow, the 

reportability standard (and it did not), that would not render earlier advice given 

with a “more likely than not” standard erroneous.  

128. As noted above, an “error” under SSTS No. 6 means that the 

member advised the taxpayer to take a position with less than a 1-in-3 chance 

of success.  No one testified that as a result of Notice 2008-111, PwC’s original 
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advice on reportability had such a low confidence level.  

129. In evaluating the breach element, the Court also has to look at 

what the other professionals Tricarichi hired advised him with in relation to 

Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to his risk of liability to the IRS.  Both the 

internal communications, provided as exhibits, as well as the arguments 

presented to the various courts by Tricarichi’s legal tax attorneys as noted 

herein, were consistent with the advice provided by PwC. See, also Ex. 165.  In 

addition, there was testimony that practitioners before the IRS and the Tax Court 

must have a “good faith basis” in their positions—the same type of “good faith 

basis” that is required under SSTS No. 1 when determining whether a position is 

erroneous. TT8 (Vol. 1) 235:3–25, 237:21–238:16 (Harris); TT6 184:9–12 

(Desmond). 

130. Therefore, even if PwC had a duty to update Tricarichi about an 

“error” in its prior advice on whether the transaction was now “reportable” 

pursuant to Notice 2008-111, based on evidence presented as to the language 

of the provision as well as the other advise Tricarichi received consistent with 

PwC’s own internal analysis, Tricarichi has failed to show that there was a 

breach of any asserted duty.  

 
B. PwC Did Not Breach Any Duty to Provide Advice in 

Writing or to Maintain Written Documentation 

131. As discussed above, PwC did not have any affirmative duty to put 

its advice in writing, either in 2003 or at any point after.  But, even if such a duty 

existed, it would not have been breached in 2008 when Lohnes and Stovsky 

reviewed Notice 2008-111 for its applicability to the Westside Transaction.  

132. Any duty to provide advice in writing presupposes, as a matter of 

logic, that some sort of advice is being provided to a client.  That was not the 

case in 2008.  Tricarichi neither sought a tax engagement from PwC to receive 
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any advice from PwC in 2008, nor was he provided any tax advice from PwC in 

2008. TT3 162:21–163:5; TT8 (Vol. 1) 113:5–7 (Greene).  Thus, it would have 

been impossible for PwC to breach any hypothetical duty to provide advice in 

writing to Tricarichi at that time. TT8 (Vol. 1) 114:18–25 (Greene).   

 
C. Failure to Disclose PwC’s Prior Involvement in the 

Enbridge and Marshall Transactions Was Not a Breach 
of Any Duty 

133. Tricarichi also contends that Notice 2008-111 should have 

prompted PwC to disclose its prior advice and the outcomes in the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions, and that its failure to do so was a negligent omission. 

134. The Court disagrees.  PwC’s involvement with Marshall and 

Enbridge occurred long before the December 2008 issuance of Notice 

2008-111, and the “independent duty” that Tricarichi claims came about at that 

time as a result of the issuance of that Notice.  PwC rendered its advice in the 

Marshall case in 2003, and its involvement with Enbridge was in 1999.7  

135. Moreover, as the Court has found above, both the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions were substantially distinct from the Westside Transaction, 

and there is no reason to believe that PwC’s work in those two matters rendered 

their advice to Tricarichi any more or less correct.  

136. Furthermore, the evidence at trial showed that PwC would not 

have been able to disclose the specific details of these engagements with 

Tricarichi because of its confidentiality obligations. TT3 35:23–36:7 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 199:17–23 (Harris); id. 102:14–103:4 (Greene).  

137. Thus, the Court concludes as a matter of law that the failure to 

disclose details of the Enbridge or Marshall transactions does not constitute a 

                                                           
7 As noted above, the Court’s 2018 Summary Judgment ruling on statute of limitations bars 
Tricarichi’s allegations regarding Marshall and Enbridge.  
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breach of any duty of care that PwC owed to Tricarichi.  

 
IV. Third Element: Tricarichi Has Not Proven Causation 

138. To prevail on his claim, Tricarichi must prove a “proximate causal 

connection between the negligent conduct and resulting injury.” Boesiger v. 

Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev. 192, 194–95, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (Nev. 2019).  

139. Tricarichi asserts that PwC’s alleged negligence (i.e., failing to 

advise him about Notice 2008-111) caused his alleged injury (the $14,937,400 in 

interest that accrued after Notice 2008-111 was issued and the $3,180,143 in 

attorney’s fees he spent litigating against the IRS).  

140. The Court disagrees and concludes that Tricarichi has failed to 

establish causation for four independent reasons.  

141. First, the record is clear that Tricarichi and his team of tax lawyers 

were aware of Notice 2008-111 and its implications shortly after the Notice 

issued as set forth above.  The Court has already found that Tricarichi was 

aware of Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to the Westside Transaction no 

later than 2009; and further, that Tricarichi’s attorneys repeatedly advised him 

thereafter throughout the course of his litigation with the IRS regarding whether  

the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were met or not.  

142. Thus, Tricarichi’s causation arguments rest on the supposition that 

he would have abandoned his IRS litigation and immediately settled with the 

government if only PwC had added a contrary voice to the chorus of 

distinguished tax advisors—which included both former and future IRS Chief 

Counsels—who were advising Tricarichi that the requirements of Notice 

2008-111 were not satisfied.  While Tricarichi argued that it would have made a 

difference in his decisions, he failed to meet his evidentiary burden.    

143. To the contrary, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell advised 
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him that the IRS did not need to rely on Notice 2008-111 to win, and that their 

argument was “a bit of a red herring.” Ex. 165 at 003.  And when asked at trial if 

he knew in 2009 that Notice 2008-111 was a red herring, Tricarichi replied: “The 

arguments that they’re using in 2008-111 -- again, I’m not a tax expert and I 

keep saying that over and over again. But I can read. Okay? This is not why we 

lost the [Tax Court] case. It has nothing to do with why we lost the case.” TT3 

224:19–23 (Tricarichi) (emphasis added).  The Court has to take Tricarichi’s own 

testimony into account in evaluating every element of his claim.  Giving 

Tricarichi the benefit of the doubt that his words could be viewed out of context, 

the weight of the rest of the evidence shows that there were too many 

intervening causes which prevent holding PwC liable for Tricarichi’s asserted 

damages.   

144. Second, the chronology of the case demonstrates that Notice 

2008-11 could not have prevented the audit which later resulted in the liability 

determination.  Specifically,  Tricarichi  did not  show that disclosure of Notice 

2008-111 would have made any difference to the rulings of the Courts as to his 

liability because the Notice, on its face, relates only to reportability of 

transactions and not a taxpayer’s underlying liability:  The language of the 

Notice sets forth it:  “does not affect the legal determination of whether a 

person’s treatment of the transaction is proper or whether such person is liable, 

at law or in equity, as a transferee of property in respect of the unpaid tax 

obligation . . . .” Ex. 44 at 003. 

145. Importantly, in the present case, the chronology of facts shows 

that the IRS had been examining/auditing the Westside Transaction for about 

three years before Notice 2008-111 issued.  The IRS began its audit of the 2003 

Westside tax return in 2005, interviewed Tricarichi regarding that audit in 2007, 

and issued an Information Document Request to Tricarichi in 2008, all before 
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the issuance of Notice 2008-111.  Thus, even if PwC had informed Tricarichi that 

2008-111 would require Tricarichi to report the Westside transaction, there was 

no evidence presented how that would have changed the IRS determination 

based on the audit that he was liable as a transferee in the instant case since 

the audit had already progressed for three years prior to the Notice being 

promulgated and the IRS had already informed him that it was seeking the 

underpayment from his as a transferee.     

146. The third reason, Tricarichi cannot meet the causation prong of his 

professional negligence claim is that there is no credible evidence to support his 

contention that if PwC had notified him regarding Notice 2008-111, he would 

have amended his taxes and settled the case with the IRS in December 2008; 

and thus, he would not have incurred any of the attorney fees or interest 

damages he is seeking in the present case.  Specifically, his transferee liability 

stems from the taxes filed by various entities as a result of the Westside 

transaction, and he did not present any evidence how he could amend the 

relevant filings in 2008 or 2009 at no cost, and that as a result, the IRS would 

not pursue him for transferee liability.  There was no evidence from any IRS 

witness or anyone else that the outcome described was possible.  

147.  Additionally, the evidence presented demonstrated that he had 

several opportunities to settle the case with the IRS and minimize fees and 

interest but he chose not to do so.  As set forth in the Findings above, these 

opportunities to settle the case came about after he was advised by 

experienced tax counsel as to liability and the impact of 2008-111.  While the 

reason Tricarichi chose not to resolve the matter with the IRS was disputed, 

PwC asserted that the communications between Tricarichi and his tax counsel 

show he did not have the funds or felt the offers to settle were too high, and the 

Record was devoid of any exhibit where Tricarichi contended that he did not 
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settle due to the advice provided by PwC in 2003.  Instead, the only testimony in 

support of that contention is Tricarichi’s own testimony which the Court has to 

weigh in contrast with the other testimony by his tax lawyers and the various 

exhibits that were introduced which are not in accord with his testimony.  In so 

doing, the Court finds that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to show that Pwc’s 

action or inaction relating to Notice 2008-111 meets the causation element of is 

claim.  

148. Thus, Tricarichi has failed to provide the level of evidence 

necessary to support the notion that even had PwC advised Tricarichi about 

Notice 2008-111 when it issued, Tricarichi could have or would have settled with 

the IRS thereby avoiding the interest and legal fees he now seeks as damages.  

149. Fourth, to the extent that Tricarichi’s claim is that PwC was 

negligent in 2008 because it did not advise him at that time of the contents of 

the Stovsky Memo (as opposed to Notice 2008-111 itself), causation is still 

defeated because the record is clear that Tricarichi was made aware of either 

the existence or contents (or both) of the Stovsky memo on at least five 

separate occasions in 2008 and 2009, either by PwC itself, the IRS, or his 

attorneys. TT4 at 7:21–25; Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010; Ex. 164 at 001; Ex. 

168 at 002.  

 
V. Fourth Element: Damages 

150. As the Court has found that Tricarichi, independently, has not met 

his burden on any of the first three elements of a cause of action for  

Professional Negligence, the Court need not, and determines it would not be 

appropriate, to address the damages element.  

 
VI. Basis of PwC’s Affirmative Defenses 

151. PwC tried four of its affirmative defenses to the Court: statute of 
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limitations (second affirmative defense), failure to mitigate damages (fourteenth 

affirmative defense), offset/contribution (fifteenth affirmative defense), and 

limitation of liability (sixteenth affirmative defense).  

152. Consistent with the Court’s determination that Tricarichi failed to 

meet his burden on the elements of his cause of action for Professional 

Negligence, the Court will only address the Second Affirmative Defense relating 

to statute of limitations.8  

153. Under Nevada law, an action for professional malpractice must be 

brought two years from discovery or four years from the alleged malpractice, 

whichever occurs earlier. NRS § 11.2075(1).  

154. Under New York law—the governing law identified in the 

Engagement Agreement—the statute of limitations is three years from the 

alleged malpractice. See Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 644 N.E.2d 1009, 

1011 (N.Y. 1994) (citing New York CPLR § 214). 

155. Under either, the limitation period of Tricarichi’s claim is untimely.  

156. PwC’s alleged acts of negligence related to Notice 2008-111 

occurred in December 2008 or January 2009, shortly after it issued.  Thus, 

under New York law, the statute of limitations would have expired at the latest in 

January 2013.   Tricarichi did not file suit in this case until April 29, 2016, making 

his claim untimely.  

157. The outcome is no different if the Court applies Nevada law.  The 

Court found above that Tricarichi was subjectively aware of Notice 2008-111 at 

least as of April 29, 2009.  Thus, the Court concludes, for limitations purposes, 

                                                           
8 As set forth above, the Court found that the first three elements of his cause of action were not 
met for independent reasons. Thus, the Court found that there was not a basis to address the 
damages element of his cause of action.  Consistent therewith, the Court finds no basis to 
address the other three affirmative defenses which are based on if there was a finding that 
damages were appropriate - there was not.  
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that the latest date that Tricarichi knew or should have known about his claim 

was April 29, 2009.  

158. Under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(a), Tricarichi’s action would have needed 

to be commenced no later than April 29, 2011 (two years from discovery).  And 

under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(b), the action needed to be commenced by January, 

2013 (four years from the alleged malpractice).  However, the statute specifies 

that the earlier of the two dates controls; thus, for limitations purposes, the latest 

date that Tricarichi could have filed his claim is April 29, 2011.  He filed his claim 

five years too late, on April 29, 2016.9  

159. At trial, Tricarichi failed to introduce any evidence of a tolling 

agreement, and expressly declined to do so when the Court inquired about such 

an agreement immediately prior to closings. TT9 100:7–20 (“MR. HESSELL: 

Yeah. No, we don’t need to -- We don’t need that”) (referring to proposed Exhibit 

83).  Furthermore, Tricarichi failed to include any proposed pre-trial findings or 

conclusions of law on statute of limitations.  As such, Tricarichi has waived any 

argument that the limitations period was tolled by agreement or otherwise.10 

Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 44, 

49, 152 P.3d 737, 740 (Nev. 2007). 

160. Instead, Tricarichi’s counsel claimed in his closing argument 

rebuttal, that the inclusion of a tolling agreement - as an exhibit to a brief in 

opposition to an earlier Summary Judgment Motion - relieved him of any 

obligation to introduce it as evidence at trial.  The Court disagrees. See Garcia 

v. Shapiro, 515 P.3d 345, (Nev. App. 2022) (“Regardless, motions, statements 

                                                           
9 In utilizing the January date, the  this Court is providing Tricarichi the longer time frame as it is 
taking into account the Levin letter (Ex. 205).   
10 Tricarichi’s failure to disclose any proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding 
statute of limitations, likewise waives any argument that he is entitled to statutory tolling under 
N.R.S. 11.2075(2).  
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and allegations within them, and exhibits attached to them do not necessarily 

constitute evidence.”) (citing EDCR 5.205(g) (“Exhibits [to motions] may be 

deemed offers of proof but shall not be considered substantive evidence until 

admitted.”)); cf. NRAP 28(e) (party raising evidentiary issue on appeal must 

identify where in the record “evidence was identified, offered, and received or 

rejected”); see also Town of Gorham v. Duchaine, 224 A.3d 241, 244 (Me. 2020) 

(“[S]imply attaching documents to a motion is not the equivalent of properly 

introducing or admitting them as evidence.  Documents attached to motions are 

not part of the record and therefore cannot be considered evidence in the record 

on appeal.”) (Collecting state cases). 

161. Thus, under either the three-year statute of limitations in New 

York, or the two-year statute of limitations in Nevada, Tricarichi’s claim is time-

barred11.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                           
11  As set forth herein, the Court finds that PwC’s Statute of Limitations defense was met. The fact 
that Tricarichi’s claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations is an independent basis upon which 
Judgment for PwC is to be entered in addition to basis that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to 
establish all four elements of his professional negligence claim.  
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ORDER  AND JUDGMENT 

THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS OF FACT and 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and 

DECREED that Judgment shall be entered in favor of Defendant PwC and 

Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from his Complaint.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that 

any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion. 

Counsel for  Defendant PwC is directed pursuant to NRCP 58 (b) and (e) 

to file and serve Notice of Entry of this Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Judgment within fourteen (14) days hereof.  

 

      Dated this 9th day of February, 2023. 

 

 

      _______________________________ 
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�c�����e<>AJOEL?DEgf<>=O?=fE@AJ@Ne��@]>?HJO<DM\><ssgf<>=O?=fE@AJ@Ne�A<=EJ>N?Dgf<>=O?=fE@AJ@Ne���r<D?EO�qJ�P<CON>F�GHIJ�aQMe?==EM�hij�klm�nompb�BQYPTWP�BGqt�TT;���	���VE[<==<�S=>EE=F�SR?=E������rEDLE>F�qu�	�����PEOE_]NDÈ���a���b��
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89:;<==>?�:@A����BCDEFE�GHIJKLM�NOJPQ�� �RSTUVWX�BCUYZ[�\F]̂�BUS_̀ZC�â�bcFTVY[�\F]̂�de\ff�g�hifj\k�f̂f̂R̂��		��lmnSU_�lcopZF�RSUXnSC[�dcVTZ������fSF�qZoSF[�eq�	
��
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JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

FFCL 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  

 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

Defendant. 

CASE NO.:   A-16-735910-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XXXI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW AND JUDGMENT 

 

 

 

 

 This matter came on for a Bench Trial before the Honorable Judge Joanna 

S. Kishner, Department XXXI, commencing October 31, 2022, and the trial 

concluded November 10, 2022.  Appearing for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi was 

Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC., along with pro hac 

vice counsel, Scott F. Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of SPERLING & 

SLATER, P.C.  Appearing for Defendant PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. (“PwC”) 

was Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq. of SNELL & WILMER, 

LLP, along with pro hac vice counsel, Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. 

Landgraff, Esq., Katharine A. Roin, Esq., of BARTLIT BECK, LLP.   The Court, 

having heard the testimony of the witnesses, having reviewed the trial exhibits 

and evidence, and having heard arguments of counsel finds and orders as 

follows: 

Electronically Filed
02/09/2023 1:33 PM

 Case Number: A-16-735910-B 

 ELECTRONICALLY SERVED 
 2/9/2023 2:18 PM 
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JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
I. Introduction and Relevant Parties 

1. This case arises from a 2003 transaction, in which Plaintiff Michael 

Tricarichi (“Tricarichi”) sold his shares of his wholly-owned business, Westside 

Cellular (“Westside”) to Fortrend International LLC (“Fortrend”) for approximately 

$34.9 million (the “Westside Transaction”).  Tricarichi retained Defendant 

PriceWaterHouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”), among others, to provide tax services 

related to the sale.1   

2. The IRS later audited Westside’s 2003 tax return and sought to 

collect Westside’s unpaid taxes from Tricarichi.  The Tax Court ultimately 

ordered Tricarichi to pay roughly $21 million in additional taxes and penalties, 

plus interest. Ex.2 66, Tricarichi Tax Court Memo at 068.  

3. In 2016, Tricarichi filed this lawsuit against PwC, alleging that PwC 

was negligent in providing tax advice in 2003. Dkt. 1, Compl. ¶¶ 81–96.  The 

Court granted Summary Judgment for PwC on that claim - on statute of 

limitations grounds. Dkt. 119, Order Granting Summ. J. at 3.  Tricarichi then 

amended his Complaint to allege that PwC was separately negligent five years 

later for, among other things, failing to advise him in 2008 about IRS Notice 

2008-111, which was issued in December 2008. Dkt. 140, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115–

121. Tricarichi set forth that inter alia if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he could have avoided years of litigation with the IRS. Id. ¶ 121.  

                                                           
1 While the background facts of this case have been extensively cited not only in at least two 
appellate decisions and in the Order in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court reiterates 
the relevant background facts as set forth in the trial to the extent they do not conflict with the law 
of the case.   
2 “Ex.” refers to exhibits admitted into evidence at trial. “TT” (followed by the corresponding day of 
trial) refers to the trial transcripts, which are filed as docket numbers 396–405.  
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4.  At trial, Tricarichi sought  to recover the interest that has accrued 

on his tax deficiency between early 2009 and 2018 as well as attorney’s fees 

and other costs he incurred litigating against the IRS (approximately $3 million) 

— a total of approximately $18 million. 

 
II. The Westside Transaction  
 
5. In April and May of 2003, Westside received approximately $65 

million in settlement proceeds from antitrust claims brought in Ohio. Ex. 66 at 

007.  The Record reflects that Tricarichi knew he would face substantial tax 

liability on the settlement - both at the corporate level, and as a shareholder of 

Westside and began looking for ways to minimize his tax burden. Id.  Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, made an introduction to a company called Fortrend in early 

2003, who told Tricarichi that it would purchase his Westside stock and offset the 

taxable gain with losses, thereby eliminating Westside’s corporate income tax 

liability. Id. at 008.  Tricarichi set forth that the amount after payment of legal fees 

and employee bonuses, Westside was left with approximately $40 million. Nov. 2, 

2022, Trial Tr. 89:11-16; Trial Ex. 66 at 011.  Regardless of whether the net 

amount was $65 million or $40 million for purposes of the claims at issue in the 

present litigation the analysis is the same.  

6. Tricarichi retained his long-time attorneys at Hahn Loeser & Parks, 

LLP (“Hahn Loeser”) to oversee all aspects of the transaction, including 

structuring it, drafting the deal documents, and providing advice on how Tricarichi 

could minimize his tax burden. TT8 (Vol. 2) 9, 12–13 (Hart Dep. 56:14–20, 

93:24–94:5).  
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7. Hahn Loeser corporate and tax attorney Jeff Folkman, among 

others, had authority to act on behalf of Tricarichi and acted as his agent in 

various matters with respect to the Westside Transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 127, 

Email from J. Folkman at 001; TT3 89:7–90:20 (Tricarichi).  

8. Ultimately, Tricarichi sold his shares of Westside to Nob Hill 

Holdings, Inc., a Fortrend affiliate, for approximately $35 million. The transaction 

closed on September 9, 2003. Ex. 66 at 016, 023. 

III. PwC’s Engagement 

9. Tricarichi separately hired PwC to evaluate the tax implications of 

the proposed Westside Transaction. TT4 142:10–13 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi used 

his brother James as a “conduit” during his dealings with PwC. TT3 143:7–15, 

175:25–176:3.  Tricarichi’s brother, James, was an accountant. 

10. Tricarichi signed a written Engagement Agreement with PwC 

dated April 10, 2003. Ex. 100.  The Engagement Agreement consisted of an 

Engagement Letter which incorporated an attached document entitled “Terms of 

Engagement to Provide Tax Services.”  These documents, collectively, 

comprised the agreement between the parties. See PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, No. 82371, 2021 WL 4492128, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 

30, 2021).  

11. As this Court has found previously, Tricarichi received both the 

Engagement Letter and the Terms of Engagement, and the Engagement 

Agreement was a valid and binding contract. See Dkt. 336, Order Granting 

PwC’s Mot. to Strike Jury Demand ¶ 33.3 

12. The Engagement Agreement specified that PwC would provide 

                                                           
3 The instant Court was assigned the case in 2021 after certain decisions, which are law of the 
case, had been made by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez (ret.) 
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“tax research and evaluation services” for the Westside Transaction. Ex. 100 at 

001.  The Engagement Letter, thus, set forth specific parameters regarding the 

scope of the engagement rather than an open ended engagement.  

13. Section 7 of the Terms of Engagement contained a limitation-of-

liability clause, which states in relevant part:  
IN NO EVENT, UNLESS IT HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED 
THAT [PWC] WAS GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR ACTED 
WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY, SHALL [PWC] BE LIABLE TO 
THE CLIENT OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
EMPLOYEES OR SHAREHOLDERS OR TO ANY OTHER THIRD 
PARTY, WHETHER A CLAIM BE IN TORT, CONTRACT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL 
PROFESSIONAL FEE PAID BY YOU TO US UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE TO WHICH 
SUCH CLAIM RELATES. 

Id. at 007.  

14. Section 3 of the Engagement Agreement advised that  
Tax laws and regulations are subject to change at any 
time, and such changes may be retroactive in effect 
and may be applicable to advice given or other 
services rendered before their effective dates. [PwC] 
do[es] not assume responsibility for such changes 
occurring after the date we have completed our 
services.  

Id. at 006. 

15. Section 10 of the Engagement Agreement specified that it will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. Id. at 007. 

16. It was undisputed that several PwC tax professionals worked on 

the Engagement, including Richard Stovsky, the Cleveland-based engagement 

partner; Tim Lohnes, a partner in the corporate M&A group in the national office 

in Washington DC; as well as partners Don Rocen and Ray Turk.  

17. The PwC team performed a number of services pursuant to the 

Engagment Agreement’s terms, including analyzing draft agreements, 

researching potential tax issues, discussing applicability of Treasury Notices, 

and suggesting deal terms to protect Tricarichi (including indemnity protections 
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and insurance).  

18. PwC memorialized parts of its advice to Tricarichi in a memo 

referred to at trial as the “Stovsky Memo,” which Stovsky updated periodically 

after having conversations with other PwC partners, as well as with Tricarichi or 

his advisors. Ex. 2.  PwC also kept a file with notes and other communications 

that it contended were relevant to its analysis. See, e.g., Ex. 1. 

19. PwC primarily investigated two topics for Tricarichi: (1) whether the 

Westside Transaction was reportable to the IRS as a so-called “Midco” 

transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16; and (2) whether Tricarichi could be held 

liable for Westside’s taxes, including under a transferee liability theory. Id. at 

002–004.4 

20. As to the first question, Stovsky advised Tricarichi that the 

transaction “more likely than not” would not be reportable to the IRS as an 

intermediary or Midco transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 001, 004; 

TT4 158:1–7. 

21. As to the second question, Stovsky similarly advised Tricarichi that 

the transaction “more likely than not” would be “respected” by the IRS; and thus, 

that Tricarichi would not be held liable for Westside’s taxes under transferee 

liability. Ex. 2 at 001–003; TT4 154:3–6.  

22. Based on the testimony of various witnesses for PwC, the “more 

likely than not” qualifier to PwC’s advice is a standard tax industry term that 

meant, consistent with its plain language, there was at least a 50.1% chance of 

prevailing (up to 70% or 75%); or conversely, a 49.9% chance of losing. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 250:5-9 (Harris); id. 60:10–19 (Greene); see also TT1 154:5–20 

                                                           
4 Although the parties disputed the depth of Midco experience the tax professionals at PwC had 
in 2003, that dispute need not be resolved given the Summary Judgment ruling.  
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(Lohnes); TT6 143:2–18 (Boyer).  That specific interpretation of “more likely 

than not” was not set forth in any written communication sent to Tricarichi or his 

representatives.   

23. Based on evidence provided, Stovsky, either directly or through 

conversations with Tricarichi’s representatives, also suggested that Tricarichi 

take out an insurance policy for any potential tax liability or transferee liability.  

Tricarichi did not follow this advice. Ex. 110, Handwritten Notes. TT6 23:18–

25:10.  

24. PwC billed Tricarichi $48,552.00 for the Engagement, which 

Tricarichi paid in full. See Ex. 3, PwC Invoices. 

25. PwC issued its last invoice on October 29, 2003, for services 

rendered through September 30, 2003. Id. at 006.   After that, PwC did not enter 

into any Engagement Letter to perform any paid services for Tricarichi or 

Westside.  While it was undisputed that there was no monetary compensation 

provided after the $48,552.00 was paid in full by the end of 2003, and there was 

no written Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi in 2003, it was disputed 

between the parties as to whether there was an implied client relationship due to 

there being either an ongoing obligation to notify Tricarichi of new IRS bulletins 

or rulings, or the fact that there were communications between PwC and 

Tricarichi or his agents after 2003 relating to the IRS issues that arose regarding 

the Westside Transaction.  

26. While there was evidence that PwC reviewed IRS bulletins and 

information relating to Midco transactions after providing Tricarichi its advice, 

Plaintiff did not meet his burden to show that conduct created an affirmative duty 

on behalf of PwC towards Tricarichi for claims that were not already precluded 

by the Summary Judgment Motion. 

27. For example, in approximately, November 2003, at Mr. Stovsky’s 
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request, Mr. Lohnes reviewed an updated IRS list of prohibited transactions to 

see if the Westside Midco Transaction, or a similar transaction, was listed. Trial 

Ex. 32.  Mr. Lohnes concluded that the November 2003 list “contain[ed] no 

items that would impact [Westside’s] transaction, other than the items we 

discussed previously, namely the midco listed transaction.” Id. at 001.    

28. In addition, it was undisputed that PwC or its attorneys and 

Tricarichi (or his attorneys) had contact after Tricarichi’s IRS dispute began.  It 

was disputed at trial, however, whether these communications were to provide 

general assistance such as providing copies of documents or whether they 

related to the retention of professional accounting services. E.g., Ex. 7, Email 

from S. Marcus to S. Dillon. 

29. At trial, PwC witnesses consistently testified that by 2008, they did 

not consider Tricarichi to be a current client, and that he did not have an 

ongoing relationship with PwC after 2003. TT2 110:24–111:6 (Lohnes); TT3 

31:21–32:3 (Lohnes); TT5 100:15–16 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi, likewise, confirmed 

that he never engaged PwC at any point after 2003, and did not have any 

ongoing relationship after that time.  Indeed, it was shown that while Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, had some interactions with PwC, and so did Tricarichi’s lawyers, 

there was no evidence that Tricarichi retained PwC’s services utilizing a similar 

process involving a written Engagement Letter and payment of fees as he had 

in 2003.  Additionally, the 2003 Engagement Letter, on its face, did not set forth 

there was an ongoing relationship; but, instead, was limited to the scope of 

services provided and paid for.  Further, no additional funds were paid by 

Tricarichi, or anyone on his behalf, to PwC for any type of accounting services 

on behalf of Tricarichi, or involving any interest held by Tricarichi.  TT3 162:25–

163:5; 164:25–165:5 (Tricarichi). 

30. In light of the foregoing specific facts and evidence presented at 
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trial, the Court finds that Tricarichi ceased being a PwC client as of October, 

2003 when the services pursuant to the specific Engagement Agreement were 

completed and the final bill sent.  By 2008, Tricarichi was a former client of 

PwC’s and had no ongoing professional relationship with the firm.   

31. The next issue for the Court to determine is whether, in light of 

Tricarichi’s status as a former client and/or given the interactions between PwC 

and either Tricarichi, his agents, his counsel and/or the IRS, PwC created a 

relationship with Tricarichi that subjects it to liability pursuant to the claims in the 

Amended Complaint.  The Court sets forth the various issues raised by 

Tricarichi below.  

IV. PwC’s Prior Experience with Midco Transactions Do Not 
Provide a Basis for Liability Against PwC in the Instant Case 

32. Tricarichi alleged that PwC’s advice and/or involvement with other 

Midco transactions demonstrated that it knew or had reason to know that the 

advice it provided to Tricarichi was inaccurate or inconsistent; and thus, he 

should prevail on his Amended Complaint.  In support of that contention, 

Tricarichi provided argument and/or evidence that advice provided in what was 

referred to as the “Enbridge Matter” and the “Marshall Matter” was contrary or 

different that the advice he received.  PwC disputed both the allegations as well 

as the applicability of both matters.    

 
A. The Enbridge Matter 

33. It was undisputed that the Enbridge matter arose in 1999 (prior to 

the issuance of Notice 2001-16) and involved the purchase of shares from the 

Bishop Group, Ltd. by Midcoast Energy Resources (which later came to be 

known as Enbridge). Ex. 156, Enbridge Op. at 001–004.  PwC (through its 

Houston office) gave tax advice to Midcoast in the transaction. Id. at 002.  

34. While the Enbridge matter involved a purported Midco transaction, 
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the Court finds numerous differences between it and the instant case.  First, 

there were four parties (including an intermediary entity) to the Enbridge 

transaction, while the Westside Transaction only involved three parties and 

lacked an intermediary entity. Id. at 002–004.  

35. Second, the Westside Transaction also did not include a target 

corporation with built-in gain assets or a purchaser seeking to achieve a step-up 

in the tax basis of such assets, as was the case in Enbridge. TT8 (Vol. 1) 196:8–

14 (Harris). 

36. Third, the Enbridge transaction did not involve questions of 

transferee liability. Id. 195:22–196:7 (Harris). 

37. Thus, the evidence presented to this Court demonstrated that 

there were differences between the two transactions as to not only their 

structure, but also their timing vis a vis applicable IRS rules and regulations.  In 

addition, the Federal District Court’s decision in Enbridge was published and 

generally available to the public as of March 2008, including to Tricarichi and his 

counsel. See, Enbridge Energy Co. v. United States, 553 F. Supp. 2d 716 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008).  Specifically to the case at bar, there was a memo from R. Corn to 

Plaintiff Tricarichi which demonstrated that Tricarichi was advised on the 

differences between Enbridge and the Westside Transaction so Tricarichi could 

not have relied on any failure of PwC to provide him information about Enbridge 

when his own counsel set forth that it was distinguishable from his case.  Ex. 

169, Memo from R. Corn to M. Tricarichi at 003–004. 

 
B. The Marshall Matter 

38. In addition to Enbridge, Tricarichi also contended that PwC failed 

to disclose that it had any prior relationship with Fortrend and any of its prior 

transactions.  The evidence presented to the Court set forth that the Marshall 
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matter involved the family shareholders of a C corporation who sold their shares 

to a Fortrend affiliate to minimize their tax liability from an expected litigation 

settlement. Ex. 56, Marshall Tax Court Op. at 001–003.  PwC (through its 

Portland office) advised John Marshall not to proceed with the transaction and 

stated that it would not consult or provide advice on the transaction. Id. at 004–

005.  The transaction closed in March 2003. Id. at 007.  

39. As with the Enbridge matter, the Court finds numerous differences 

between the Marshall matter and the instant case.  The Marshalls undertook an 

integrated transaction with significant non-cash built-in gain assets (as opposed 

to none in the Westside Transaction), and the nature of this transaction 

presented greater risks of transferee liability than the Westside Transaction. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 199:3–12 (Harris).  Given the differences in the matters, Tricarichi did 

not meet his burden to show that PwC  has liability to him for failing to disclose 

or take into account the advice given in  that transaction.  

V. Tricarichi’s Tax Dispute with the IRS and IRS Notice 2008-111 

40.  In his Amended Complaint, Tricarichi alleges that his claims are 

not time barred based on a tolling agreement and instead PwC is liable for his 

damages and interest because of what PwC did and did not do regarding IRS 

Notice 2008-11.  The gravaman of Tricarichi’s claims are his contention that:  

had PwC informed Mr. Tricarichi of the problems with its advice regarding the 

Westside Midco Transaction and the resulting error on Mr. Tricarichi’s tax 

return(s), Mr. Tricarichi would have been able to amend his return(s), avoid 

interest on taxes and penalties, avoid litigation with the IRS, and thereby avoid 

related legal fees and expenses. Nov. 2, 2022, Trial Tr. 124:12-126:6. 

41.  PwC contended in its defense inter alia  that: 1.  All  of Tricarichi’s  

claims are barred by statute of limitations; 2. Neither its 2003 advice, nor its 

internal review of the 2008 Notice, which it did not advise Tricarichi it reviewed 
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in 2008, did not fall below the standard of care based on the information 

available and the risk factor it placed on its advice even with a retrospective 

view of the 2008 Notice provisions; 3.  Tricarichi hired  experienced tax lawyers 

who he relied upon in making his decisions and those lawyers provided similar 

advice and analysis as PwC did;  4.  There was no client relationship after 2003  

and thus no duty was owed in 2008 or later; and 5. Tricarichi’s damages are due 

to his own conduct including not settling with the IRS. 

42. It was undisputed that on December 1, 2008, the IRS issued 

Notice 2008-111, entitled “Guidance on Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelters.”  

The impact and obligations relating to that Notice were disputed at trial. Ex. 44.  

43. The plain language of the Notice itself sets forth that the purpose 

of Notice 2008-111 was to “clarif[y]” the agency’s prior notice on Midco 

transactions, IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 003.  

44. Specifically, Notice 2008-111 advised taxpayers that a transaction 

would be treated as an “Intermediary Transaction” if: (1) a person engages in 

that transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the Notice); (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice; 

and, (3) no safe harbor exception applies. Id.  

45. In so doing, PwC and others interpreted the Notice to mean that 

the IRS narrowed the scope of Notice 2001-16. TT6 137:17–138:4 (Boyer); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 182:23–183:1 (Harris). 

46. Notice 2008-111 addressed only reportability of transactions to the 

IRS, not liability under the tax laws. Ex. 44 at 003.  The Notice did “not affect the 

legal determination of whether a person’s treatment of the transaction [was] 

proper or whether such person [was] liable, at law or in equity, as a transferee of 

property in respect of the unpaid tax obligation . . . .” Id.  

47. After the IRS issued Notice 2008-111, Lohnes responded in an 
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internal email to a question from Stovsky: “I read through the Notice and agree 

with your assessment that it shouldn’t change any of our prior analysis.” Ex. 

159, Lohnes Email to Stovsky. Stovsky testified that his receiving  the IRS 

subpoena to PwC relating to the Westside Transaction led him to communicate 

with Lohnes about the Notice. TT6 67:9–13. 

48. It was undisputed that the IRS began auditing Westside’s 2003 tax 

return in August 2005, and it interviewed Tricarichi in connection with that audit 

in 2007. Ex. 144, IRS Notice of Audit to Westside Cellular.  PwC was not 

involved with the preparation of Westside’s 2003 return.  

49. On January 22, 2008—roughly ten months before issuing Notice 

2008-111—the IRS sent Tricarichi an Information Document Request (“IDR”) 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 150.  The IDR 

advised Tricarichi that he may be liable for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. 

Id. at 001, See also, Order on Summary Judgment.  

50. The IRS also issued a summons to PwC on January 29, 2008, 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 152.   On February 

22, 2008, PwC responded to the summons, on its own behalf.  In so doing, PwC 

provided documents and set forth its contention that it had not provided any 

services to Tricarichi since 2003. Ex. 155.  Tricarichi was not billed for any of 

these activities. See Ex. 3. 

51. The IRS determined that as a result of the Westside transaction 

the company owed an additional $15.2 million in taxes and $6 million in 

penalties for 2003. Ex. 66 at 027.  In a draft transferee report sent to Tricarichi 

on February 3, 2009, the IRS sought payment of Westside’s outstanding tax 

liability from Tricarichi. Ex. 161 at 003–025. 

52. After receiving the draft transferee report, Tricarichi recruited 

highly experienced tax counsel to advise him.  
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53. Among those who Tricarichi hired were Glenn Miller and Michael 

Desmond of Bingham McCutcheon.  Miller has practiced tax law for 

approximately 30 years. TT7 185:6–8.  Desmond is a tax lawyer with over 25 

years of experience, including being employed at the DOJ’s Tax Division. TT6 

169:15–170:1.  After his work for Tricarichi, Desmond later served as IRS Chief 

Counsel. Id. 170:18–171:13. 

54. Tricarichi also hired a team of lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell, led 

by Don Korb, a senior tax lawyer who, at the time of his deposition in 2020, had 

been practicing tax law for over 45 years. TT8 (Vol. 2) 28 (Korb Dep. 15:25–

16:4).  Korb’s experience included serving as Chief Counsel of the IRS from 

2004 to 2008. Id. at 28–29 (Korb Dep. 18:13–15, 19:23–20:1).  

55. As his trial with the IRS in the Tax Court approached, Tricarichi 

also hired several lawyers at McGuire Woods, led by one of its partners, Craig 

Bell. TT6 182:24–183:10 (Desmond).  

56. While representing their client before the IRS and consistent with 

PwC’s prior assessment, Tricarichi’s lawyers repeatedly argued that under the 

standards set forth by Notice 2008-111, the Westside Transaction was not an 

intermediary transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 102, 4/29/09 Response to Draft Protest 

Letter at 006–010; Ex. 103A, 10/9/09 Formal Protest Letter at 012–016; Ex. 

183, 10/27/10 Appeals Conference Presentation at 002–003, 010–012; Ex. 197, 

3/18/11 Korb Letter to IRS at 003–004.  

57. Each of the communications cited above contained lengthy 

explanations of Notice 2008-111,  by individuals separate from PwC including  

tax lawyers, and they all set forth a similar opinion that Lohnes had provided 

internally to Stovsky---i.e. that the 2008 Notice did not apply to the Westside 

Transaction. See id.  For example, the admitted exhibits included a  March 2011 

communication from one of Tricarichi’s lawyers in the tax proceedings, Korb, 
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wherein he contended  that “pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language 

of Notice 2008-111, the sale of West Side Cellular stock is neither an 

intermediary transaction nor substantially similar to an intermediary transaction. 

We see no basis on which this conclusion can be challenged.” Ex. 197 at 004 

(emphasis added); see also Ex. 183 at 002–003, 010–012.   

58.  The evidence established that Tricarichi’s lawyers and the IRS 

also undertook efforts to settle the case.  For example, in October 2010, the IRS 

indicated it would be willing to settle the claim for roughly $14.5 million. Ex. 186, 

Email from D. Korb to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 187, Tricarichi’s Baseline Case 

Calculation at 005; TT6 177:3–9 (Desmond).  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  

59. On December 6, 2010, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Crowell 

sent a “decision tree” analysis to the IRS, which purported to calculate the IRS’s 

chances of success at trial as a means of estimating the settlement value of the 

case. Ex. 190, Email from A. Mason to P. Szpalik at 002. Tricarichi’s lawyers 

took the position that the IRS had only a 17 percent (17%) chance of 

establishing liability for Tricarichi and an 83 percent (83%) chance of failing to 

make such a showing. Id.  

60. At trial, Tricarichi confirmed that as of December 2010, he 

understood that he had an 83 percent (83%) chance of winning his case against 

the IRS based on the decision tree presented by his lawyers and which PwC 

had no part in creating or editing. TT4 75:19–25.  

61. On December 8, 2010, the IRS sent a new settlement offer of 

approximately $16.1 million. Ex. 192, Email from R. Corn to D. Korb; Ex. 193, 

IRS Settlement Computation at 001.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer. 

62. The IRS made another settlement offer in August 2011 of 

approximately $12.4 million. Ex. 201, Facsimile from P. Szpalik to D. Korb at 

002.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  
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63. Tricarichi did not settle his IRS case.  Tricarichi testified that he did 

not have the ability to settle for the amount that was being sought.  TT4 30:23–

31:1; id. 74:12–14; id. 86:11–13.  Tricarichi’s lawyers also testified that he was 

not interested in considering settlement offers in the double-digit millions. TT6 

198:2–17 (Desmond). 

64. On June 25, 2012, the IRS issued a formal “Notice of Liability,” 

asserting that Tricarichi owed $15,186,570 in income tax and underpayment 

penalties of $6,012,777 (for a total of approximately $21.2 million) for the 

Westside Transaction. Ex. 210.  Tricarichi petitioned the Tax Court for review 

shortly thereafter. Ex. 66.   

65. On May 30, 2014, Tricarichi rejected his lawyers’ suggestion that 

he might consider making a settlement offer to the IRS saying, “I don’t want to 

give the irs (sic) the impression that we think our case is weak, which I don’t 

believe it is.” Ex. 228, Email from M. Tricarichi to M. Desmond.  

66. In their arguments to the Tax Court, Tricarichi’s lawyers continued 

to argue that the Westside Transaction was not an intermediary transaction and 

did not satisfy Notice 2008-111. See, e.g., Ex. 225, Tricarichi’s Tax Court Cross-

Motion in Limine at 005.   

67. The Tax Court held a four-day trial on Tricarichi’s petition in June 

2014.  After the trial, but before the Tax Court issued its decision in August 2014, 

the IRS proposed settling the case for roughly $13.7 million. Ex. 231, Email from 

M. Desmond to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 232, Draft Settlement Discussion Framework; 

TT6 201:18–202:3 (Desmond). 

68. There was no settlement. Ex. 234, Email from M. Tricarichi to 

M. Desmond.  

69. The Tax Court issued its opinion on October 14, 2015, upholding 

the IRS’s Notice of Liability and ruling for the government on all issues. Ex. 66 at 
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005.  Tricarichi’s subsequent appeals were unsuccessful. Tricarichi v. Comm’r of 

Internal Revenue, 752 F. App’x 455, 456 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 

38 (2019).  

70. The evidence showed that PwC provided the information required 

by the IRS or requested by Tricarichi and his agents or lawyers, regarding the 

tax dispute and/or tax trials.  There was no evidence that Tricarichi hired PwC to 

perform any professional services for him relating to the tax dispute and/or tax 

trials. 

71. The Record further shows that while PwC did not contact Tricarichi 

before or after Lohnes reviewed the 2008 Notice at Stovsky’s request, Tricarichi 

was familiar with Notice 2008-111 and was repeatedly advised as to its content 

and applicability by the attorneys he hired.  

72. For example, Tricarichi reviewed drafts of the April 29, 2009, and 

October 9, 2009, letters to the IRS, both of which contained detailed discussions 

of Notice 2008-111. TT7 189:1–18, 190:6-22 (discussing Ex. 102); Ex. 103A at 

030.  In fact, Tricarichi signed the October 9, 2009, letter himself, attesting under 

penalty of perjury that he had “examined this protest, including any 

accompanying documents,” and that the “facts presented in this protest are true, 

correct, and complete.” Id. 

73. Tricarichi’s attorneys also testified that they advised him on Notice 

2008-11 specifically, and Midco transactions generally, both orally and in writing. 

TT7 189:19–190:2, 193:5–15 (Miller).  

74. For example, in October 2009, Korb sent a memo to Tricarichi and 

his personal attorney Randy Hart, advising them that the Westside transaction 

was “quite different” from the type of transaction described in Notice 2008-111. 

Ex. 165 at 003.  Tricarichi also reviewed settlement presentations to the IRS that 

discussed Notice 2008-111 and the reasons it did not apply to the Westside 
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Transaction. Ex. 174; Ex. 182.  

75. The Court, therefore, finds that Tricarichi was aware of Notice 

2008-111 and his counsel’s interpretation of its applicability to the Westside 

Transaction at least as of April 29, 2009.  There was also evidence that during 

the months and years that followed, his lawyers continued to advise him 

repeatedly that in their opinion, and/or they had a strong argument to present to 

a court, that the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were not met.  This is the 

same conclusion that PwC reached when it reviewed Notice 2008-111 shortly 

after its issuance. See Ex. 159.  

76. The preponderance of the evidence also shows that Tricarichi was 

aware, or should have been aware, of the existence and contents of the Stovsky 

memo no later than 2009.  At trial, Tricarichi testified at one point that he first 

saw a copy of the memo when PwC invited him and his lawyer, Randy Hart, to 

review a box of documents it was planning to send to the IRS in response to a 

summons it received regarding the Westside Transaction. TT4 7:21–23; see 

also TT5 89:23–90:2, 90:21-91:1 (Stovsky); TT6 62:19–63:12 (Stovsky).  This 

meeting occurred in February 2008. See Ex. 155; TT6 62:11–25 (Stovsky).  At 

another point during his testimony, he stated that he was unsure whether he 

saw the Stovsky memo in 2008.  TT3. 122:14–19 

77. Even if Tricarichi did not read the memo at the time he and Mr. 

Hart were to review the documents to be sent to the IRS, that same memo was 

cited by the IRS.  Specifically, in February and August 2009, the IRS cited the 

Stovsky memo and described its contents to Tricarichi in the draft and final 

transferee reports that it issued. Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010.  Further, in 

September 2009, PwC sent Tricarichi a copy of the files it had provided to the 

IRS, which included the Stovsky Memo. Ex. 51 at 001.  Additionally, in October 

2009, Sullivan & Cromwell billed Tricarichi, in part, for reviewing the Stovsky 
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Memo. Ex. 168 at 002.  Thus, even though Tricarichi stated at one point that he 

never heard the phrase “more likely than not” before trial, (TT3 107:17–21) and 

provided different recollections of when and/or whether he read or was made 

aware of the contents of the Stovsky memo, the evidence demonstrates that 

given the number of other witnesses and documents, Tricarichi reasonably 

should be viewed as being on notice of the contents of the Stovsky memo.  

VI. Procedural History of Tricarichi’s Dispute with PwC 

78. On January 14, 2011, Joel Levin, an attorney for Tricarichi, sent 

Stovsky a letter in which he stated that “it is [Tricarichi’s] position that this multi-

million dollar potential tax liability [for the Westside Transaction] lies at the feet 

of PWC for failing to provide him competent services, advice and counsel with 

respect to the subject stock sale to Fortrend, particularly concerning the 

potential tax consequences.” Ex. 205 at 002.  

79. In April 2016, Tricarichi filed a Complaint against PwC  in the 

Eighth Judicial District alleging that PwC’s 2003 advice on the Westside 

Transaction was negligent. Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 37–40, 81–96. 

80. On October 22, 2018, the Court granted Summary Judgment in 

PwC’s favor, holding that the statute of limitations barred any claims based on 

PwC’s 2003 advice. Dkt. 119 at 2.  The Court entered Judgment in favor of PwC 

“regarding any and all claims arising from the services PwC provided Tricarichi 

in 2003.” Id. at 3.  

81. Tricarichi filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a claim 

for negligence based on PwC’s alleged failure to tell him about Notice 2008-111. 

Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 116–17.  Tricarichi alleged that if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he would have immediately stopped litigating against the IRS and 

paid the tax deficiency. Id. ¶ 119. 

82. In the meantime, Tricarichi pursued a professional negligence 
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claim against his attorneys at Hahn Loeser, alleging that they committed 

malpractice by advising him to enter into the Westside Transaction.  After a 

mediation in September 2012, Tricarichi and Hahn Loeser settled their dispute 

for $4 million before any litigation was filed. Ex. 217, Letter from J. Levin to N. 

Schwartz; Ex. 218, Confidential Settlement Agreement at 003 (¶ 5). 

VII. Standards of Professional Care 

83. The primary source of professional responsibility standards for 

CPA tax practitioners during the time at issue in this case were standards 

promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

84. In fact, the Engagement Agreement between PwC and Tricarichi 

specified that all services were to be performed “in accordance with the AICPA’s 

Statements on Standards for Tax Services.” Ex. 100 at 007 (Section 7). 

85. Both Nevada (where Tricarichi was located) and Ohio (where PwC 

dispensed its advice) adopted the AICPA professional standards, at least in part, 

to govern accountants licensed to practice. Nev. Admin. Code §§ 628.0060-5(a) 

& (d), 628.500; Ohio Admin. Code § 4701-9-09. 

86. AICPA Rule 201 provides that a CPA tax practitioner must exercise 

professional competence and due care, which depends on the scope of the 

practitioner’s engagement under the particular facts and circumstances. Ex. 4, 

AICPA Professional Standards.  

87. The AICPA has defined the standard of care, and competence in 

the context of tax planning advice and tax return preparation, in a series of 

documents known as the Statements on Standards for Tax Services, or SSTSs. 

Ex. 106, Statements on Standards for Tax Services 1–8 (Aug. 2000). 

88. SSTS No. 6 is entitled “Knowledge of Error: Return Preparation.” 

This standard addresses situations in which an accountant (or “member”) 

discovers either an error in a previously filed return or the taxpayer’s failure to 
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file a return in the past. Id. at 027.  

89. SSTS No. 6 states that “[a] member should inform the taxpayer 

promptly upon becoming aware of an error in a previously filed return or upon 

becoming aware of a taxpayer’s failure to file a required return.” Id. (¶ 3). 

90. An “error” under SSTS No. 6 is any position that has less than a 

one-in-three chance of success. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 1); id. at 008 (¶ 2(a)), id. at 

011 (Interpretation 1-1); Ex. 149 at 046, IRS Circular 230 (Section 10.34), 

Definition D1; TT8 (Vol. 1) 191:17–25 (Harris).  

91. The “Explanation” section of SSTS No. 6 clarifies that its 

obligations exist only when the accountant is continuing to represent the client. 

Both Paragraphs 5 and 9 of SSTS No. 6 refer to telling the “taxpayer” (client) 

about the error if the member became aware of it “[w]hile performing services 

for a taxpayer.” Ex. 106 at 028–029 (¶¶ 5, 9); TT7 32:16–33:12 (Dellinger).  

92. Paragraph 6 of the same section discusses “whether to continue a 

professional or employment relationship with the taxpayer” if the taxpayer does 

not correct the error. Ex. 106 at 028 (¶ 6).  This, again, presupposes an existing 

client relationship, a point upon which both PwC’s and Tricarichi’s experts 

agreed. TT7 30:22–31:11 (Dellinger); TT8 (Vol. 1) 36:21–37:7 (Greene). 

93. Nothing in the text of SSTS No. 6 imposes any obligations on an 

accountant with respect to a former client.  Trial testimony established that such 

an open-ended obligation on accountants to their former clients would pose 

enormous practical difficulties. TT7 33:13–22 (Dellinger); see also TT8 (Vol. 1) 

38:19–22 (Greene).  

94. SSTS No. 8 is entitled “Form and Content of Advice to Taxpayers.” 

It addresses the “circumstances in which a member has a responsibility to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided.” Ex. 106 at 033 (¶ 1).  
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95. The standard states: “[a] member has no obligation to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided with respect to significant matters, except while assisting a 

taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans associated with the advice 

provided or when a member undertakes this obligation by specific agreement.” 

Id. (¶ 4).  

96. The “Explanation” section of the standard further specifies that “a 

member cannot be expected to communicate subsequent developments that 

affect such advice unless the member undertakes this obligation by specific 

agreement with the taxpayer.” Id. at 034 (¶ 9).  

97. Finally, the standard notes that taxpayers should be informed that 

any advice rendered reflects professional judgment based on an existing 

situation, and that later developments could affect earlier advice.  It further 

instructs that “Members may use precautionary language to the effect that their 

advice is based on facts as stated and authorities are subject to change.” Id. at 

035 (¶ 10).  PwC included such language in its Engagement Agreement. See 

FOF ¶ 14, supra.  

 
VIII. Tricarichi’s Claimed Damages and PwC’s Mitigation Defense 

98. Tricarichi seeks, as damages, the legal fees incurred in his IRS 

litigation, and the interest on his unpaid taxes and penalties that accrued from 

January 1, 2009, through November 13, 2018.  Specifically, in this case Tricarchi 

contends that PwC is liable to him for $3,180,143.03 in legal fees and costs, and 

$14,937,400.18 in interest owed to the IRS.  

99. As one of its defenses, PwC contended through its expert that the 

damages asserted are too high and do not reflect appropriate mitigation.  PwC 

contended that had Tricarichi set aside the money he potentially owed the IRS 
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and invested it in stock funds, bond funds, real estate funds, or some 

combination of these, he could have enjoyed rates of return on the funds he 

kept from the IRS significantly higher than the three-to-six percent interest rates 

charged by the IRS during the same period. TT7 132:5–140:8 (Leaunae). 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
I. Elements of Tricarichi’s Cause of Action (Count III) 

100. Tricarichi tried a single claim of professional negligence (Count III 

of his Amended Complaint) to the Court. Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 115–121.  Count III 

focuses only on whether the issuance of Notice 2008-111 in December 2008 

gave rise to any duty to Tricarichi that PwC breached. Id.5  

101. Despite the narrow focus of Count III, some of the evidence at trial 

focused on what was contended to be negligent acts and omissions that 

occurred in 2003, when PwC originally rendered its advice, or earlier despite the 

Court’s prior Summary Judgment ruling, which barred as untimely “any and all 

claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003.” Dkt. 191 at 3.  

Given the time and effort spent on the providing the detailed history of the case, 

and given the extensive procedural history including appeals and multiple 

proceedings in other courts, the Court has included historical facts and 

testimony for clarity of the record.  By incorporating a fuller factual background, 

the Court is not sua sponte altering or amending any prior judgment or ruling as 

they remain law of the case. See, e.g.  Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7–

8 (2014) (“[A] court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open 

                                                           
5 The Amended Complaint also contains Counts I and II against PwC, both of which were 
included only for preservation purposes after the Court dismissed them on Summary Judgment in 
2018. Dkt. 140 n.1.  Counts I and II were not tried to the Court, nor was any other claim in the 
Amended Complaint apart from Count III. TT9 167:25–168:23. 
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questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher 

one in earlier phases”) (quotation omitted); see also Dkt. 234 at 4. 

102. The elements of a cause of action in tort for professional 

negligence are:  
(1) the duty of the professional to use such skill, 
prudence, and diligence as other members of his 
profession commonly possess and exercise; (2) the 
breach of that duty; (3) a proximate causal connection 
between the negligent conduct and the resulting 
injury, and (4) actual loss or damage resulting from 
the professional’s negligence. 

Sorenson v. Pavlokowski, 94 Nev. 440, 443, 581 P.2d 851, 853 (Nev. 1978).  

103. As set forth in more detail below, at trial, Tricarichi failed to meet 

his burden of proof on all four elements.  

 
II. First Element: PwC Did Not Owe Tricarichi a Duty of Care in          

2008 

104. The Court concludes that PwC did not owe any duty to Tricarichi, 

who ceased being a client in 2003, such that PwC should have updated its 

previously-provided advice in 2008, after Notice 2008-111 issued. See 

Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC, 125 Nev. 578, 584, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (Nev. 

2009) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the Court to decide). 

105. Under the AICPA’s SSTS No. 8, a member does not have any 

obligation to communicate with a taxpayer about subsequent developments, 

except “while assisting the taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans 

associated with the advice provided or when the member undertakes this 

obligation by specific agreement.” Ex. 106 at 033.  

106. At trial, Tricarichi argued that the first exception (“while 

implementing plans or procedures”) was satisfied because PwC provided 

comments on the stock purchase agreement between Westside and Nob Hill in 

2003, which he claimed created a continuing obligation for PwC to update him 
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on subsequent developments in 2008. TT9 112:13–24.  

107. The Court disagrees.  By its plain language, the exception only 

applies “while” the member is assisting the taxpayer in implementing 

procedures. TT9 81:17–84:1 (Harris); TT7 67:2–68:5 (Delllinger).  Even if 

providing comments on the agreement counted as “implementing” Tricarichi’s 

plan in 2003 (a question that the Court need not reach here), it is undisputed 

that those efforts ceased in 2003.  By 2008, PwC was not performing any work 

for Tricarichi.  

108. As to the second exception, in the present case there was a 

specific Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi.  PwC’s Engagement Letter, 

consistent with SSTS No. 8, specifically disclaimed any ongoing obligation for 

changes to the tax laws after services were rendered. Ex. 100 at 006 (Section 

3); Ex. 106 at 006.  Further, there was no contention that Tricarichi was not 

aware of the terms of the Engagement Letter as he even made comments on 

the Engagement Letter which he signed.  

109. Tricarichi also pointed to Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8, 

which discusses when a member may consider providing advice in written, as 

opposed to oral, form. TT8 (Vol. 1) 10:13–14:11 (Greene); Ex. 106 at 034.  In 

the present case, there was disputed testimony about whether there was a 

specific discussion about obtaining the information orally or in writing or if 

Tricarichi knew that he could have requested the opinions to be set forth in 

writing.  Regardless of whether there was a difference between the parties 

whether any discussion took place or not, and even if the Court were to credit 

Tricarichi’s view, the language of Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8 is what the 

Court focuses on to determine if the first prong of the cause of action is met.  As 

the plain language of the provision sets forth that the decision regarding the 

form of advice is left to the “professional judgement” of the member, the Court 
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cannot find that it imposes any affirmative duty on members to provide written 

advice.  Instead, the Court reads the language as setting forth situations when 

written advice may be preferable. TT8 (Vol. 1) 208:10–25 (Harris).  

110. Thus, the Court concludes that Tricarichi did not meet his burden 

to demonstrate in the present case that the standards set forth in SSTS No. 8 

gave  rise to any duty of care on the part of PwC to Tricarichi.  

111. SSTS No. 6, likewise, does not create any duty to Tricarichi.  The 

Court has already found that SSTS No. 6 is limited to circumstances involving 

awareness of an error on a tax return when an accountant is performing 

services for a current client.  Here, PwC was no longer performing services for 

Tricarichi in 2008.  At trial, even Tricarichi’s expert would not commit to imposing 

a duty on PwC under these circumstances. TT8 (Vol. 1) 38:19–22 (“[Q.] Let’s 

say there were no services being provided to Mr. Tricarichi by PwC in 2008, in 

that circumstance would PwC have a duty to disclose an error to a former client, 

under SSTS 6? A. Perhaps not.”).  

112. PwC’s later, occasional, contact with Tricarichi and his lawyers, 

while responding to IRS subpoenas for documents in 2008 and later for 

testimony in 2013 and 2014, does not constitute performing services for 

Tricarichi.  PwC was required by law to respond to IRS subpoenas on its own 

behalf.  Tricarichi concede that he did not seek to engage PwC, and PwC did 

not invoice Tricarichi for time spent responding to the IRS subpoenas or 

testifying at his Tax Court trial. 

113. Relying on internal PwC policies and a single practice guide 

published by the AICPA, Tricarichi also asserted at trial that PwC had a duty to 

maintain a written file documenting how it reached its conclusions about Notice 

2008-111. TT7 106:1–14, 109:7–19 (Greene); Ex. 22; Ex. 88.  

114. While the Court took into account both the policies and the 
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practice guide, it cannot find that either of these created a duty that meets the 

criteria necessary for a professional negligence tort.  Furthermore, the practice 

guide is not authoritative literature and describes only “best practices”; it does 

not impose requirements on all accountants. TT8 (Vol. 1) 88:1–23 (Greene). 

Indeed, it would be Tricarichi’s burden to establish that a failure to follow internal 

policies or the terms of a practice guide creates a duty under Nevada law but he 

did not provide any case law to the Court to support that contention.  Instead, 

the only case cited by either party was outside the jurisdiction and it provided 

that a company’s internal standards are distinct from, and can be more rigorous 

than, external duties imposed under the law. See, In re Conticommodity Servs., 

Inc. Sec. Litig., No. MDL 644, 1988 WL 56172, at *1–2 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 1988).6   

115. Based on the above reasons, the Court concludes, as a matter of 

law, that PwC did not owe any duty of care to Tricarichi, its former client.  

Accordingly, Tricarichi has failed to establish the first element of his claim.  

While the failure to meet all elements of a cause of action would allow Judgment 

in favor of PwC, the Court addresses each of the other elements as well.  

 
III. Second Element: Even if PwC Owed a Duty to Tricarichi, PwC 

Did Not Breach That Duty 

116. Even if PwC owed a duty to update its former client, the Court 

concludes that based on the evidence, Tricarichi has failed to prove that PwC 

breached its duty.  

 

                                                           
6 Plaintiff Tricarichi did cite a one case from a federal District Court in Nevada, Garner v. Bank of 
Am. Corp., 2014 WL 1945142 at *7–8 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).  That case, however, is inapposite 
as it discusses generally that a duty can arise from a special relationship but does not address 
the specific issues raised in this case.  
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A. Failure to Disclose Notice 2008-111 to Tricarichi Was Not 

a Breach Because Tricarichi Did Not Meet His Burden to 
Show that  the Notice Rendered PwC’s Prior Advice 
Erroneous  

117. Assuming arguendo that SSTS No. 6 did create a duty to 

Tricarichi, that duty could only be breached if Notice 2008-111 made PwC aware 

of an “error” in a previously filed return. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 3). It did not.  

118. First, it is undisputed that PwC was not aware of any error on a 

previously filed tax return as a result of Notice 2008-111.  Tricarichi contends, 

instead, that PwC should have been aware of an error because it should have 

interpreted the 2008 Notice as invalidating or being contrary in some respect to 

the advice given by PwC in 2003.  The evidence presented by Tricarichi was 

that the IRS’s position that Tricarichi owed taxes as a result of the Westside 

transaction was upheld by the tax court, and then the appellate court; and by 

implication, PwC should have known that Tricarichi would not prevail in either of 

those courts.  The challenge with that argument is that it is flawed and not 

supported by the facts.  First, there was no evidence that the IRS relied on 

Notice 2008-111, which came out in December 2008, to commence its audit of 

the Westside transaction, which began in 2005 about three years before the 

Notice came out.  Further, on January 22, 2008 - roughly ten months before 

issuing Notice 2008-11 was sent to Tricarichi - he had already received an 

Information Document Request (“IDR”) from the IRS seeking documents related 

to the Westside Transaction.  The IDR advised Tricarichi that he may be liable 

for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. Ex. 150.  Thus, even if Notice 2008-111 

did more than narrow the circumstances in which a transaction would be 

reportable, as was contended by PwC and others, Tricarichi did not meet his 

burden to show that PwC breached its duty within the statute of limitations time 
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frame by failing to update him as there was no evidence that PwC knew that 

such a Notice would come out in until it actually came out and by that time the 

IRS had already begun its audit and he had already received the IDR.  

119. To the extent that Tricarichi also claims that he would have 

modified his tax returns and taken other actions after December 1, 2008, if PwC 

had informed him that Notice 2008-111 impacted the merits of the IRS’s position 

on the audit they had already commenced in 2005, that contention was also not 

established by the evidence. Instead the evidence showed that even after he 

had various opportunities to resolve his tax dispute and had the benefit of 

several legal tax professionals advising him, he chose not to settle the tax 

dispute. 

120. PwC further contended that pursuant to Notice 2008–111, a 

transaction is treated as a Midco transaction if: (1) a person engages in that 

transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the notice); and (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice. 

Ex. 44 at 003.  

121. There was no dispute that the term “Plan” is defined in Section 2 

of the Notice, and it must include the disposition of Built-in Gain Assets. Id. at 

003-004. “Built-in Gain Assets” is, in turn, defined as an asset “the sale of which 

would result on taxable gain.” Id.  

122. The undisputed evidence at trial—from fact and expert witnesses 

called by both parties (including Tricarichi himself)—was that Westside did not 

have any Built-in Gain Assets at the time of the transaction, and that the 

Westside Transaction did not involve the sale of any Built-in Gain Assets. TT2 

95:16–18 (Lohnes); TT4 63:5–10 (Tricarichi) (referring to Ex. 182 at 003); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 76:20–22 (Greene); Id. 191:11–16 (Harris); TT7 200:3–23 (Miller).  The 

theory espoused in questioning by Tricarichi’s counsel, that the release of the 
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claims in the lawsuit constituted Built-In Gain Assets, was not supported by a 

single witness or any evidence in the case. 

123. At the time of the transaction, Westside had only cash in its bank 

accounts from the lawsuit settlement with the cell phone carriers, which was 

considered ordinary income, not taxable gain from the sale of a Built-in Gain 

Asset, and reported that way on Westside’s tax return. TT2 47:12–22 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 76:17–19 (Greene); Id. 259:11–21 (Harris); see also Nahey v. 

Comm’r, 111 T.C. 256, 261–65 (1998) (holding that settlement of lawsuits “does 

not constitute a sale or exchange” and thus would be treated as ordinary 

income, not capital gain).  

124. Thus, given the language of the Notice and how was interpreted 

by others on behalf of Tricarichi, PwC did not fall below the standard of care by 

reviewing Notice 2008-111 and making the determination that it did not change 

the firm’s prior analysis that, “more likely than not”, the transaction was not 

reportable. Ex. 45, Lohnes Email to Stovsky.   

125. Tricarichi argued at trial that Lohnes or Stovsky should have 

consulted one of the designated “Subject Matter Experts,” or SMEs, at PwC 

before reaching this conclusion.  This argument, however, had no evidentiary 

support.  Tricarichi claimed at trial that it was the failure of PwC to inform him 

that Notice 2008-111 impacted his personal liability to the IRS as a transferee.  

Whether PwC had a SME involved or not is irrelevant.  It was uncontested that 

PwC (via Stovsky) did not believe there was any information to provide Tricarichi 

based on Notice 2008-111.  Stovsky was Tricarichi’s relationship tax 

professional at PwC who, in the past, had communicated what he thought 

should be communicated to Tricarichi.  Whether Stovsky communicated 

internally with only Lohnes, or also with others such as a SME, prior to making 

that determination, it was PwC’s decision, via a tax partner, not to provide 
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Tricarichi with any analysis of Notice 2008-111, and whether that decision does 

or does not meet the standard of professional negligence, is the issue before 

the Court.  The issue is not a speculation of whether if Stovsky or Lohnes 

reached out to a SME would that SME give the same or a different opinion and 

if so what would have happened.  Tricarichi’s claim and PwC’s defenses are 

based on what actually occurred - not speculation of what could have occurred 

with a different set of facts.   

126. In addition, in the present case, Tricarichi did not establish that the 

individuals at PwC who provided the advice in 2003 were not qualified to 

provide the advice.  PwC did provide evidence that Lohnes had prior expertise 

in Midco transactions, even though he could not recall names of specific matters 

he worked on. TT3 4:21–5:20 (Lohnes).  Second, the directory of SMEs was not 

an exhaustive list of people at PwC with knowledge about particular 

transactions, but rather that it served merely as a contact list for people outside 

of Lohnes’ group (Washington National Tax Service). TT2 115:2–116:10 

(Lohnes).  Finally, a designated SME on Midco transactions, Mark Boyer, 

testified that Lohnes had a level of expertise in Midco transactions similar to his 

own. TT6 140:15–141:12.  

127. Another reason that PwC’s advice in 2003 was not in “error” was 

because it rendered its advice with a “more likely than not” confidence level. 

That allows for up to a 49.9 percent (49.9%) likelihood of the result going the 

other way.  Thus, even if IRS 2008-111 did expand, rather than narrow, the 

reportability standard (and it did not), that would not render earlier advice given 

with a “more likely than not” standard erroneous.  

128. As noted above, an “error” under SSTS No. 6 means that the 

member advised the taxpayer to take a position with less than a 1-in-3 chance 

of success.  No one testified that as a result of Notice 2008-111, PwC’s original 
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advice on reportability had such a low confidence level.  

129. In evaluating the breach element, the Court also has to look at 

what the other professionals Tricarichi hired advised him with in relation to 

Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to his risk of liability to the IRS.  Both the 

internal communications, provided as exhibits, as well as the arguments 

presented to the various courts by Tricarichi’s legal tax attorneys as noted 

herein, were consistent with the advice provided by PwC. See, also Ex. 165.  In 

addition, there was testimony that practitioners before the IRS and the Tax Court 

must have a “good faith basis” in their positions—the same type of “good faith 

basis” that is required under SSTS No. 1 when determining whether a position is 

erroneous. TT8 (Vol. 1) 235:3–25, 237:21–238:16 (Harris); TT6 184:9–12 

(Desmond). 

130. Therefore, even if PwC had a duty to update Tricarichi about an 

“error” in its prior advice on whether the transaction was now “reportable” 

pursuant to Notice 2008-111, based on evidence presented as to the language 

of the provision as well as the other advise Tricarichi received consistent with 

PwC’s own internal analysis, Tricarichi has failed to show that there was a 

breach of any asserted duty.  

 
B. PwC Did Not Breach Any Duty to Provide Advice in 

Writing or to Maintain Written Documentation 

131. As discussed above, PwC did not have any affirmative duty to put 

its advice in writing, either in 2003 or at any point after.  But, even if such a duty 

existed, it would not have been breached in 2008 when Lohnes and Stovsky 

reviewed Notice 2008-111 for its applicability to the Westside Transaction.  

132. Any duty to provide advice in writing presupposes, as a matter of 

logic, that some sort of advice is being provided to a client.  That was not the 

case in 2008.  Tricarichi neither sought a tax engagement from PwC to receive 
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any advice from PwC in 2008, nor was he provided any tax advice from PwC in 

2008. TT3 162:21–163:5; TT8 (Vol. 1) 113:5–7 (Greene).  Thus, it would have 

been impossible for PwC to breach any hypothetical duty to provide advice in 

writing to Tricarichi at that time. TT8 (Vol. 1) 114:18–25 (Greene).   

 
C. Failure to Disclose PwC’s Prior Involvement in the 

Enbridge and Marshall Transactions Was Not a Breach 
of Any Duty 

133. Tricarichi also contends that Notice 2008-111 should have 

prompted PwC to disclose its prior advice and the outcomes in the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions, and that its failure to do so was a negligent omission. 

134. The Court disagrees.  PwC’s involvement with Marshall and 

Enbridge occurred long before the December 2008 issuance of Notice 

2008-111, and the “independent duty” that Tricarichi claims came about at that 

time as a result of the issuance of that Notice.  PwC rendered its advice in the 

Marshall case in 2003, and its involvement with Enbridge was in 1999.7  

135. Moreover, as the Court has found above, both the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions were substantially distinct from the Westside Transaction, 

and there is no reason to believe that PwC’s work in those two matters rendered 

their advice to Tricarichi any more or less correct.  

136. Furthermore, the evidence at trial showed that PwC would not 

have been able to disclose the specific details of these engagements with 

Tricarichi because of its confidentiality obligations. TT3 35:23–36:7 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 199:17–23 (Harris); id. 102:14–103:4 (Greene).  

137. Thus, the Court concludes as a matter of law that the failure to 

disclose details of the Enbridge or Marshall transactions does not constitute a 

                                                           
7 As noted above, the Court’s 2018 Summary Judgment ruling on statute of limitations bars 
Tricarichi’s allegations regarding Marshall and Enbridge.  
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breach of any duty of care that PwC owed to Tricarichi.  

 
IV. Third Element: Tricarichi Has Not Proven Causation 

138. To prevail on his claim, Tricarichi must prove a “proximate causal 

connection between the negligent conduct and resulting injury.” Boesiger v. 

Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev. 192, 194–95, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (Nev. 2019).  

139. Tricarichi asserts that PwC’s alleged negligence (i.e., failing to 

advise him about Notice 2008-111) caused his alleged injury (the $14,937,400 in 

interest that accrued after Notice 2008-111 was issued and the $3,180,143 in 

attorney’s fees he spent litigating against the IRS).  

140. The Court disagrees and concludes that Tricarichi has failed to 

establish causation for four independent reasons.  

141. First, the record is clear that Tricarichi and his team of tax lawyers 

were aware of Notice 2008-111 and its implications shortly after the Notice 

issued as set forth above.  The Court has already found that Tricarichi was 

aware of Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to the Westside Transaction no 

later than 2009; and further, that Tricarichi’s attorneys repeatedly advised him 

thereafter throughout the course of his litigation with the IRS regarding whether  

the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were met or not.  

142. Thus, Tricarichi’s causation arguments rest on the supposition that 

he would have abandoned his IRS litigation and immediately settled with the 

government if only PwC had added a contrary voice to the chorus of 

distinguished tax advisors—which included both former and future IRS Chief 

Counsels—who were advising Tricarichi that the requirements of Notice 

2008-111 were not satisfied.  While Tricarichi argued that it would have made a 

difference in his decisions, he failed to meet his evidentiary burden.    

143. To the contrary, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell advised 
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him that the IRS did not need to rely on Notice 2008-111 to win, and that their 

argument was “a bit of a red herring.” Ex. 165 at 003.  And when asked at trial if 

he knew in 2009 that Notice 2008-111 was a red herring, Tricarichi replied: “The 

arguments that they’re using in 2008-111 -- again, I’m not a tax expert and I 

keep saying that over and over again. But I can read. Okay? This is not why we 

lost the [Tax Court] case. It has nothing to do with why we lost the case.” TT3 

224:19–23 (Tricarichi) (emphasis added).  The Court has to take Tricarichi’s own 

testimony into account in evaluating every element of his claim.  Giving 

Tricarichi the benefit of the doubt that his words could be viewed out of context, 

the weight of the rest of the evidence shows that there were too many 

intervening causes which prevent holding PwC liable for Tricarichi’s asserted 

damages.   

144. Second, the chronology of the case demonstrates that Notice 

2008-11 could not have prevented the audit which later resulted in the liability 

determination.  Specifically,  Tricarichi  did not  show that disclosure of Notice 

2008-111 would have made any difference to the rulings of the Courts as to his 

liability because the Notice, on its face, relates only to reportability of 

transactions and not a taxpayer’s underlying liability:  The language of the 

Notice sets forth it:  “does not affect the legal determination of whether a 

person’s treatment of the transaction is proper or whether such person is liable, 

at law or in equity, as a transferee of property in respect of the unpaid tax 

obligation . . . .” Ex. 44 at 003. 

145. Importantly, in the present case, the chronology of facts shows 

that the IRS had been examining/auditing the Westside Transaction for about 

three years before Notice 2008-111 issued.  The IRS began its audit of the 2003 

Westside tax return in 2005, interviewed Tricarichi regarding that audit in 2007, 

and issued an Information Document Request to Tricarichi in 2008, all before 
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the issuance of Notice 2008-111.  Thus, even if PwC had informed Tricarichi that 

2008-111 would require Tricarichi to report the Westside transaction, there was 

no evidence presented how that would have changed the IRS determination 

based on the audit that he was liable as a transferee in the instant case since 

the audit had already progressed for three years prior to the Notice being 

promulgated and the IRS had already informed him that it was seeking the 

underpayment from his as a transferee.     

146. The third reason, Tricarichi cannot meet the causation prong of his 

professional negligence claim is that there is no credible evidence to support his 

contention that if PwC had notified him regarding Notice 2008-111, he would 

have amended his taxes and settled the case with the IRS in December 2008; 

and thus, he would not have incurred any of the attorney fees or interest 

damages he is seeking in the present case.  Specifically, his transferee liability 

stems from the taxes filed by various entities as a result of the Westside 

transaction, and he did not present any evidence how he could amend the 

relevant filings in 2008 or 2009 at no cost, and that as a result, the IRS would 

not pursue him for transferee liability.  There was no evidence from any IRS 

witness or anyone else that the outcome described was possible.  

147.  Additionally, the evidence presented demonstrated that he had 

several opportunities to settle the case with the IRS and minimize fees and 

interest but he chose not to do so.  As set forth in the Findings above, these 

opportunities to settle the case came about after he was advised by 

experienced tax counsel as to liability and the impact of 2008-111.  While the 

reason Tricarichi chose not to resolve the matter with the IRS was disputed, 

PwC asserted that the communications between Tricarichi and his tax counsel 

show he did not have the funds or felt the offers to settle were too high, and the 

Record was devoid of any exhibit where Tricarichi contended that he did not 



 

37 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

settle due to the advice provided by PwC in 2003.  Instead, the only testimony in 

support of that contention is Tricarichi’s own testimony which the Court has to 

weigh in contrast with the other testimony by his tax lawyers and the various 

exhibits that were introduced which are not in accord with his testimony.  In so 

doing, the Court finds that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to show that Pwc’s 

action or inaction relating to Notice 2008-111 meets the causation element of is 

claim.  

148. Thus, Tricarichi has failed to provide the level of evidence 

necessary to support the notion that even had PwC advised Tricarichi about 

Notice 2008-111 when it issued, Tricarichi could have or would have settled with 

the IRS thereby avoiding the interest and legal fees he now seeks as damages.  

149. Fourth, to the extent that Tricarichi’s claim is that PwC was 

negligent in 2008 because it did not advise him at that time of the contents of 

the Stovsky Memo (as opposed to Notice 2008-111 itself), causation is still 

defeated because the record is clear that Tricarichi was made aware of either 

the existence or contents (or both) of the Stovsky memo on at least five 

separate occasions in 2008 and 2009, either by PwC itself, the IRS, or his 

attorneys. TT4 at 7:21–25; Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010; Ex. 164 at 001; Ex. 

168 at 002.  

 
V. Fourth Element: Damages 

150. As the Court has found that Tricarichi, independently, has not met 

his burden on any of the first three elements of a cause of action for  

Professional Negligence, the Court need not, and determines it would not be 

appropriate, to address the damages element.  

 
VI. Basis of PwC’s Affirmative Defenses 

151. PwC tried four of its affirmative defenses to the Court: statute of 
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limitations (second affirmative defense), failure to mitigate damages (fourteenth 

affirmative defense), offset/contribution (fifteenth affirmative defense), and 

limitation of liability (sixteenth affirmative defense).  

152. Consistent with the Court’s determination that Tricarichi failed to 

meet his burden on the elements of his cause of action for Professional 

Negligence, the Court will only address the Second Affirmative Defense relating 

to statute of limitations.8  

153. Under Nevada law, an action for professional malpractice must be 

brought two years from discovery or four years from the alleged malpractice, 

whichever occurs earlier. NRS § 11.2075(1).  

154. Under New York law—the governing law identified in the 

Engagement Agreement—the statute of limitations is three years from the 

alleged malpractice. See Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 644 N.E.2d 1009, 

1011 (N.Y. 1994) (citing New York CPLR § 214). 

155. Under either, the limitation period of Tricarichi’s claim is untimely.  

156. PwC’s alleged acts of negligence related to Notice 2008-111 

occurred in December 2008 or January 2009, shortly after it issued.  Thus, 

under New York law, the statute of limitations would have expired at the latest in 

January 2013.   Tricarichi did not file suit in this case until April 29, 2016, making 

his claim untimely.  

157. The outcome is no different if the Court applies Nevada law.  The 

Court found above that Tricarichi was subjectively aware of Notice 2008-111 at 

least as of April 29, 2009.  Thus, the Court concludes, for limitations purposes, 

                                                           
8 As set forth above, the Court found that the first three elements of his cause of action were not 
met for independent reasons. Thus, the Court found that there was not a basis to address the 
damages element of his cause of action.  Consistent therewith, the Court finds no basis to 
address the other three affirmative defenses which are based on if there was a finding that 
damages were appropriate - there was not.  
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that the latest date that Tricarichi knew or should have known about his claim 

was April 29, 2009.  

158. Under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(a), Tricarichi’s action would have needed 

to be commenced no later than April 29, 2011 (two years from discovery).  And 

under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(b), the action needed to be commenced by January, 

2013 (four years from the alleged malpractice).  However, the statute specifies 

that the earlier of the two dates controls; thus, for limitations purposes, the latest 

date that Tricarichi could have filed his claim is April 29, 2011.  He filed his claim 

five years too late, on April 29, 2016.9  

159. At trial, Tricarichi failed to introduce any evidence of a tolling 

agreement, and expressly declined to do so when the Court inquired about such 

an agreement immediately prior to closings. TT9 100:7–20 (“MR. HESSELL: 

Yeah. No, we don’t need to -- We don’t need that”) (referring to proposed Exhibit 

83).  Furthermore, Tricarichi failed to include any proposed pre-trial findings or 

conclusions of law on statute of limitations.  As such, Tricarichi has waived any 

argument that the limitations period was tolled by agreement or otherwise.10 

Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 44, 

49, 152 P.3d 737, 740 (Nev. 2007). 

160. Instead, Tricarichi’s counsel claimed in his closing argument 

rebuttal, that the inclusion of a tolling agreement - as an exhibit to a brief in 

opposition to an earlier Summary Judgment Motion - relieved him of any 

obligation to introduce it as evidence at trial.  The Court disagrees. See Garcia 

v. Shapiro, 515 P.3d 345, (Nev. App. 2022) (“Regardless, motions, statements 

                                                           
9 In utilizing the January date, the  this Court is providing Tricarichi the longer time frame as it is 
taking into account the Levin letter (Ex. 205).   
10 Tricarichi’s failure to disclose any proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding 
statute of limitations, likewise waives any argument that he is entitled to statutory tolling under 
N.R.S. 11.2075(2).  
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and allegations within them, and exhibits attached to them do not necessarily 

constitute evidence.”) (citing EDCR 5.205(g) (“Exhibits [to motions] may be 

deemed offers of proof but shall not be considered substantive evidence until 

admitted.”)); cf. NRAP 28(e) (party raising evidentiary issue on appeal must 

identify where in the record “evidence was identified, offered, and received or 

rejected”); see also Town of Gorham v. Duchaine, 224 A.3d 241, 244 (Me. 2020) 

(“[S]imply attaching documents to a motion is not the equivalent of properly 

introducing or admitting them as evidence.  Documents attached to motions are 

not part of the record and therefore cannot be considered evidence in the record 

on appeal.”) (Collecting state cases). 

161. Thus, under either the three-year statute of limitations in New 

York, or the two-year statute of limitations in Nevada, Tricarichi’s claim is time-

barred11.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                           
11  As set forth herein, the Court finds that PwC’s Statute of Limitations defense was met. The fact 
that Tricarichi’s claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations is an independent basis upon which 
Judgment for PwC is to be entered in addition to basis that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to 
establish all four elements of his professional negligence claim.  
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ORDER  AND JUDGMENT 

THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS OF FACT and 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and 

DECREED that Judgment shall be entered in favor of Defendant PwC and 

Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from his Complaint.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that 

any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion. 

Counsel for  Defendant PwC is directed pursuant to NRCP 58 (b) and (e) 

to file and serve Notice of Entry of this Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Judgment within fourteen (14) days hereof.  

 

      Dated this 9th day of February, 2023. 

 

 

      _______________________________ 
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MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 
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vs. 

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

Defendant. 

CASE NO.:   A-16-735910-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XXXI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW AND JUDGMENT 

 

 

 

 

 This matter came on for a Bench Trial before the Honorable Judge Joanna 

S. Kishner, Department XXXI, commencing October 31, 2022, and the trial 

concluded November 10, 2022.  Appearing for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi was 

Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC., along with pro hac 

vice counsel, Scott F. Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of SPERLING & 

SLATER, P.C.  Appearing for Defendant PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. (“PwC”) 

was Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq. of SNELL & WILMER, 

LLP, along with pro hac vice counsel, Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. 

Landgraff, Esq., Katharine A. Roin, Esq., of BARTLIT BECK, LLP.   The Court, 

having heard the testimony of the witnesses, having reviewed the trial exhibits 

and evidence, and having heard arguments of counsel finds and orders as 

follows: 

Electronically Filed
02/09/2023 1:33 PM

 Case Number: A-16-735910-B 

 ELECTRONICALLY SERVED 
 2/9/2023 2:18 PM 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
I. Introduction and Relevant Parties 

1. This case arises from a 2003 transaction, in which Plaintiff Michael 

Tricarichi (“Tricarichi”) sold his shares of his wholly-owned business, Westside 

Cellular (“Westside”) to Fortrend International LLC (“Fortrend”) for approximately 

$34.9 million (the “Westside Transaction”).  Tricarichi retained Defendant 

PriceWaterHouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”), among others, to provide tax services 

related to the sale.1   

2. The IRS later audited Westside’s 2003 tax return and sought to 

collect Westside’s unpaid taxes from Tricarichi.  The Tax Court ultimately 

ordered Tricarichi to pay roughly $21 million in additional taxes and penalties, 

plus interest. Ex.2 66, Tricarichi Tax Court Memo at 068.  

3. In 2016, Tricarichi filed this lawsuit against PwC, alleging that PwC 

was negligent in providing tax advice in 2003. Dkt. 1, Compl. ¶¶ 81–96.  The 

Court granted Summary Judgment for PwC on that claim - on statute of 

limitations grounds. Dkt. 119, Order Granting Summ. J. at 3.  Tricarichi then 

amended his Complaint to allege that PwC was separately negligent five years 

later for, among other things, failing to advise him in 2008 about IRS Notice 

2008-111, which was issued in December 2008. Dkt. 140, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115–

121. Tricarichi set forth that inter alia if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he could have avoided years of litigation with the IRS. Id. ¶ 121.  

                                                           
1 While the background facts of this case have been extensively cited not only in at least two 
appellate decisions and in the Order in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court reiterates 
the relevant background facts as set forth in the trial to the extent they do not conflict with the law 
of the case.   
2 “Ex.” refers to exhibits admitted into evidence at trial. “TT” (followed by the corresponding day of 
trial) refers to the trial transcripts, which are filed as docket numbers 396–405.  
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4.  At trial, Tricarichi sought  to recover the interest that has accrued 

on his tax deficiency between early 2009 and 2018 as well as attorney’s fees 

and other costs he incurred litigating against the IRS (approximately $3 million) 

— a total of approximately $18 million. 

 
II. The Westside Transaction  
 
5. In April and May of 2003, Westside received approximately $65 

million in settlement proceeds from antitrust claims brought in Ohio. Ex. 66 at 

007.  The Record reflects that Tricarichi knew he would face substantial tax 

liability on the settlement - both at the corporate level, and as a shareholder of 

Westside and began looking for ways to minimize his tax burden. Id.  Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, made an introduction to a company called Fortrend in early 

2003, who told Tricarichi that it would purchase his Westside stock and offset the 

taxable gain with losses, thereby eliminating Westside’s corporate income tax 

liability. Id. at 008.  Tricarichi set forth that the amount after payment of legal fees 

and employee bonuses, Westside was left with approximately $40 million. Nov. 2, 

2022, Trial Tr. 89:11-16; Trial Ex. 66 at 011.  Regardless of whether the net 

amount was $65 million or $40 million for purposes of the claims at issue in the 

present litigation the analysis is the same.  

6. Tricarichi retained his long-time attorneys at Hahn Loeser & Parks, 

LLP (“Hahn Loeser”) to oversee all aspects of the transaction, including 

structuring it, drafting the deal documents, and providing advice on how Tricarichi 

could minimize his tax burden. TT8 (Vol. 2) 9, 12–13 (Hart Dep. 56:14–20, 

93:24–94:5).  
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7. Hahn Loeser corporate and tax attorney Jeff Folkman, among 

others, had authority to act on behalf of Tricarichi and acted as his agent in 

various matters with respect to the Westside Transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 127, 

Email from J. Folkman at 001; TT3 89:7–90:20 (Tricarichi).  

8. Ultimately, Tricarichi sold his shares of Westside to Nob Hill 

Holdings, Inc., a Fortrend affiliate, for approximately $35 million. The transaction 

closed on September 9, 2003. Ex. 66 at 016, 023. 

III. PwC’s Engagement 

9. Tricarichi separately hired PwC to evaluate the tax implications of 

the proposed Westside Transaction. TT4 142:10–13 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi used 

his brother James as a “conduit” during his dealings with PwC. TT3 143:7–15, 

175:25–176:3.  Tricarichi’s brother, James, was an accountant. 

10. Tricarichi signed a written Engagement Agreement with PwC 

dated April 10, 2003. Ex. 100.  The Engagement Agreement consisted of an 

Engagement Letter which incorporated an attached document entitled “Terms of 

Engagement to Provide Tax Services.”  These documents, collectively, 

comprised the agreement between the parties. See PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, No. 82371, 2021 WL 4492128, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 

30, 2021).  

11. As this Court has found previously, Tricarichi received both the 

Engagement Letter and the Terms of Engagement, and the Engagement 

Agreement was a valid and binding contract. See Dkt. 336, Order Granting 

PwC’s Mot. to Strike Jury Demand ¶ 33.3 

12. The Engagement Agreement specified that PwC would provide 

                                                           
3 The instant Court was assigned the case in 2021 after certain decisions, which are law of the 
case, had been made by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez (ret.) 
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“tax research and evaluation services” for the Westside Transaction. Ex. 100 at 

001.  The Engagement Letter, thus, set forth specific parameters regarding the 

scope of the engagement rather than an open ended engagement.  

13. Section 7 of the Terms of Engagement contained a limitation-of-

liability clause, which states in relevant part:  
IN NO EVENT, UNLESS IT HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED 
THAT [PWC] WAS GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR ACTED 
WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY, SHALL [PWC] BE LIABLE TO 
THE CLIENT OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
EMPLOYEES OR SHAREHOLDERS OR TO ANY OTHER THIRD 
PARTY, WHETHER A CLAIM BE IN TORT, CONTRACT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL 
PROFESSIONAL FEE PAID BY YOU TO US UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE TO WHICH 
SUCH CLAIM RELATES. 

Id. at 007.  

14. Section 3 of the Engagement Agreement advised that  
Tax laws and regulations are subject to change at any 
time, and such changes may be retroactive in effect 
and may be applicable to advice given or other 
services rendered before their effective dates. [PwC] 
do[es] not assume responsibility for such changes 
occurring after the date we have completed our 
services.  

Id. at 006. 

15. Section 10 of the Engagement Agreement specified that it will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. Id. at 007. 

16. It was undisputed that several PwC tax professionals worked on 

the Engagement, including Richard Stovsky, the Cleveland-based engagement 

partner; Tim Lohnes, a partner in the corporate M&A group in the national office 

in Washington DC; as well as partners Don Rocen and Ray Turk.  

17. The PwC team performed a number of services pursuant to the 

Engagment Agreement’s terms, including analyzing draft agreements, 

researching potential tax issues, discussing applicability of Treasury Notices, 

and suggesting deal terms to protect Tricarichi (including indemnity protections 
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and insurance).  

18. PwC memorialized parts of its advice to Tricarichi in a memo 

referred to at trial as the “Stovsky Memo,” which Stovsky updated periodically 

after having conversations with other PwC partners, as well as with Tricarichi or 

his advisors. Ex. 2.  PwC also kept a file with notes and other communications 

that it contended were relevant to its analysis. See, e.g., Ex. 1. 

19. PwC primarily investigated two topics for Tricarichi: (1) whether the 

Westside Transaction was reportable to the IRS as a so-called “Midco” 

transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16; and (2) whether Tricarichi could be held 

liable for Westside’s taxes, including under a transferee liability theory. Id. at 

002–004.4 

20. As to the first question, Stovsky advised Tricarichi that the 

transaction “more likely than not” would not be reportable to the IRS as an 

intermediary or Midco transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 001, 004; 

TT4 158:1–7. 

21. As to the second question, Stovsky similarly advised Tricarichi that 

the transaction “more likely than not” would be “respected” by the IRS; and thus, 

that Tricarichi would not be held liable for Westside’s taxes under transferee 

liability. Ex. 2 at 001–003; TT4 154:3–6.  

22. Based on the testimony of various witnesses for PwC, the “more 

likely than not” qualifier to PwC’s advice is a standard tax industry term that 

meant, consistent with its plain language, there was at least a 50.1% chance of 

prevailing (up to 70% or 75%); or conversely, a 49.9% chance of losing. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 250:5-9 (Harris); id. 60:10–19 (Greene); see also TT1 154:5–20 

                                                           
4 Although the parties disputed the depth of Midco experience the tax professionals at PwC had 
in 2003, that dispute need not be resolved given the Summary Judgment ruling.  
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(Lohnes); TT6 143:2–18 (Boyer).  That specific interpretation of “more likely 

than not” was not set forth in any written communication sent to Tricarichi or his 

representatives.   

23. Based on evidence provided, Stovsky, either directly or through 

conversations with Tricarichi’s representatives, also suggested that Tricarichi 

take out an insurance policy for any potential tax liability or transferee liability.  

Tricarichi did not follow this advice. Ex. 110, Handwritten Notes. TT6 23:18–

25:10.  

24. PwC billed Tricarichi $48,552.00 for the Engagement, which 

Tricarichi paid in full. See Ex. 3, PwC Invoices. 

25. PwC issued its last invoice on October 29, 2003, for services 

rendered through September 30, 2003. Id. at 006.   After that, PwC did not enter 

into any Engagement Letter to perform any paid services for Tricarichi or 

Westside.  While it was undisputed that there was no monetary compensation 

provided after the $48,552.00 was paid in full by the end of 2003, and there was 

no written Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi in 2003, it was disputed 

between the parties as to whether there was an implied client relationship due to 

there being either an ongoing obligation to notify Tricarichi of new IRS bulletins 

or rulings, or the fact that there were communications between PwC and 

Tricarichi or his agents after 2003 relating to the IRS issues that arose regarding 

the Westside Transaction.  

26. While there was evidence that PwC reviewed IRS bulletins and 

information relating to Midco transactions after providing Tricarichi its advice, 

Plaintiff did not meet his burden to show that conduct created an affirmative duty 

on behalf of PwC towards Tricarichi for claims that were not already precluded 

by the Summary Judgment Motion. 

27. For example, in approximately, November 2003, at Mr. Stovsky’s 
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request, Mr. Lohnes reviewed an updated IRS list of prohibited transactions to 

see if the Westside Midco Transaction, or a similar transaction, was listed. Trial 

Ex. 32.  Mr. Lohnes concluded that the November 2003 list “contain[ed] no 

items that would impact [Westside’s] transaction, other than the items we 

discussed previously, namely the midco listed transaction.” Id. at 001.    

28. In addition, it was undisputed that PwC or its attorneys and 

Tricarichi (or his attorneys) had contact after Tricarichi’s IRS dispute began.  It 

was disputed at trial, however, whether these communications were to provide 

general assistance such as providing copies of documents or whether they 

related to the retention of professional accounting services. E.g., Ex. 7, Email 

from S. Marcus to S. Dillon. 

29. At trial, PwC witnesses consistently testified that by 2008, they did 

not consider Tricarichi to be a current client, and that he did not have an 

ongoing relationship with PwC after 2003. TT2 110:24–111:6 (Lohnes); TT3 

31:21–32:3 (Lohnes); TT5 100:15–16 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi, likewise, confirmed 

that he never engaged PwC at any point after 2003, and did not have any 

ongoing relationship after that time.  Indeed, it was shown that while Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, had some interactions with PwC, and so did Tricarichi’s lawyers, 

there was no evidence that Tricarichi retained PwC’s services utilizing a similar 

process involving a written Engagement Letter and payment of fees as he had 

in 2003.  Additionally, the 2003 Engagement Letter, on its face, did not set forth 

there was an ongoing relationship; but, instead, was limited to the scope of 

services provided and paid for.  Further, no additional funds were paid by 

Tricarichi, or anyone on his behalf, to PwC for any type of accounting services 

on behalf of Tricarichi, or involving any interest held by Tricarichi.  TT3 162:25–

163:5; 164:25–165:5 (Tricarichi). 

30. In light of the foregoing specific facts and evidence presented at 
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trial, the Court finds that Tricarichi ceased being a PwC client as of October, 

2003 when the services pursuant to the specific Engagement Agreement were 

completed and the final bill sent.  By 2008, Tricarichi was a former client of 

PwC’s and had no ongoing professional relationship with the firm.   

31. The next issue for the Court to determine is whether, in light of 

Tricarichi’s status as a former client and/or given the interactions between PwC 

and either Tricarichi, his agents, his counsel and/or the IRS, PwC created a 

relationship with Tricarichi that subjects it to liability pursuant to the claims in the 

Amended Complaint.  The Court sets forth the various issues raised by 

Tricarichi below.  

IV. PwC’s Prior Experience with Midco Transactions Do Not 
Provide a Basis for Liability Against PwC in the Instant Case 

32. Tricarichi alleged that PwC’s advice and/or involvement with other 

Midco transactions demonstrated that it knew or had reason to know that the 

advice it provided to Tricarichi was inaccurate or inconsistent; and thus, he 

should prevail on his Amended Complaint.  In support of that contention, 

Tricarichi provided argument and/or evidence that advice provided in what was 

referred to as the “Enbridge Matter” and the “Marshall Matter” was contrary or 

different that the advice he received.  PwC disputed both the allegations as well 

as the applicability of both matters.    

 
A. The Enbridge Matter 

33. It was undisputed that the Enbridge matter arose in 1999 (prior to 

the issuance of Notice 2001-16) and involved the purchase of shares from the 

Bishop Group, Ltd. by Midcoast Energy Resources (which later came to be 

known as Enbridge). Ex. 156, Enbridge Op. at 001–004.  PwC (through its 

Houston office) gave tax advice to Midcoast in the transaction. Id. at 002.  

34. While the Enbridge matter involved a purported Midco transaction, 
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the Court finds numerous differences between it and the instant case.  First, 

there were four parties (including an intermediary entity) to the Enbridge 

transaction, while the Westside Transaction only involved three parties and 

lacked an intermediary entity. Id. at 002–004.  

35. Second, the Westside Transaction also did not include a target 

corporation with built-in gain assets or a purchaser seeking to achieve a step-up 

in the tax basis of such assets, as was the case in Enbridge. TT8 (Vol. 1) 196:8–

14 (Harris). 

36. Third, the Enbridge transaction did not involve questions of 

transferee liability. Id. 195:22–196:7 (Harris). 

37. Thus, the evidence presented to this Court demonstrated that 

there were differences between the two transactions as to not only their 

structure, but also their timing vis a vis applicable IRS rules and regulations.  In 

addition, the Federal District Court’s decision in Enbridge was published and 

generally available to the public as of March 2008, including to Tricarichi and his 

counsel. See, Enbridge Energy Co. v. United States, 553 F. Supp. 2d 716 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008).  Specifically to the case at bar, there was a memo from R. Corn to 

Plaintiff Tricarichi which demonstrated that Tricarichi was advised on the 

differences between Enbridge and the Westside Transaction so Tricarichi could 

not have relied on any failure of PwC to provide him information about Enbridge 

when his own counsel set forth that it was distinguishable from his case.  Ex. 

169, Memo from R. Corn to M. Tricarichi at 003–004. 

 
B. The Marshall Matter 

38. In addition to Enbridge, Tricarichi also contended that PwC failed 

to disclose that it had any prior relationship with Fortrend and any of its prior 

transactions.  The evidence presented to the Court set forth that the Marshall 
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matter involved the family shareholders of a C corporation who sold their shares 

to a Fortrend affiliate to minimize their tax liability from an expected litigation 

settlement. Ex. 56, Marshall Tax Court Op. at 001–003.  PwC (through its 

Portland office) advised John Marshall not to proceed with the transaction and 

stated that it would not consult or provide advice on the transaction. Id. at 004–

005.  The transaction closed in March 2003. Id. at 007.  

39. As with the Enbridge matter, the Court finds numerous differences 

between the Marshall matter and the instant case.  The Marshalls undertook an 

integrated transaction with significant non-cash built-in gain assets (as opposed 

to none in the Westside Transaction), and the nature of this transaction 

presented greater risks of transferee liability than the Westside Transaction. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 199:3–12 (Harris).  Given the differences in the matters, Tricarichi did 

not meet his burden to show that PwC  has liability to him for failing to disclose 

or take into account the advice given in  that transaction.  

V. Tricarichi’s Tax Dispute with the IRS and IRS Notice 2008-111 

40.  In his Amended Complaint, Tricarichi alleges that his claims are 

not time barred based on a tolling agreement and instead PwC is liable for his 

damages and interest because of what PwC did and did not do regarding IRS 

Notice 2008-11.  The gravaman of Tricarichi’s claims are his contention that:  

had PwC informed Mr. Tricarichi of the problems with its advice regarding the 

Westside Midco Transaction and the resulting error on Mr. Tricarichi’s tax 

return(s), Mr. Tricarichi would have been able to amend his return(s), avoid 

interest on taxes and penalties, avoid litigation with the IRS, and thereby avoid 

related legal fees and expenses. Nov. 2, 2022, Trial Tr. 124:12-126:6. 

41.  PwC contended in its defense inter alia  that: 1.  All  of Tricarichi’s  

claims are barred by statute of limitations; 2. Neither its 2003 advice, nor its 

internal review of the 2008 Notice, which it did not advise Tricarichi it reviewed 
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in 2008, did not fall below the standard of care based on the information 

available and the risk factor it placed on its advice even with a retrospective 

view of the 2008 Notice provisions; 3.  Tricarichi hired  experienced tax lawyers 

who he relied upon in making his decisions and those lawyers provided similar 

advice and analysis as PwC did;  4.  There was no client relationship after 2003  

and thus no duty was owed in 2008 or later; and 5. Tricarichi’s damages are due 

to his own conduct including not settling with the IRS. 

42. It was undisputed that on December 1, 2008, the IRS issued 

Notice 2008-111, entitled “Guidance on Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelters.”  

The impact and obligations relating to that Notice were disputed at trial. Ex. 44.  

43. The plain language of the Notice itself sets forth that the purpose 

of Notice 2008-111 was to “clarif[y]” the agency’s prior notice on Midco 

transactions, IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 003.  

44. Specifically, Notice 2008-111 advised taxpayers that a transaction 

would be treated as an “Intermediary Transaction” if: (1) a person engages in 

that transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the Notice); (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice; 

and, (3) no safe harbor exception applies. Id.  

45. In so doing, PwC and others interpreted the Notice to mean that 

the IRS narrowed the scope of Notice 2001-16. TT6 137:17–138:4 (Boyer); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 182:23–183:1 (Harris). 

46. Notice 2008-111 addressed only reportability of transactions to the 

IRS, not liability under the tax laws. Ex. 44 at 003.  The Notice did “not affect the 

legal determination of whether a person’s treatment of the transaction [was] 

proper or whether such person [was] liable, at law or in equity, as a transferee of 

property in respect of the unpaid tax obligation . . . .” Id.  

47. After the IRS issued Notice 2008-111, Lohnes responded in an 
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internal email to a question from Stovsky: “I read through the Notice and agree 

with your assessment that it shouldn’t change any of our prior analysis.” Ex. 

159, Lohnes Email to Stovsky. Stovsky testified that his receiving  the IRS 

subpoena to PwC relating to the Westside Transaction led him to communicate 

with Lohnes about the Notice. TT6 67:9–13. 

48. It was undisputed that the IRS began auditing Westside’s 2003 tax 

return in August 2005, and it interviewed Tricarichi in connection with that audit 

in 2007. Ex. 144, IRS Notice of Audit to Westside Cellular.  PwC was not 

involved with the preparation of Westside’s 2003 return.  

49. On January 22, 2008—roughly ten months before issuing Notice 

2008-111—the IRS sent Tricarichi an Information Document Request (“IDR”) 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 150.  The IDR 

advised Tricarichi that he may be liable for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. 

Id. at 001, See also, Order on Summary Judgment.  

50. The IRS also issued a summons to PwC on January 29, 2008, 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 152.   On February 

22, 2008, PwC responded to the summons, on its own behalf.  In so doing, PwC 

provided documents and set forth its contention that it had not provided any 

services to Tricarichi since 2003. Ex. 155.  Tricarichi was not billed for any of 

these activities. See Ex. 3. 

51. The IRS determined that as a result of the Westside transaction 

the company owed an additional $15.2 million in taxes and $6 million in 

penalties for 2003. Ex. 66 at 027.  In a draft transferee report sent to Tricarichi 

on February 3, 2009, the IRS sought payment of Westside’s outstanding tax 

liability from Tricarichi. Ex. 161 at 003–025. 

52. After receiving the draft transferee report, Tricarichi recruited 

highly experienced tax counsel to advise him.  
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53. Among those who Tricarichi hired were Glenn Miller and Michael 

Desmond of Bingham McCutcheon.  Miller has practiced tax law for 

approximately 30 years. TT7 185:6–8.  Desmond is a tax lawyer with over 25 

years of experience, including being employed at the DOJ’s Tax Division. TT6 

169:15–170:1.  After his work for Tricarichi, Desmond later served as IRS Chief 

Counsel. Id. 170:18–171:13. 

54. Tricarichi also hired a team of lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell, led 

by Don Korb, a senior tax lawyer who, at the time of his deposition in 2020, had 

been practicing tax law for over 45 years. TT8 (Vol. 2) 28 (Korb Dep. 15:25–

16:4).  Korb’s experience included serving as Chief Counsel of the IRS from 

2004 to 2008. Id. at 28–29 (Korb Dep. 18:13–15, 19:23–20:1).  

55. As his trial with the IRS in the Tax Court approached, Tricarichi 

also hired several lawyers at McGuire Woods, led by one of its partners, Craig 

Bell. TT6 182:24–183:10 (Desmond).  

56. While representing their client before the IRS and consistent with 

PwC’s prior assessment, Tricarichi’s lawyers repeatedly argued that under the 

standards set forth by Notice 2008-111, the Westside Transaction was not an 

intermediary transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 102, 4/29/09 Response to Draft Protest 

Letter at 006–010; Ex. 103A, 10/9/09 Formal Protest Letter at 012–016; Ex. 

183, 10/27/10 Appeals Conference Presentation at 002–003, 010–012; Ex. 197, 

3/18/11 Korb Letter to IRS at 003–004.  

57. Each of the communications cited above contained lengthy 

explanations of Notice 2008-111,  by individuals separate from PwC including  

tax lawyers, and they all set forth a similar opinion that Lohnes had provided 

internally to Stovsky---i.e. that the 2008 Notice did not apply to the Westside 

Transaction. See id.  For example, the admitted exhibits included a  March 2011 

communication from one of Tricarichi’s lawyers in the tax proceedings, Korb, 
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wherein he contended  that “pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language 

of Notice 2008-111, the sale of West Side Cellular stock is neither an 

intermediary transaction nor substantially similar to an intermediary transaction. 

We see no basis on which this conclusion can be challenged.” Ex. 197 at 004 

(emphasis added); see also Ex. 183 at 002–003, 010–012.   

58.  The evidence established that Tricarichi’s lawyers and the IRS 

also undertook efforts to settle the case.  For example, in October 2010, the IRS 

indicated it would be willing to settle the claim for roughly $14.5 million. Ex. 186, 

Email from D. Korb to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 187, Tricarichi’s Baseline Case 

Calculation at 005; TT6 177:3–9 (Desmond).  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  

59. On December 6, 2010, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Crowell 

sent a “decision tree” analysis to the IRS, which purported to calculate the IRS’s 

chances of success at trial as a means of estimating the settlement value of the 

case. Ex. 190, Email from A. Mason to P. Szpalik at 002. Tricarichi’s lawyers 

took the position that the IRS had only a 17 percent (17%) chance of 

establishing liability for Tricarichi and an 83 percent (83%) chance of failing to 

make such a showing. Id.  

60. At trial, Tricarichi confirmed that as of December 2010, he 

understood that he had an 83 percent (83%) chance of winning his case against 

the IRS based on the decision tree presented by his lawyers and which PwC 

had no part in creating or editing. TT4 75:19–25.  

61. On December 8, 2010, the IRS sent a new settlement offer of 

approximately $16.1 million. Ex. 192, Email from R. Corn to D. Korb; Ex. 193, 

IRS Settlement Computation at 001.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer. 

62. The IRS made another settlement offer in August 2011 of 

approximately $12.4 million. Ex. 201, Facsimile from P. Szpalik to D. Korb at 

002.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  
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63. Tricarichi did not settle his IRS case.  Tricarichi testified that he did 

not have the ability to settle for the amount that was being sought.  TT4 30:23–

31:1; id. 74:12–14; id. 86:11–13.  Tricarichi’s lawyers also testified that he was 

not interested in considering settlement offers in the double-digit millions. TT6 

198:2–17 (Desmond). 

64. On June 25, 2012, the IRS issued a formal “Notice of Liability,” 

asserting that Tricarichi owed $15,186,570 in income tax and underpayment 

penalties of $6,012,777 (for a total of approximately $21.2 million) for the 

Westside Transaction. Ex. 210.  Tricarichi petitioned the Tax Court for review 

shortly thereafter. Ex. 66.   

65. On May 30, 2014, Tricarichi rejected his lawyers’ suggestion that 

he might consider making a settlement offer to the IRS saying, “I don’t want to 

give the irs (sic) the impression that we think our case is weak, which I don’t 

believe it is.” Ex. 228, Email from M. Tricarichi to M. Desmond.  

66. In their arguments to the Tax Court, Tricarichi’s lawyers continued 

to argue that the Westside Transaction was not an intermediary transaction and 

did not satisfy Notice 2008-111. See, e.g., Ex. 225, Tricarichi’s Tax Court Cross-

Motion in Limine at 005.   

67. The Tax Court held a four-day trial on Tricarichi’s petition in June 

2014.  After the trial, but before the Tax Court issued its decision in August 2014, 

the IRS proposed settling the case for roughly $13.7 million. Ex. 231, Email from 

M. Desmond to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 232, Draft Settlement Discussion Framework; 

TT6 201:18–202:3 (Desmond). 

68. There was no settlement. Ex. 234, Email from M. Tricarichi to 

M. Desmond.  

69. The Tax Court issued its opinion on October 14, 2015, upholding 

the IRS’s Notice of Liability and ruling for the government on all issues. Ex. 66 at 
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005.  Tricarichi’s subsequent appeals were unsuccessful. Tricarichi v. Comm’r of 

Internal Revenue, 752 F. App’x 455, 456 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 

38 (2019).  

70. The evidence showed that PwC provided the information required 

by the IRS or requested by Tricarichi and his agents or lawyers, regarding the 

tax dispute and/or tax trials.  There was no evidence that Tricarichi hired PwC to 

perform any professional services for him relating to the tax dispute and/or tax 

trials. 

71. The Record further shows that while PwC did not contact Tricarichi 

before or after Lohnes reviewed the 2008 Notice at Stovsky’s request, Tricarichi 

was familiar with Notice 2008-111 and was repeatedly advised as to its content 

and applicability by the attorneys he hired.  

72. For example, Tricarichi reviewed drafts of the April 29, 2009, and 

October 9, 2009, letters to the IRS, both of which contained detailed discussions 

of Notice 2008-111. TT7 189:1–18, 190:6-22 (discussing Ex. 102); Ex. 103A at 

030.  In fact, Tricarichi signed the October 9, 2009, letter himself, attesting under 

penalty of perjury that he had “examined this protest, including any 

accompanying documents,” and that the “facts presented in this protest are true, 

correct, and complete.” Id. 

73. Tricarichi’s attorneys also testified that they advised him on Notice 

2008-11 specifically, and Midco transactions generally, both orally and in writing. 

TT7 189:19–190:2, 193:5–15 (Miller).  

74. For example, in October 2009, Korb sent a memo to Tricarichi and 

his personal attorney Randy Hart, advising them that the Westside transaction 

was “quite different” from the type of transaction described in Notice 2008-111. 

Ex. 165 at 003.  Tricarichi also reviewed settlement presentations to the IRS that 

discussed Notice 2008-111 and the reasons it did not apply to the Westside 
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Transaction. Ex. 174; Ex. 182.  

75. The Court, therefore, finds that Tricarichi was aware of Notice 

2008-111 and his counsel’s interpretation of its applicability to the Westside 

Transaction at least as of April 29, 2009.  There was also evidence that during 

the months and years that followed, his lawyers continued to advise him 

repeatedly that in their opinion, and/or they had a strong argument to present to 

a court, that the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were not met.  This is the 

same conclusion that PwC reached when it reviewed Notice 2008-111 shortly 

after its issuance. See Ex. 159.  

76. The preponderance of the evidence also shows that Tricarichi was 

aware, or should have been aware, of the existence and contents of the Stovsky 

memo no later than 2009.  At trial, Tricarichi testified at one point that he first 

saw a copy of the memo when PwC invited him and his lawyer, Randy Hart, to 

review a box of documents it was planning to send to the IRS in response to a 

summons it received regarding the Westside Transaction. TT4 7:21–23; see 

also TT5 89:23–90:2, 90:21-91:1 (Stovsky); TT6 62:19–63:12 (Stovsky).  This 

meeting occurred in February 2008. See Ex. 155; TT6 62:11–25 (Stovsky).  At 

another point during his testimony, he stated that he was unsure whether he 

saw the Stovsky memo in 2008.  TT3. 122:14–19 

77. Even if Tricarichi did not read the memo at the time he and Mr. 

Hart were to review the documents to be sent to the IRS, that same memo was 

cited by the IRS.  Specifically, in February and August 2009, the IRS cited the 

Stovsky memo and described its contents to Tricarichi in the draft and final 

transferee reports that it issued. Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010.  Further, in 

September 2009, PwC sent Tricarichi a copy of the files it had provided to the 

IRS, which included the Stovsky Memo. Ex. 51 at 001.  Additionally, in October 

2009, Sullivan & Cromwell billed Tricarichi, in part, for reviewing the Stovsky 
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Memo. Ex. 168 at 002.  Thus, even though Tricarichi stated at one point that he 

never heard the phrase “more likely than not” before trial, (TT3 107:17–21) and 

provided different recollections of when and/or whether he read or was made 

aware of the contents of the Stovsky memo, the evidence demonstrates that 

given the number of other witnesses and documents, Tricarichi reasonably 

should be viewed as being on notice of the contents of the Stovsky memo.  

VI. Procedural History of Tricarichi’s Dispute with PwC 

78. On January 14, 2011, Joel Levin, an attorney for Tricarichi, sent 

Stovsky a letter in which he stated that “it is [Tricarichi’s] position that this multi-

million dollar potential tax liability [for the Westside Transaction] lies at the feet 

of PWC for failing to provide him competent services, advice and counsel with 

respect to the subject stock sale to Fortrend, particularly concerning the 

potential tax consequences.” Ex. 205 at 002.  

79. In April 2016, Tricarichi filed a Complaint against PwC  in the 

Eighth Judicial District alleging that PwC’s 2003 advice on the Westside 

Transaction was negligent. Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 37–40, 81–96. 

80. On October 22, 2018, the Court granted Summary Judgment in 

PwC’s favor, holding that the statute of limitations barred any claims based on 

PwC’s 2003 advice. Dkt. 119 at 2.  The Court entered Judgment in favor of PwC 

“regarding any and all claims arising from the services PwC provided Tricarichi 

in 2003.” Id. at 3.  

81. Tricarichi filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a claim 

for negligence based on PwC’s alleged failure to tell him about Notice 2008-111. 

Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 116–17.  Tricarichi alleged that if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he would have immediately stopped litigating against the IRS and 

paid the tax deficiency. Id. ¶ 119. 

82. In the meantime, Tricarichi pursued a professional negligence 
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claim against his attorneys at Hahn Loeser, alleging that they committed 

malpractice by advising him to enter into the Westside Transaction.  After a 

mediation in September 2012, Tricarichi and Hahn Loeser settled their dispute 

for $4 million before any litigation was filed. Ex. 217, Letter from J. Levin to N. 

Schwartz; Ex. 218, Confidential Settlement Agreement at 003 (¶ 5). 

VII. Standards of Professional Care 

83. The primary source of professional responsibility standards for 

CPA tax practitioners during the time at issue in this case were standards 

promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

84. In fact, the Engagement Agreement between PwC and Tricarichi 

specified that all services were to be performed “in accordance with the AICPA’s 

Statements on Standards for Tax Services.” Ex. 100 at 007 (Section 7). 

85. Both Nevada (where Tricarichi was located) and Ohio (where PwC 

dispensed its advice) adopted the AICPA professional standards, at least in part, 

to govern accountants licensed to practice. Nev. Admin. Code §§ 628.0060-5(a) 

& (d), 628.500; Ohio Admin. Code § 4701-9-09. 

86. AICPA Rule 201 provides that a CPA tax practitioner must exercise 

professional competence and due care, which depends on the scope of the 

practitioner’s engagement under the particular facts and circumstances. Ex. 4, 

AICPA Professional Standards.  

87. The AICPA has defined the standard of care, and competence in 

the context of tax planning advice and tax return preparation, in a series of 

documents known as the Statements on Standards for Tax Services, or SSTSs. 

Ex. 106, Statements on Standards for Tax Services 1–8 (Aug. 2000). 

88. SSTS No. 6 is entitled “Knowledge of Error: Return Preparation.” 

This standard addresses situations in which an accountant (or “member”) 

discovers either an error in a previously filed return or the taxpayer’s failure to 
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file a return in the past. Id. at 027.  

89. SSTS No. 6 states that “[a] member should inform the taxpayer 

promptly upon becoming aware of an error in a previously filed return or upon 

becoming aware of a taxpayer’s failure to file a required return.” Id. (¶ 3). 

90. An “error” under SSTS No. 6 is any position that has less than a 

one-in-three chance of success. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 1); id. at 008 (¶ 2(a)), id. at 

011 (Interpretation 1-1); Ex. 149 at 046, IRS Circular 230 (Section 10.34), 

Definition D1; TT8 (Vol. 1) 191:17–25 (Harris).  

91. The “Explanation” section of SSTS No. 6 clarifies that its 

obligations exist only when the accountant is continuing to represent the client. 

Both Paragraphs 5 and 9 of SSTS No. 6 refer to telling the “taxpayer” (client) 

about the error if the member became aware of it “[w]hile performing services 

for a taxpayer.” Ex. 106 at 028–029 (¶¶ 5, 9); TT7 32:16–33:12 (Dellinger).  

92. Paragraph 6 of the same section discusses “whether to continue a 

professional or employment relationship with the taxpayer” if the taxpayer does 

not correct the error. Ex. 106 at 028 (¶ 6).  This, again, presupposes an existing 

client relationship, a point upon which both PwC’s and Tricarichi’s experts 

agreed. TT7 30:22–31:11 (Dellinger); TT8 (Vol. 1) 36:21–37:7 (Greene). 

93. Nothing in the text of SSTS No. 6 imposes any obligations on an 

accountant with respect to a former client.  Trial testimony established that such 

an open-ended obligation on accountants to their former clients would pose 

enormous practical difficulties. TT7 33:13–22 (Dellinger); see also TT8 (Vol. 1) 

38:19–22 (Greene).  

94. SSTS No. 8 is entitled “Form and Content of Advice to Taxpayers.” 

It addresses the “circumstances in which a member has a responsibility to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided.” Ex. 106 at 033 (¶ 1).  
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95. The standard states: “[a] member has no obligation to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided with respect to significant matters, except while assisting a 

taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans associated with the advice 

provided or when a member undertakes this obligation by specific agreement.” 

Id. (¶ 4).  

96. The “Explanation” section of the standard further specifies that “a 

member cannot be expected to communicate subsequent developments that 

affect such advice unless the member undertakes this obligation by specific 

agreement with the taxpayer.” Id. at 034 (¶ 9).  

97. Finally, the standard notes that taxpayers should be informed that 

any advice rendered reflects professional judgment based on an existing 

situation, and that later developments could affect earlier advice.  It further 

instructs that “Members may use precautionary language to the effect that their 

advice is based on facts as stated and authorities are subject to change.” Id. at 

035 (¶ 10).  PwC included such language in its Engagement Agreement. See 

FOF ¶ 14, supra.  

 
VIII. Tricarichi’s Claimed Damages and PwC’s Mitigation Defense 

98. Tricarichi seeks, as damages, the legal fees incurred in his IRS 

litigation, and the interest on his unpaid taxes and penalties that accrued from 

January 1, 2009, through November 13, 2018.  Specifically, in this case Tricarchi 

contends that PwC is liable to him for $3,180,143.03 in legal fees and costs, and 

$14,937,400.18 in interest owed to the IRS.  

99. As one of its defenses, PwC contended through its expert that the 

damages asserted are too high and do not reflect appropriate mitigation.  PwC 

contended that had Tricarichi set aside the money he potentially owed the IRS 
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and invested it in stock funds, bond funds, real estate funds, or some 

combination of these, he could have enjoyed rates of return on the funds he 

kept from the IRS significantly higher than the three-to-six percent interest rates 

charged by the IRS during the same period. TT7 132:5–140:8 (Leaunae). 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
I. Elements of Tricarichi’s Cause of Action (Count III) 

100. Tricarichi tried a single claim of professional negligence (Count III 

of his Amended Complaint) to the Court. Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 115–121.  Count III 

focuses only on whether the issuance of Notice 2008-111 in December 2008 

gave rise to any duty to Tricarichi that PwC breached. Id.5  

101. Despite the narrow focus of Count III, some of the evidence at trial 

focused on what was contended to be negligent acts and omissions that 

occurred in 2003, when PwC originally rendered its advice, or earlier despite the 

Court’s prior Summary Judgment ruling, which barred as untimely “any and all 

claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003.” Dkt. 191 at 3.  

Given the time and effort spent on the providing the detailed history of the case, 

and given the extensive procedural history including appeals and multiple 

proceedings in other courts, the Court has included historical facts and 

testimony for clarity of the record.  By incorporating a fuller factual background, 

the Court is not sua sponte altering or amending any prior judgment or ruling as 

they remain law of the case. See, e.g.  Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7–

8 (2014) (“[A] court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open 

                                                           
5 The Amended Complaint also contains Counts I and II against PwC, both of which were 
included only for preservation purposes after the Court dismissed them on Summary Judgment in 
2018. Dkt. 140 n.1.  Counts I and II were not tried to the Court, nor was any other claim in the 
Amended Complaint apart from Count III. TT9 167:25–168:23. 
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questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher 

one in earlier phases”) (quotation omitted); see also Dkt. 234 at 4. 

102. The elements of a cause of action in tort for professional 

negligence are:  
(1) the duty of the professional to use such skill, 
prudence, and diligence as other members of his 
profession commonly possess and exercise; (2) the 
breach of that duty; (3) a proximate causal connection 
between the negligent conduct and the resulting 
injury, and (4) actual loss or damage resulting from 
the professional’s negligence. 

Sorenson v. Pavlokowski, 94 Nev. 440, 443, 581 P.2d 851, 853 (Nev. 1978).  

103. As set forth in more detail below, at trial, Tricarichi failed to meet 

his burden of proof on all four elements.  

 
II. First Element: PwC Did Not Owe Tricarichi a Duty of Care in          

2008 

104. The Court concludes that PwC did not owe any duty to Tricarichi, 

who ceased being a client in 2003, such that PwC should have updated its 

previously-provided advice in 2008, after Notice 2008-111 issued. See 

Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC, 125 Nev. 578, 584, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (Nev. 

2009) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the Court to decide). 

105. Under the AICPA’s SSTS No. 8, a member does not have any 

obligation to communicate with a taxpayer about subsequent developments, 

except “while assisting the taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans 

associated with the advice provided or when the member undertakes this 

obligation by specific agreement.” Ex. 106 at 033.  

106. At trial, Tricarichi argued that the first exception (“while 

implementing plans or procedures”) was satisfied because PwC provided 

comments on the stock purchase agreement between Westside and Nob Hill in 

2003, which he claimed created a continuing obligation for PwC to update him 
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on subsequent developments in 2008. TT9 112:13–24.  

107. The Court disagrees.  By its plain language, the exception only 

applies “while” the member is assisting the taxpayer in implementing 

procedures. TT9 81:17–84:1 (Harris); TT7 67:2–68:5 (Delllinger).  Even if 

providing comments on the agreement counted as “implementing” Tricarichi’s 

plan in 2003 (a question that the Court need not reach here), it is undisputed 

that those efforts ceased in 2003.  By 2008, PwC was not performing any work 

for Tricarichi.  

108. As to the second exception, in the present case there was a 

specific Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi.  PwC’s Engagement Letter, 

consistent with SSTS No. 8, specifically disclaimed any ongoing obligation for 

changes to the tax laws after services were rendered. Ex. 100 at 006 (Section 

3); Ex. 106 at 006.  Further, there was no contention that Tricarichi was not 

aware of the terms of the Engagement Letter as he even made comments on 

the Engagement Letter which he signed.  

109. Tricarichi also pointed to Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8, 

which discusses when a member may consider providing advice in written, as 

opposed to oral, form. TT8 (Vol. 1) 10:13–14:11 (Greene); Ex. 106 at 034.  In 

the present case, there was disputed testimony about whether there was a 

specific discussion about obtaining the information orally or in writing or if 

Tricarichi knew that he could have requested the opinions to be set forth in 

writing.  Regardless of whether there was a difference between the parties 

whether any discussion took place or not, and even if the Court were to credit 

Tricarichi’s view, the language of Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8 is what the 

Court focuses on to determine if the first prong of the cause of action is met.  As 

the plain language of the provision sets forth that the decision regarding the 

form of advice is left to the “professional judgement” of the member, the Court 
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cannot find that it imposes any affirmative duty on members to provide written 

advice.  Instead, the Court reads the language as setting forth situations when 

written advice may be preferable. TT8 (Vol. 1) 208:10–25 (Harris).  

110. Thus, the Court concludes that Tricarichi did not meet his burden 

to demonstrate in the present case that the standards set forth in SSTS No. 8 

gave  rise to any duty of care on the part of PwC to Tricarichi.  

111. SSTS No. 6, likewise, does not create any duty to Tricarichi.  The 

Court has already found that SSTS No. 6 is limited to circumstances involving 

awareness of an error on a tax return when an accountant is performing 

services for a current client.  Here, PwC was no longer performing services for 

Tricarichi in 2008.  At trial, even Tricarichi’s expert would not commit to imposing 

a duty on PwC under these circumstances. TT8 (Vol. 1) 38:19–22 (“[Q.] Let’s 

say there were no services being provided to Mr. Tricarichi by PwC in 2008, in 

that circumstance would PwC have a duty to disclose an error to a former client, 

under SSTS 6? A. Perhaps not.”).  

112. PwC’s later, occasional, contact with Tricarichi and his lawyers, 

while responding to IRS subpoenas for documents in 2008 and later for 

testimony in 2013 and 2014, does not constitute performing services for 

Tricarichi.  PwC was required by law to respond to IRS subpoenas on its own 

behalf.  Tricarichi concede that he did not seek to engage PwC, and PwC did 

not invoice Tricarichi for time spent responding to the IRS subpoenas or 

testifying at his Tax Court trial. 

113. Relying on internal PwC policies and a single practice guide 

published by the AICPA, Tricarichi also asserted at trial that PwC had a duty to 

maintain a written file documenting how it reached its conclusions about Notice 

2008-111. TT7 106:1–14, 109:7–19 (Greene); Ex. 22; Ex. 88.  

114. While the Court took into account both the policies and the 
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practice guide, it cannot find that either of these created a duty that meets the 

criteria necessary for a professional negligence tort.  Furthermore, the practice 

guide is not authoritative literature and describes only “best practices”; it does 

not impose requirements on all accountants. TT8 (Vol. 1) 88:1–23 (Greene). 

Indeed, it would be Tricarichi’s burden to establish that a failure to follow internal 

policies or the terms of a practice guide creates a duty under Nevada law but he 

did not provide any case law to the Court to support that contention.  Instead, 

the only case cited by either party was outside the jurisdiction and it provided 

that a company’s internal standards are distinct from, and can be more rigorous 

than, external duties imposed under the law. See, In re Conticommodity Servs., 

Inc. Sec. Litig., No. MDL 644, 1988 WL 56172, at *1–2 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 1988).6   

115. Based on the above reasons, the Court concludes, as a matter of 

law, that PwC did not owe any duty of care to Tricarichi, its former client.  

Accordingly, Tricarichi has failed to establish the first element of his claim.  

While the failure to meet all elements of a cause of action would allow Judgment 

in favor of PwC, the Court addresses each of the other elements as well.  

 
III. Second Element: Even if PwC Owed a Duty to Tricarichi, PwC 

Did Not Breach That Duty 

116. Even if PwC owed a duty to update its former client, the Court 

concludes that based on the evidence, Tricarichi has failed to prove that PwC 

breached its duty.  

 

                                                           
6 Plaintiff Tricarichi did cite a one case from a federal District Court in Nevada, Garner v. Bank of 
Am. Corp., 2014 WL 1945142 at *7–8 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).  That case, however, is inapposite 
as it discusses generally that a duty can arise from a special relationship but does not address 
the specific issues raised in this case.  
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A. Failure to Disclose Notice 2008-111 to Tricarichi Was Not 

a Breach Because Tricarichi Did Not Meet His Burden to 
Show that  the Notice Rendered PwC’s Prior Advice 
Erroneous  

117. Assuming arguendo that SSTS No. 6 did create a duty to 

Tricarichi, that duty could only be breached if Notice 2008-111 made PwC aware 

of an “error” in a previously filed return. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 3). It did not.  

118. First, it is undisputed that PwC was not aware of any error on a 

previously filed tax return as a result of Notice 2008-111.  Tricarichi contends, 

instead, that PwC should have been aware of an error because it should have 

interpreted the 2008 Notice as invalidating or being contrary in some respect to 

the advice given by PwC in 2003.  The evidence presented by Tricarichi was 

that the IRS’s position that Tricarichi owed taxes as a result of the Westside 

transaction was upheld by the tax court, and then the appellate court; and by 

implication, PwC should have known that Tricarichi would not prevail in either of 

those courts.  The challenge with that argument is that it is flawed and not 

supported by the facts.  First, there was no evidence that the IRS relied on 

Notice 2008-111, which came out in December 2008, to commence its audit of 

the Westside transaction, which began in 2005 about three years before the 

Notice came out.  Further, on January 22, 2008 - roughly ten months before 

issuing Notice 2008-11 was sent to Tricarichi - he had already received an 

Information Document Request (“IDR”) from the IRS seeking documents related 

to the Westside Transaction.  The IDR advised Tricarichi that he may be liable 

for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. Ex. 150.  Thus, even if Notice 2008-111 

did more than narrow the circumstances in which a transaction would be 

reportable, as was contended by PwC and others, Tricarichi did not meet his 

burden to show that PwC breached its duty within the statute of limitations time 
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frame by failing to update him as there was no evidence that PwC knew that 

such a Notice would come out in until it actually came out and by that time the 

IRS had already begun its audit and he had already received the IDR.  

119. To the extent that Tricarichi also claims that he would have 

modified his tax returns and taken other actions after December 1, 2008, if PwC 

had informed him that Notice 2008-111 impacted the merits of the IRS’s position 

on the audit they had already commenced in 2005, that contention was also not 

established by the evidence. Instead the evidence showed that even after he 

had various opportunities to resolve his tax dispute and had the benefit of 

several legal tax professionals advising him, he chose not to settle the tax 

dispute. 

120. PwC further contended that pursuant to Notice 2008–111, a 

transaction is treated as a Midco transaction if: (1) a person engages in that 

transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the notice); and (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice. 

Ex. 44 at 003.  

121. There was no dispute that the term “Plan” is defined in Section 2 

of the Notice, and it must include the disposition of Built-in Gain Assets. Id. at 

003-004. “Built-in Gain Assets” is, in turn, defined as an asset “the sale of which 

would result on taxable gain.” Id.  

122. The undisputed evidence at trial—from fact and expert witnesses 

called by both parties (including Tricarichi himself)—was that Westside did not 

have any Built-in Gain Assets at the time of the transaction, and that the 

Westside Transaction did not involve the sale of any Built-in Gain Assets. TT2 

95:16–18 (Lohnes); TT4 63:5–10 (Tricarichi) (referring to Ex. 182 at 003); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 76:20–22 (Greene); Id. 191:11–16 (Harris); TT7 200:3–23 (Miller).  The 

theory espoused in questioning by Tricarichi’s counsel, that the release of the 
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claims in the lawsuit constituted Built-In Gain Assets, was not supported by a 

single witness or any evidence in the case. 

123. At the time of the transaction, Westside had only cash in its bank 

accounts from the lawsuit settlement with the cell phone carriers, which was 

considered ordinary income, not taxable gain from the sale of a Built-in Gain 

Asset, and reported that way on Westside’s tax return. TT2 47:12–22 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 76:17–19 (Greene); Id. 259:11–21 (Harris); see also Nahey v. 

Comm’r, 111 T.C. 256, 261–65 (1998) (holding that settlement of lawsuits “does 

not constitute a sale or exchange” and thus would be treated as ordinary 

income, not capital gain).  

124. Thus, given the language of the Notice and how was interpreted 

by others on behalf of Tricarichi, PwC did not fall below the standard of care by 

reviewing Notice 2008-111 and making the determination that it did not change 

the firm’s prior analysis that, “more likely than not”, the transaction was not 

reportable. Ex. 45, Lohnes Email to Stovsky.   

125. Tricarichi argued at trial that Lohnes or Stovsky should have 

consulted one of the designated “Subject Matter Experts,” or SMEs, at PwC 

before reaching this conclusion.  This argument, however, had no evidentiary 

support.  Tricarichi claimed at trial that it was the failure of PwC to inform him 

that Notice 2008-111 impacted his personal liability to the IRS as a transferee.  

Whether PwC had a SME involved or not is irrelevant.  It was uncontested that 

PwC (via Stovsky) did not believe there was any information to provide Tricarichi 

based on Notice 2008-111.  Stovsky was Tricarichi’s relationship tax 

professional at PwC who, in the past, had communicated what he thought 

should be communicated to Tricarichi.  Whether Stovsky communicated 

internally with only Lohnes, or also with others such as a SME, prior to making 

that determination, it was PwC’s decision, via a tax partner, not to provide 
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Tricarichi with any analysis of Notice 2008-111, and whether that decision does 

or does not meet the standard of professional negligence, is the issue before 

the Court.  The issue is not a speculation of whether if Stovsky or Lohnes 

reached out to a SME would that SME give the same or a different opinion and 

if so what would have happened.  Tricarichi’s claim and PwC’s defenses are 

based on what actually occurred - not speculation of what could have occurred 

with a different set of facts.   

126. In addition, in the present case, Tricarichi did not establish that the 

individuals at PwC who provided the advice in 2003 were not qualified to 

provide the advice.  PwC did provide evidence that Lohnes had prior expertise 

in Midco transactions, even though he could not recall names of specific matters 

he worked on. TT3 4:21–5:20 (Lohnes).  Second, the directory of SMEs was not 

an exhaustive list of people at PwC with knowledge about particular 

transactions, but rather that it served merely as a contact list for people outside 

of Lohnes’ group (Washington National Tax Service). TT2 115:2–116:10 

(Lohnes).  Finally, a designated SME on Midco transactions, Mark Boyer, 

testified that Lohnes had a level of expertise in Midco transactions similar to his 

own. TT6 140:15–141:12.  

127. Another reason that PwC’s advice in 2003 was not in “error” was 

because it rendered its advice with a “more likely than not” confidence level. 

That allows for up to a 49.9 percent (49.9%) likelihood of the result going the 

other way.  Thus, even if IRS 2008-111 did expand, rather than narrow, the 

reportability standard (and it did not), that would not render earlier advice given 

with a “more likely than not” standard erroneous.  

128. As noted above, an “error” under SSTS No. 6 means that the 

member advised the taxpayer to take a position with less than a 1-in-3 chance 

of success.  No one testified that as a result of Notice 2008-111, PwC’s original 
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advice on reportability had such a low confidence level.  

129. In evaluating the breach element, the Court also has to look at 

what the other professionals Tricarichi hired advised him with in relation to 

Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to his risk of liability to the IRS.  Both the 

internal communications, provided as exhibits, as well as the arguments 

presented to the various courts by Tricarichi’s legal tax attorneys as noted 

herein, were consistent with the advice provided by PwC. See, also Ex. 165.  In 

addition, there was testimony that practitioners before the IRS and the Tax Court 

must have a “good faith basis” in their positions—the same type of “good faith 

basis” that is required under SSTS No. 1 when determining whether a position is 

erroneous. TT8 (Vol. 1) 235:3–25, 237:21–238:16 (Harris); TT6 184:9–12 

(Desmond). 

130. Therefore, even if PwC had a duty to update Tricarichi about an 

“error” in its prior advice on whether the transaction was now “reportable” 

pursuant to Notice 2008-111, based on evidence presented as to the language 

of the provision as well as the other advise Tricarichi received consistent with 

PwC’s own internal analysis, Tricarichi has failed to show that there was a 

breach of any asserted duty.  

 
B. PwC Did Not Breach Any Duty to Provide Advice in 

Writing or to Maintain Written Documentation 

131. As discussed above, PwC did not have any affirmative duty to put 

its advice in writing, either in 2003 or at any point after.  But, even if such a duty 

existed, it would not have been breached in 2008 when Lohnes and Stovsky 

reviewed Notice 2008-111 for its applicability to the Westside Transaction.  

132. Any duty to provide advice in writing presupposes, as a matter of 

logic, that some sort of advice is being provided to a client.  That was not the 

case in 2008.  Tricarichi neither sought a tax engagement from PwC to receive 
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any advice from PwC in 2008, nor was he provided any tax advice from PwC in 

2008. TT3 162:21–163:5; TT8 (Vol. 1) 113:5–7 (Greene).  Thus, it would have 

been impossible for PwC to breach any hypothetical duty to provide advice in 

writing to Tricarichi at that time. TT8 (Vol. 1) 114:18–25 (Greene).   

 
C. Failure to Disclose PwC’s Prior Involvement in the 

Enbridge and Marshall Transactions Was Not a Breach 
of Any Duty 

133. Tricarichi also contends that Notice 2008-111 should have 

prompted PwC to disclose its prior advice and the outcomes in the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions, and that its failure to do so was a negligent omission. 

134. The Court disagrees.  PwC’s involvement with Marshall and 

Enbridge occurred long before the December 2008 issuance of Notice 

2008-111, and the “independent duty” that Tricarichi claims came about at that 

time as a result of the issuance of that Notice.  PwC rendered its advice in the 

Marshall case in 2003, and its involvement with Enbridge was in 1999.7  

135. Moreover, as the Court has found above, both the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions were substantially distinct from the Westside Transaction, 

and there is no reason to believe that PwC’s work in those two matters rendered 

their advice to Tricarichi any more or less correct.  

136. Furthermore, the evidence at trial showed that PwC would not 

have been able to disclose the specific details of these engagements with 

Tricarichi because of its confidentiality obligations. TT3 35:23–36:7 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 199:17–23 (Harris); id. 102:14–103:4 (Greene).  

137. Thus, the Court concludes as a matter of law that the failure to 

disclose details of the Enbridge or Marshall transactions does not constitute a 

                                                           
7 As noted above, the Court’s 2018 Summary Judgment ruling on statute of limitations bars 
Tricarichi’s allegations regarding Marshall and Enbridge.  
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breach of any duty of care that PwC owed to Tricarichi.  

 
IV. Third Element: Tricarichi Has Not Proven Causation 

138. To prevail on his claim, Tricarichi must prove a “proximate causal 

connection between the negligent conduct and resulting injury.” Boesiger v. 

Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev. 192, 194–95, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (Nev. 2019).  

139. Tricarichi asserts that PwC’s alleged negligence (i.e., failing to 

advise him about Notice 2008-111) caused his alleged injury (the $14,937,400 in 

interest that accrued after Notice 2008-111 was issued and the $3,180,143 in 

attorney’s fees he spent litigating against the IRS).  

140. The Court disagrees and concludes that Tricarichi has failed to 

establish causation for four independent reasons.  

141. First, the record is clear that Tricarichi and his team of tax lawyers 

were aware of Notice 2008-111 and its implications shortly after the Notice 

issued as set forth above.  The Court has already found that Tricarichi was 

aware of Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to the Westside Transaction no 

later than 2009; and further, that Tricarichi’s attorneys repeatedly advised him 

thereafter throughout the course of his litigation with the IRS regarding whether  

the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were met or not.  

142. Thus, Tricarichi’s causation arguments rest on the supposition that 

he would have abandoned his IRS litigation and immediately settled with the 

government if only PwC had added a contrary voice to the chorus of 

distinguished tax advisors—which included both former and future IRS Chief 

Counsels—who were advising Tricarichi that the requirements of Notice 

2008-111 were not satisfied.  While Tricarichi argued that it would have made a 

difference in his decisions, he failed to meet his evidentiary burden.    

143. To the contrary, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell advised 
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him that the IRS did not need to rely on Notice 2008-111 to win, and that their 

argument was “a bit of a red herring.” Ex. 165 at 003.  And when asked at trial if 

he knew in 2009 that Notice 2008-111 was a red herring, Tricarichi replied: “The 

arguments that they’re using in 2008-111 -- again, I’m not a tax expert and I 

keep saying that over and over again. But I can read. Okay? This is not why we 

lost the [Tax Court] case. It has nothing to do with why we lost the case.” TT3 

224:19–23 (Tricarichi) (emphasis added).  The Court has to take Tricarichi’s own 

testimony into account in evaluating every element of his claim.  Giving 

Tricarichi the benefit of the doubt that his words could be viewed out of context, 

the weight of the rest of the evidence shows that there were too many 

intervening causes which prevent holding PwC liable for Tricarichi’s asserted 

damages.   

144. Second, the chronology of the case demonstrates that Notice 

2008-11 could not have prevented the audit which later resulted in the liability 

determination.  Specifically,  Tricarichi  did not  show that disclosure of Notice 

2008-111 would have made any difference to the rulings of the Courts as to his 

liability because the Notice, on its face, relates only to reportability of 

transactions and not a taxpayer’s underlying liability:  The language of the 

Notice sets forth it:  “does not affect the legal determination of whether a 

person’s treatment of the transaction is proper or whether such person is liable, 

at law or in equity, as a transferee of property in respect of the unpaid tax 

obligation . . . .” Ex. 44 at 003. 

145. Importantly, in the present case, the chronology of facts shows 

that the IRS had been examining/auditing the Westside Transaction for about 

three years before Notice 2008-111 issued.  The IRS began its audit of the 2003 

Westside tax return in 2005, interviewed Tricarichi regarding that audit in 2007, 

and issued an Information Document Request to Tricarichi in 2008, all before 
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the issuance of Notice 2008-111.  Thus, even if PwC had informed Tricarichi that 

2008-111 would require Tricarichi to report the Westside transaction, there was 

no evidence presented how that would have changed the IRS determination 

based on the audit that he was liable as a transferee in the instant case since 

the audit had already progressed for three years prior to the Notice being 

promulgated and the IRS had already informed him that it was seeking the 

underpayment from his as a transferee.     

146. The third reason, Tricarichi cannot meet the causation prong of his 

professional negligence claim is that there is no credible evidence to support his 

contention that if PwC had notified him regarding Notice 2008-111, he would 

have amended his taxes and settled the case with the IRS in December 2008; 

and thus, he would not have incurred any of the attorney fees or interest 

damages he is seeking in the present case.  Specifically, his transferee liability 

stems from the taxes filed by various entities as a result of the Westside 

transaction, and he did not present any evidence how he could amend the 

relevant filings in 2008 or 2009 at no cost, and that as a result, the IRS would 

not pursue him for transferee liability.  There was no evidence from any IRS 

witness or anyone else that the outcome described was possible.  

147.  Additionally, the evidence presented demonstrated that he had 

several opportunities to settle the case with the IRS and minimize fees and 

interest but he chose not to do so.  As set forth in the Findings above, these 

opportunities to settle the case came about after he was advised by 

experienced tax counsel as to liability and the impact of 2008-111.  While the 

reason Tricarichi chose not to resolve the matter with the IRS was disputed, 

PwC asserted that the communications between Tricarichi and his tax counsel 

show he did not have the funds or felt the offers to settle were too high, and the 

Record was devoid of any exhibit where Tricarichi contended that he did not 
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settle due to the advice provided by PwC in 2003.  Instead, the only testimony in 

support of that contention is Tricarichi’s own testimony which the Court has to 

weigh in contrast with the other testimony by his tax lawyers and the various 

exhibits that were introduced which are not in accord with his testimony.  In so 

doing, the Court finds that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to show that Pwc’s 

action or inaction relating to Notice 2008-111 meets the causation element of is 

claim.  

148. Thus, Tricarichi has failed to provide the level of evidence 

necessary to support the notion that even had PwC advised Tricarichi about 

Notice 2008-111 when it issued, Tricarichi could have or would have settled with 

the IRS thereby avoiding the interest and legal fees he now seeks as damages.  

149. Fourth, to the extent that Tricarichi’s claim is that PwC was 

negligent in 2008 because it did not advise him at that time of the contents of 

the Stovsky Memo (as opposed to Notice 2008-111 itself), causation is still 

defeated because the record is clear that Tricarichi was made aware of either 

the existence or contents (or both) of the Stovsky memo on at least five 

separate occasions in 2008 and 2009, either by PwC itself, the IRS, or his 

attorneys. TT4 at 7:21–25; Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010; Ex. 164 at 001; Ex. 

168 at 002.  

 
V. Fourth Element: Damages 

150. As the Court has found that Tricarichi, independently, has not met 

his burden on any of the first three elements of a cause of action for  

Professional Negligence, the Court need not, and determines it would not be 

appropriate, to address the damages element.  

 
VI. Basis of PwC’s Affirmative Defenses 

151. PwC tried four of its affirmative defenses to the Court: statute of 
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limitations (second affirmative defense), failure to mitigate damages (fourteenth 

affirmative defense), offset/contribution (fifteenth affirmative defense), and 

limitation of liability (sixteenth affirmative defense).  

152. Consistent with the Court’s determination that Tricarichi failed to 

meet his burden on the elements of his cause of action for Professional 

Negligence, the Court will only address the Second Affirmative Defense relating 

to statute of limitations.8  

153. Under Nevada law, an action for professional malpractice must be 

brought two years from discovery or four years from the alleged malpractice, 

whichever occurs earlier. NRS § 11.2075(1).  

154. Under New York law—the governing law identified in the 

Engagement Agreement—the statute of limitations is three years from the 

alleged malpractice. See Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 644 N.E.2d 1009, 

1011 (N.Y. 1994) (citing New York CPLR § 214). 

155. Under either, the limitation period of Tricarichi’s claim is untimely.  

156. PwC’s alleged acts of negligence related to Notice 2008-111 

occurred in December 2008 or January 2009, shortly after it issued.  Thus, 

under New York law, the statute of limitations would have expired at the latest in 

January 2013.   Tricarichi did not file suit in this case until April 29, 2016, making 

his claim untimely.  

157. The outcome is no different if the Court applies Nevada law.  The 

Court found above that Tricarichi was subjectively aware of Notice 2008-111 at 

least as of April 29, 2009.  Thus, the Court concludes, for limitations purposes, 

                                                           
8 As set forth above, the Court found that the first three elements of his cause of action were not 
met for independent reasons. Thus, the Court found that there was not a basis to address the 
damages element of his cause of action.  Consistent therewith, the Court finds no basis to 
address the other three affirmative defenses which are based on if there was a finding that 
damages were appropriate - there was not.  
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that the latest date that Tricarichi knew or should have known about his claim 

was April 29, 2009.  

158. Under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(a), Tricarichi’s action would have needed 

to be commenced no later than April 29, 2011 (two years from discovery).  And 

under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(b), the action needed to be commenced by January, 

2013 (four years from the alleged malpractice).  However, the statute specifies 

that the earlier of the two dates controls; thus, for limitations purposes, the latest 

date that Tricarichi could have filed his claim is April 29, 2011.  He filed his claim 

five years too late, on April 29, 2016.9  

159. At trial, Tricarichi failed to introduce any evidence of a tolling 

agreement, and expressly declined to do so when the Court inquired about such 

an agreement immediately prior to closings. TT9 100:7–20 (“MR. HESSELL: 

Yeah. No, we don’t need to -- We don’t need that”) (referring to proposed Exhibit 

83).  Furthermore, Tricarichi failed to include any proposed pre-trial findings or 

conclusions of law on statute of limitations.  As such, Tricarichi has waived any 

argument that the limitations period was tolled by agreement or otherwise.10 

Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 44, 

49, 152 P.3d 737, 740 (Nev. 2007). 

160. Instead, Tricarichi’s counsel claimed in his closing argument 

rebuttal, that the inclusion of a tolling agreement - as an exhibit to a brief in 

opposition to an earlier Summary Judgment Motion - relieved him of any 

obligation to introduce it as evidence at trial.  The Court disagrees. See Garcia 

v. Shapiro, 515 P.3d 345, (Nev. App. 2022) (“Regardless, motions, statements 

                                                           
9 In utilizing the January date, the  this Court is providing Tricarichi the longer time frame as it is 
taking into account the Levin letter (Ex. 205).   
10 Tricarichi’s failure to disclose any proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding 
statute of limitations, likewise waives any argument that he is entitled to statutory tolling under 
N.R.S. 11.2075(2).  
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JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

and allegations within them, and exhibits attached to them do not necessarily 

constitute evidence.”) (citing EDCR 5.205(g) (“Exhibits [to motions] may be 

deemed offers of proof but shall not be considered substantive evidence until 

admitted.”)); cf. NRAP 28(e) (party raising evidentiary issue on appeal must 

identify where in the record “evidence was identified, offered, and received or 

rejected”); see also Town of Gorham v. Duchaine, 224 A.3d 241, 244 (Me. 2020) 

(“[S]imply attaching documents to a motion is not the equivalent of properly 

introducing or admitting them as evidence.  Documents attached to motions are 

not part of the record and therefore cannot be considered evidence in the record 

on appeal.”) (Collecting state cases). 

161. Thus, under either the three-year statute of limitations in New 

York, or the two-year statute of limitations in Nevada, Tricarichi’s claim is time-

barred11.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                           
11  As set forth herein, the Court finds that PwC’s Statute of Limitations defense was met. The fact 
that Tricarichi’s claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations is an independent basis upon which 
Judgment for PwC is to be entered in addition to basis that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to 
establish all four elements of his professional negligence claim.  
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JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

ORDER  AND JUDGMENT 

THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS OF FACT and 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and 

DECREED that Judgment shall be entered in favor of Defendant PwC and 

Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from his Complaint.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that 

any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion. 

Counsel for  Defendant PwC is directed pursuant to NRCP 58 (b) and (e) 

to file and serve Notice of Entry of this Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Judgment within fourteen (14) days hereof.  

 

      Dated this 9th day of February, 2023. 

 

 

      _______________________________ 
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Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 
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                              v. 
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                      Defendant. 
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) 
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CASE NO. A-16-735910-B 

DEPT NO. XXXI 
 

STIPULATION AND ORDER TO 

AMEND CASE CAPTION  

 
 

 

 

 

 Pursuant to this Court’s Orders dismissing Defendants COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK 

U.A. AND UTRECHT-AMERICA FINANCE CO., SEYFARTH SHAW, LLP, and GRAHAM 
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R. TAYLOR from this case (see Court’s Order Granting Motion to Dismiss the Complaint 

Against Seyfarth Shaw LLP, Doc ID#: 64; and Court’s Order Granting Motion to Dismiss the 

Complaint Against Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. and Utrecht-America Finance Co., Doc ID#: 

71), as affirmed by the Nevada Supreme Court (see Nevada Supreme Court Clerk’s Certificate / 

Remittitur Judgment – Affirmed, Doc ID#: 144), THE REMAINING PARTIES HEREBY 

STIPULATE AND AGREE to amend the caption in this matter to remove the names of the 

above-mentioned dismissed Defendants, as represented in the proposed amended caption, 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

 

DATED this            day of April, 2022. 

 

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

 

/s/ Ariel C. Johnson  

                                                             
Mark A. Hutchison (4639) 

Ariel C. Johnson (13357) 

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 

 

Scott F. Hessell 

Thomas D. Brooks 

Blake Sercye 

(Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL 60603 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 

DATED this            day of April, 2022. 

 

SNELL & WILMER, LLP 

 

/s/ Bradley Austin 

                                                              

Patrick Byrne (7636) 

Bradley Austin (13064) 

3883 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Suite 1100 

Las Vegas, NV 89169 

 

Mark L. Levine (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 

Christopher D. Landgraff (Admitted Pro 

Hac Vice) 

Katharine Roin (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 

54 West Hubbard Street, Suite 300 

Chicago, IL 60654 

 

Daniel C. Taylor (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 

1801 Wewatta Street, Suite 1200 

Denver, CO 80202 

 

Attorneys for Defendant 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
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ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the caption be amended in this matter to remove the 

names of Defendants COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A. AND UTRECHT-AMERICA 

FINANCE CO., SEYFARTH SHAW, LLP, and GRAHAM R. TAYLOR, as they have been 

dismissed from the case.  

 

 

 

 
 

 
Submitted by: 

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

 

/s/ Ariel C. Johnson 

                                                             
Mark A. Hutchison (4639) 

Ariel C. Johnson (13357) 

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 

 

Scott F. Hessell 

Thomas D. Brooks 

Blake Sercye 

(Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL 60603 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 
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Maddy Carnate-Peralta

From: Austin, Bradley <baustin@swlaw.com>

Sent: Friday, April 8, 2022 2:58 PM

To: Ariel C. Johnson; Scott F. Hessell; Blake Sercye; Byrne, Pat; mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com;

chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com; kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com;

daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com

Cc: Maddy Carnate-Peralta; Todd W. Prall

Subject: RE: Tricarichi v. PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, et al.; Case No. A-16-735910-B

Hi Ariel,

Two minor changes: Can you please change “Defendants” to “Defendant” in the caption (on both the SAO and exhibit),
and add Katharine Roin in the place of Krista Perry in the signature block? With those changes, you may affix my e-
signature.

Thanks,

Brad

From: Ariel C. Johnson <ajohnson@hutchlegal.com>
Sent: Friday, April 8, 2022 1:47 PM
To: Scott F. Hessell <shessell@sperling-law.com>; Blake Sercye <bsercye@sperling-law.com>; Byrne, Pat
<pbyrne@swlaw.com>; Austin, Bradley <baustin@swlaw.com>; mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com;
chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com; kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com; daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com
Cc: Maddy Carnate-Peralta <mcarnate@hutchlegal.com>; Todd W. Prall <TPrall@hutchlegal.com>
Subject: RE: Tricarichi v. PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, et al.; Case No. A-16-735910-B

[EXTERNAL] ajohnson@hutchlegal.com

All,

In light of the Court’s recent concern regarding the apparent discrepancy between the Clerk’s version of the case caption
and what the parties have been using as the caption following the dismissal of the three (3) prior Defendants
(COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK, SEYFARTH SHAW, LLP, and GRAHAM R. TAYLOR), I reached out to the District Court Clerk
yesterday afternoon to seek resolution. I was informed that the discrepancy can be easily resolved with a joint Stip and
Order to Amend the Case Caption.

For the convenience of all, I have prepared (and attached) a proposed Stipulation and Order to Amend the Case Caption
for your review and approval. If you are agreeable to its form and content, please confirm that we can place your e-
signature on the document, and we will file with the Court.

As always, please reach out with any questions or concerns.

Thanks,
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Ariel

From: Maddy Carnate-Peralta <mcarnate@hutchlegal.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 6, 2022 10:17 AM
To: cordt@clarkcountycourts.us
Cc: Ariel C. Johnson <ajohnson@hutchlegal.com>; Scott F. Hessell <shessell@sperling-law.com>; Blake Sercye
<bsercye@sperling-law.com>; Byrne, Pat <pbyrne@swlaw.com>; Austin, Bradley <baustin@swlaw.com>;
mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com; chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com; kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com;
daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com
Subject: Tricarichi v. PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, et al.; Case No. A-16-735910-B

Good morning, Ms. Cordoba:

Please see attached correspondence from Ariel Johnson dated April 6, 2022. Thank you.

Ariel C. Johnson
Senior Counsel

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC
(702) 385-2500
hutchlegal.com

Notice of Confidentiality: The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to whom it is addressed and may
contain confidential and/or privileged material. Any review, retransmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking any action in
reliance upon, this information by anyone other than the intended recipient is not authorized.
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-16-735910-BMichael Tricarichi, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 31

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Stipulation and Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system 
to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 4/11/2022

Brad Austin . baustin@swlaw.com

Docket . DOCKET_LAS@swlaw.com

Gaylene Kim . gkim@swlaw.com

Jeanne Forrest . jforrest@swlaw.com

Lyndsey Luxford . lluxford@swlaw.com

Maddy Carnate-Peralta . maddy@hutchlegal.com

Patrick Byrne . pbyrne@swlaw.com

Scott F. Hessell . shessell@sperling-law.com

Thomas D. Brooks . tbrooks@sperling-law.com

Todd Prall . tprall@hutchlegal.com

Tom Brooks tdbrooks@sperling-law.com



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Blake Sercye bsercye@sperling-law.com

Katharine Roin kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com

Todd Prall tprall@hutchlegal.com

Christopher Landgraff chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com

Mark Levine mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com

Daniel Taylor daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com

Krista Perry krista.perry@bartlitbeck.com

Ariel Johnson ajohnson@hutchlegal.com

Bradley Green bgreen@swlaw.com
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(Pro Hac Vice) 
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Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

  
MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP, 
 

Defendant. 
 

CASE NO. A-16-735910-B 
DEPT. NO. XI 
 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF STIPULATION 
AND ORDER TO AMEND CASE CAPTION 

 

 

TO:  ALL INTERESTED PARTIES 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-16-735910-B

Electronically Filed
4/11/2022 2:22 PM
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CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Stipulation and Order to Amend Case Caption was 

entered in the above-entitled action on April 11, 2022, a copy of which is attached hereto. 

DATED this 11th day of April, 2022. 

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

 

      /s/ Ariel C. Johnson 

                                                

Mark A. Hutchison 

Ariel C. Johnson  

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV  89145 

 

Scott F. Hessell 

Thomas D. Brooks 
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(Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL  60603 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael A. Tricarichi 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC 

and that on this 11th day of April, 2022, I caused the above and foregoing documents entitled 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF STIPULATION AND ORDER TO AMEND CASE CAPTION to 

be served through the Court's mandatory electronic service system, per EDCR 8.02, upon the 

following: 

ALL PARTIES ON THE E-SERVICE LIST 

                  /s/ Madelyn B. Carnate-Peralta                                                                                   

      An employee of Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC 
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R. TAYLOR from this case (see Court’s Order Granting Motion to Dismiss the Complaint 

Against Seyfarth Shaw LLP, Doc ID#: 64; and Court’s Order Granting Motion to Dismiss the 

Complaint Against Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. and Utrecht-America Finance Co., Doc ID#: 

71), as affirmed by the Nevada Supreme Court (see Nevada Supreme Court Clerk’s Certificate / 

Remittitur Judgment – Affirmed, Doc ID#: 144), THE REMAINING PARTIES HEREBY 

STIPULATE AND AGREE to amend the caption in this matter to remove the names of the 

above-mentioned dismissed Defendants, as represented in the proposed amended caption, 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

 

DATED this            day of April, 2022. 

 

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

 

/s/ Ariel C. Johnson  

                                                             
Mark A. Hutchison (4639) 

Ariel C. Johnson (13357) 

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 

 

Scott F. Hessell 

Thomas D. Brooks 

Blake Sercye 

(Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL 60603 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 

DATED this            day of April, 2022. 

 

SNELL & WILMER, LLP 

 

/s/ Bradley Austin 

                                                              

Patrick Byrne (7636) 

Bradley Austin (13064) 

3883 Howard Hughes Pkwy., Suite 1100 

Las Vegas, NV 89169 

 

Mark L. Levine (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 

Christopher D. Landgraff (Admitted Pro 

Hac Vice) 

Katharine Roin (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 

54 West Hubbard Street, Suite 300 

Chicago, IL 60654 

 

Daniel C. Taylor (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 

1801 Wewatta Street, Suite 1200 

Denver, CO 80202 

 

Attorneys for Defendant 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8th 8th



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 

ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the caption be amended in this matter to remove the 

names of Defendants COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A. AND UTRECHT-AMERICA 

FINANCE CO., SEYFARTH SHAW, LLP, and GRAHAM R. TAYLOR, as they have been 

dismissed from the case.  

 

 

 

 
 

 
Submitted by: 

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

 

/s/ Ariel C. Johnson 

                                                             
Mark A. Hutchison (4639) 

Ariel C. Johnson (13357) 

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 

 

Scott F. Hessell 

Thomas D. Brooks 

Blake Sercye 

(Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL 60603 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 
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Maddy Carnate-Peralta

From: Austin, Bradley <baustin@swlaw.com>

Sent: Friday, April 8, 2022 2:58 PM

To: Ariel C. Johnson; Scott F. Hessell; Blake Sercye; Byrne, Pat; mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com;

chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com; kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com;

daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com

Cc: Maddy Carnate-Peralta; Todd W. Prall

Subject: RE: Tricarichi v. PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, et al.; Case No. A-16-735910-B

Hi Ariel,

Two minor changes: Can you please change “Defendants” to “Defendant” in the caption (on both the SAO and exhibit),
and add Katharine Roin in the place of Krista Perry in the signature block? With those changes, you may affix my e-
signature.

Thanks,

Brad

From: Ariel C. Johnson <ajohnson@hutchlegal.com>
Sent: Friday, April 8, 2022 1:47 PM
To: Scott F. Hessell <shessell@sperling-law.com>; Blake Sercye <bsercye@sperling-law.com>; Byrne, Pat
<pbyrne@swlaw.com>; Austin, Bradley <baustin@swlaw.com>; mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com;
chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com; kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com; daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com
Cc: Maddy Carnate-Peralta <mcarnate@hutchlegal.com>; Todd W. Prall <TPrall@hutchlegal.com>
Subject: RE: Tricarichi v. PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, et al.; Case No. A-16-735910-B

[EXTERNAL] ajohnson@hutchlegal.com

All,

In light of the Court’s recent concern regarding the apparent discrepancy between the Clerk’s version of the case caption
and what the parties have been using as the caption following the dismissal of the three (3) prior Defendants
(COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK, SEYFARTH SHAW, LLP, and GRAHAM R. TAYLOR), I reached out to the District Court Clerk
yesterday afternoon to seek resolution. I was informed that the discrepancy can be easily resolved with a joint Stip and
Order to Amend the Case Caption.

For the convenience of all, I have prepared (and attached) a proposed Stipulation and Order to Amend the Case Caption
for your review and approval. If you are agreeable to its form and content, please confirm that we can place your e-
signature on the document, and we will file with the Court.

As always, please reach out with any questions or concerns.

Thanks,
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Ariel

From: Maddy Carnate-Peralta <mcarnate@hutchlegal.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 6, 2022 10:17 AM
To: cordt@clarkcountycourts.us
Cc: Ariel C. Johnson <ajohnson@hutchlegal.com>; Scott F. Hessell <shessell@sperling-law.com>; Blake Sercye
<bsercye@sperling-law.com>; Byrne, Pat <pbyrne@swlaw.com>; Austin, Bradley <baustin@swlaw.com>;
mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com; chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com; kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com;
daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com
Subject: Tricarichi v. PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, et al.; Case No. A-16-735910-B

Good morning, Ms. Cordoba:

Please see attached correspondence from Ariel Johnson dated April 6, 2022. Thank you.

Ariel C. Johnson
Senior Counsel

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC
(702) 385-2500
hutchlegal.com

Notice of Confidentiality: The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to whom it is addressed and may
contain confidential and/or privileged material. Any review, retransmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking any action in
reliance upon, this information by anyone other than the intended recipient is not authorized.
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-16-735910-BMichael Tricarichi, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 31

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Stipulation and Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system 
to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 4/11/2022

Brad Austin . baustin@swlaw.com

Docket . DOCKET_LAS@swlaw.com

Gaylene Kim . gkim@swlaw.com

Jeanne Forrest . jforrest@swlaw.com

Lyndsey Luxford . lluxford@swlaw.com

Maddy Carnate-Peralta . maddy@hutchlegal.com

Patrick Byrne . pbyrne@swlaw.com

Scott F. Hessell . shessell@sperling-law.com

Thomas D. Brooks . tbrooks@sperling-law.com

Todd Prall . tprall@hutchlegal.com

Tom Brooks tdbrooks@sperling-law.com
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Blake Sercye bsercye@sperling-law.com

Katharine Roin kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com

Todd Prall tprall@hutchlegal.com

Christopher Landgraff chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com

Mark Levine mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com

Daniel Taylor daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com

Krista Perry krista.perry@bartlitbeck.com

Ariel Johnson ajohnson@hutchlegal.com

Bradley Green bgreen@swlaw.com
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NVDP 

Brenoch R. Wirthlin (10282) 

Ariel C. Johnson (13357) 

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV  89145 

Tel: (702) 385-2500 

Fax: (702) 385-2086 

Email: bwirthlin@hutchlegal.com 

 ajohnson@hutchlegal.com 

 

Randy J. Hart (9055)  

RANDY J. HART, LLC 

3601 South Green Road, Suite 200 

Beachwood, OH 44122 

Tel: 216-978-9150 

Fax: 216-373-4943 

Email: randyjhart@gmail.com 

 

Scott F. Hessell (Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL  60603 

Tel: (312) 641-3200 

Fax: (312) 641-6492 

Email: shessell@sperling-law.com  

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, and individual 

 

                      Plaintiff, 

v. 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

                                                          

                      Defendant.  

_____________________________________________ 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

)     

CASE NO.  A-16-735910-B 

DEPT NO.  XXXI  

 

 

 

NOTICE OF VOLUNTARY 

DISMISSAL OF DEFENDANT 

GRAHAM R. TAYLOR 

WITHOUT PREJUDICE 

 

 

 

 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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Pursuant to NRCP 41(a)(1), no Answer nor Motion for Summary Judgment having been 

served by Defendant Graham R. Taylor (“Defendant”), and the time for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi 

(“Plaintiff”) to serve Defendant having passed pursuant to NRCP 4(i), Plaintiff here voluntarily 

dismisses all claims against Defendant Graham R. Taylor in this case without prejudice.  

  

Dated:  August 1, 2023.          HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

 

      By: /s/ Ariel C. Johnson   

Brenoch R. Wirthlin (10282) 

Ariel C. Johnson (13357) 

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 

 

Randy J. Hart (9055) 

RANDY J. HART, LLC 

3601 South Green Road, Suite 200 

Beachwood, OH 44122 

 

Scott F. Hessell (Pro Hac Vice) 

SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 

55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 

Chicago, IL  60603 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Michael A. Tricarichi
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC and that 

on this 1st day of August, 2023, I caused the above and foregoing documents entitled NOTICE OF 

VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL OF DEFENDANT GRAHAM R. TAYLOR WITHOUT 

PREJUDICE to be served through the Court's mandatory electronic service system, per EDCR 8.02, 

upon the following:  

ALL PARTIES ON THE E-SERVICE LIST 

 

                   /s/ Kaylee Conradi    

      An employee of Hutchison & Steffen, LLC 
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JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

ORDR 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
 
 
MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, an individual 
 
                                    Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP, 
 
 
                                    Defendant.   

 
Case No.:     A-16-735910-C 
 
Dept. No.:     XXXI 

 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND 
DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT 
PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS 
LLP’S MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ 
FEES AND COSTS 
 
and 
 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND 
DENYING IN PART PLAINTIFF 
TRICARICHI’S MOTION TO RETAX 
AND SETTLE PWC’S AMENDED 
VERIFIED MEMORANDUM OF 
COSTS 

 

 
 
 

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

This matter came on for hearing on May 30, 2023, on Defendant 

Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees And Costs (DOC 

427) and Plaintiff Tricarichi’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended 

Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 414).  Present at the hearing was Scott F. 

Hessell, Esq., and Ariel Clark Johnson, Esq. for Plaintiff Tricarichi; and Bradley 

Austin, Esq., Patrick G. Byrne, Esq., and Chris Landgraff, Esq., for Defendant 

Pricewaterhouse Coopers (hereinafter PwC).  At the hearing, the parties agreed 

Electronically Filed
08/25/2023 4:26 PM
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to meet among themselves to determine if there could be agreement on 

outstanding fee and cost issues.  The parties also agreed to provide the written 

positions of the parties post-hearing to the Court.  The Court, having reviewed 

the papers and pleadings on file herein, having heard oral arguments of the 

parties, and then reviewed the additional information provided by the parties, 

makes the following ruling:  

The bench trial commenced on October 31, 2022, and the trial concluded 

on November 10, 2022.  At the trial, Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of Hutchison & 

Steffen PLLC appeared for Plaintiff, along with pro hac vice counsel Scott F. 

Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of Sperling & Slater, P.C.  Patrick G. 

Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq., of Snell & Wilmer LLP, and pro hac vice 

counsel Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq., and Katharine A. 

Roin, Esq., of Bartlit Beck, LLP, appeared for Defendant PwC. 

 The trial encompassed approximately nine trial days as well as additional 

motion hearing days.  During the course of the bench trial, four experts were 

called both in person and via video.  At the conclusion of the trial, the Court set 

forth its ruling in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.1  In sum, the Court 

found in favor of Defendant PwC and that “Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from 

his Complaint”2 as there was no evidence proving three elements of his claim and 

due to the single cause of action being barred by both Nevada and New York 

statute of limitations.3  After the ruling had been entered, and based on stipulations 

by the parties, Defendant filed its Memorandum of Costs and its Amended 

Memorandum of Costs as well as a Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs.  Plaintiff 

                                                           
1 February 9, 2023, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at ¶100. 
2 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law at P. 41, DOC 416, filed February 9, 2023; Notice of Entry 
of Order thereof, DOC 420, filed February 22, 2023. 
3 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at ¶¶ 115, 130, 132, 137, 148, 161. 
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filed his Motion to Retax and Oppositions to Defendant’s Motion.  The pleadings 

were timely filed. 
 
II. Defendant is Entitled in Part to Reasonable Attorney Fees 

Pursuant to Applicable Law  Based on its Second Offer of 
Judgment  

“Ultimately, the decision to award attorney fees rests within the district 

court's discretion, and we review such decisions for an abuse of discretion.” 

O’Connell v. Wynn, 134 Nev. 550, 554, 429 P.3d 664, 668 (2018); Frazier v. Drake, 

131 Nev. 632, 641-42; 357 P.3d 365, 372 (2015).  Further, as reiterated by the 

Nevada Appellate Court in O’Connell v. Wynn, 134 Nev. 550, 429 P.3d 664 

(2018), “[a] party may seek attorney fees when allowed by an agreement, rule, or 

statute.  See NRS 18.010 (governing awards of attorney fees); RTTC Commc'ns, 

LLC v. The Saratoga Flier, Inc., 121 Nev. 34, 40, 110 P.3d 24, 28 (2005) (noting 

that “a court may not award attorney fees absent authority under a specific rule 

or statute”).”  Here, Defendant seeks fees, pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil 

Procedure 54(d), which provides “[a] claim for attorney fees must be made by 

motion.  The court may decide a post judgment motion for attorney fees despite the 

existence of a pending appeal from the underlying final judgment.”  Defendant also 

seeks fees pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 68(f) which directs that:  

 
“If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more 
favorable judgment: … (B) the offeree must pay the offeror’s 
post-offer costs and expenses, including a reasonable sum to 
cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for each expert 
witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare 
for and conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the 
judgment from the time of the offer to the time of entry of the 
judgment and reasonable attorney fees, if any be allowed, 
actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer. If the 
offeror’s attorney is collecting a contingent fee, the amount of 
any attorney fees awarded to the party for whom the offer is 
made must be deducted from that contingent fee.  
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Defendant made Plaintiff an Offer of Judgment on September 25, 2019, and 

then made a second Offer of Judgment October 6, 2021.4 The parties agree that 

the 2019 update to the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure apply to both Offers of 

Judgment.  Neither Offer was accepted by Plaintiff, and the case proceeded to trial 

in October and November 2022.  Following the conclusion of the bench trial, the 

Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on February 9, 2023, 

entering Judgment in favor of Defendant PwC.5  The Order continued that “any 

request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion.”6  As 

noted, the Court finds that Defendant has met the timeliness standards to seek 

reasonable fees pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 54(d) and 68(f).  

As the fee request was timely, the Court next considers whether Defendant 

has met the factors necessary pursuant to NRCP 68 and applicable case law 

including Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 688 P.2d 268, 274 (1983) with 

respect to each of its Offers of Judgment.  Pursuant to Beattie and its progeny, the 

Court considers the following factors to determine whether attorneys’ fees are 

appropriate: 
(1) whether the plaintiff’s claim was brought in good faith; (2) 
whether the defendant’s offer of judgment was reasonable and 
in good faith in both its timing and amount; (3) whether the 
plaintiff’s decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was 
grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees 
sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount. 
 

Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 688 P.2d 268, 274 (1983).  

 

 

                                                           
4 Both Offers of Judgment are provided as Exhibits 1 and 2 in the Appendix of Exhibits to the 
Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs filed March 15, 2023, with electronic service stamps 
reflecting the dates of service (DOC 428).  Each Offer of Judgment was for $50,000.00. 
55 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at ¶¶ 115, 130, 132, 137, 148, 161. 
6 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at 41:6-7. 
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A. The Court Finds That Fees Are Not Appropriate Under The 
2019 Offer of Judgment  

 
As there were two Offers of Judgment, the Court addresses each of them in 

turn.  With respect to the 2019 Offer, the Court has to consider what was known 

about the claims and defenses at the time the offer was made as well as other 

Beattie factors.   

1. The Court Finds That the First Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Plaintiff. 

First, when considering whether Plaintiff’s claim was brought in good faith, 

the Court sees that at the time of the 2019 offer, while Plaintiff had lost on 

Summary Judgment on the statute of limitations on the 2003 claim, the 2008 claim 

was still in the early stages of the litigation from a timing standpoint as it had been 

newly added to the Complaint.7  This factor weighed in favor of it being pursued in 

good faith by Plaintiff.  

2. The Court Finds That the Second Beattie Factor 
Weighs in Favor of Defendant. 

 
When analyzing the second factor, the Court looks to whether Defendant’s 

2019 Offer of Judgment was reasonable and in good faith, both in its timing and 

amount.  As to timing, the Court considers that the Offer was made following the 

Summary Judgment ruling on the 2003 claim.8 The 2008 claim was just beginning 

in the case.9  At that time, the limitation of liability issue had not been resolved 

either.10  Accordingly, at the time the Offer was made, given the status of the case 

and what was known by Defendant, the timing component was reasonable.  

                                                           
7 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:6-16. 
8 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:20-23. 
9 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:23-24. 
10 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:23-57:2. 
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As to the amount offered of $50,000.00, the Court also sees that amount as 

reasonable and in good faith because $50,000.00 was consistent with the limitation 

of liability which was an issue that had not yet been resolved.11 Thus, the second 

factor would weigh in favor of Defendant’s offer being both reasonable and in good 

faith.  

3. The Court Finds That the Third Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Plaintiff. 

 
Next, the Court considers whether Plaintiff’s decision to reject the Offer and 

proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith.  Regardless of whether 

the Court looks at what issues actually went to trial, or could have gone to trial from 

a September 2019 lens before the statute of limitation issue was decided, or from 

the lens of considering Summary Judgment had been granted on the 2003 claim, 

and what the risk then was of the 2008 claim, the Court finds the factor weighs in 

favor of Plaintiff.12 At this juncture, there were appeal and writ opportunities 

available; the 2008 claim was still in its infancy in this case.13 The decision to reject 

the Offer at that time was not grossly unreasonable or in bad faith as there were still 

other avenues. 

4. The Court Need Not Reach the Fourth Beattie Factor.  

Lastly, the Court would consider whether the fees sought by the Offeror are 

reasonable and justified in amount.  Here, though, the Court finds it does not need 

to address whether the fees sought were reasonable and justified as two of the 

                                                           
11 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:20-57:2. 
12 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 57:3-58:25. 
13 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 57:3-58:25. 
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three preceding Beattie factors weighed in favor of Plaintiff.  In sum, the Court finds 

that fees would not be appropriate under the 2019 Offer of Judgment.14 

B. The Court Finds That Fees Are Appropriate Under the 2021 
Offer of Judgment  
  

The Court next considers the 2021 Offer of Judgment which was also for 

$50,000.00 exclusive of fees, interest, and costs to determine if that Offer  meets 

the requisite criteria to impose fees against Plaintiff.  

1. The Court Finds That the First Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Defendant. 

 
The Court first considers whether the Plaintiff’s claim was brought in good 

faith.  The Court finds that at the time of the 2021 Offer, there was an existing ruling 

from the Nevada Supreme Court and the prior the Summary Judgment ruling on 

the 2003 claim.  Further, the parties had the intervening time to flush out the issues 

that eventually went to trial.  Thus, given the posture of the remaining claim, the 

Court finds that the first factor weighs in favor of Defendant.15  

2. The Court Finds That the Second Beattie Factor 
Weighs in Favor of Defendant. 

 
The Court next looks to whether the 2021 Offer was reasonable and in good 

faith in both its timing and amount.  As to amount, the Court considers that there 

was the issue of the same limitation of liability as with the 2019 Offer; and thus, the 

$50,000.00 would still be appropriate in light of the matters still at issue.16 The 

Court also evaluated the nature of the claims including that it was uncontested in 

the case that there was no work done by PwC in the intervening five years between 

                                                           
14 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 59:1-6. 
15 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:3-8. 
16 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:9-17. 
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Plaintiff’s 2003 and 2008 issues.  The Court also had to look at the fact that Plaintiff 

was premising his liability claim on potential duties he asserted PWC owed him 

retrospectively without there being any duty triggered from actual work performed.17 

The 2021 Offer also followed the Nevada Supreme Court’s ruling in Defendant’s 

favor pertaining to that limitation of liability, along with the prior Summary Judgment 

on the 2003 claim.  In light of the procedural posture and facts, the Court finds that 

the timing of the 2021 Offer of Judgment was in good faith.18 The second factor, 

thus, weighs in favor of Defendant.  

3. The Court Finds That the Third Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Defendant. 

 
Then the Court must consider whether the Plaintiff’s decision to reject the 

Offer and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith.  Here, the Court 

does find that the rejection of the 2021 Offer was grossly unreasonable.  At the time 

of the 2021 Offer, there was the benefit of knowledge of all of the proceedings in 

the tax court and other courts up to that point and Plaintiff also had the benefit of 

the opinions of top tax experts in the field.19 The Court must also consider if Plaintiff 

had a reasonable expectation based on the evidence known, whether he would 

meet his burden would at trial.  At the time of the 2021 Offer, Plaintiff was aware of 

at least three hurdles.  First, there was a statute of limitations issue.  Second, even 

if duty, breach, causation, and damages were proven, then Plaintiff would still need 

to prove a type of retrospective fraud.  Third, per the agreement, Plaintiff would also 

                                                           
17 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:23-61:5. 
18 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:9-61:6. 
19 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 61:7-61:18. 
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need to meet the burden of establishing gross negligence.20 Plaintiff also was 

pursuing an action premised on the finding of a failure to act retrospectively, with no 

supporting case law.21 For those reasons the Court finds that the third Beattie factor 

was not met as to reasonableness of proceeding to trial and the factor then weighs 

in favor of Defendant.  

The remaining question is whether the fees sought were reasonable and 

justified. 

4. The Fees Sought by the Offeror are reasonable and 
justified in amount, as reduced by the Court.  

 
  In In light of Defendant meeting its burden on the first three factors, the next 

step the Court must then determine if “whether the fees sought by the offeror are 

reasonable and justified in amount.” Beattie, 99 Nev. at 588-89, 688 P.2d at 274 

(1983).  

 In so doing, the Court engages in a multi- step process.  First, the Court 

must determine what method should be used to calculate the fees amount given 

the multiple methods used by Defendant’s various counsel.  Second, the Court 

must analyze the amount requested utilizing the appropriate method to determine 

what is the reasonable and necessary amount that Defendant should be awarded 

and ensure that the amount was actually incurred in accordance with applicable 

law.    

 

 

                                                           
20 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 61:19-63:13. 
21 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 63:3-63:13. 
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a. The Court Finds a Lodestar Calculation to be 
the Proper Method of Fee Calculation in This 
Case    

The Court may use any method to calculate a reasonable amount of fees, 

including a lodestar amount based on the hourly rates charged by each counsel 

or contingency fee pursuant to Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holdings Corp., 121 

Nev. 837, 864 (2005).  Defendant’s counsels’ law firms utilize two different 

methods for calculating their fees: Bartlit Beck utilized a flat fee, and Snell & 

Wilmer utilized an hours billed/lodestar calculation.  As set forth in the Motion, 

Bartlit Beck billed on a monthly flat-fee basis, and did a separate daily flat fee for 

hearings and their preparation.22 The Motion noted that “[s]hould this Court 

determine that the total fee amount is unreasonable, it may calculate a 

reasonable fee based on any other method, including the lodestar method, which 

would account for the ‘hours reasonably spent on the case’ multiplied ‘by a 

reasonable hourly rate.’”23 The Court does not find that the method of using a flat 

fee is comparable to a contingency fee with zero risk factor.  Instead, the first 

method proposed by Bartlitt Beck tries to cap fees which may be desirable 

between an attorney and its client, but such a method does not consider what 

would be reasonable under Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 

455 P.2d 31 (1969).24  Instead, the Court finds that a lodestar approach taking 

into account billing records to be a more appropriate method in considering what 

work was really reasonable and necessary from the 2021 Offer of Judgment 

onward.25 As set forth above, the Court deferred on ruling on the fee amount to 

                                                           
22 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs DOC 427 18:4-8; 
Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 filed 
under seal). 
23 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs DOC 427 18:9-11 (citing 
to Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holding Corp., 121 Nev. 837, 864 n.98, 124 P.3d 530, 549 n. 98 
(2005). 
24 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 65:14-66:1. 
25 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 66:9-22. 
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allow the parties time until late July 2023 to either come to an agreement as to an 

appropriate fee amount or to propose alternate fee amounts that the Court could 

consider.  
b. The  Reasonable Hourly Rate and Reasonable 

Number of Hours for the Work Performed 

 The second step of the analysis is for the Court to determine what the 

reasonable hourly rate is for each of the counsel and legal team.  The Court then 

determines what are the reasonable number of hours for each of the individuals 

for whom fees are sought.  

 Defendant in their Motion for Attorney’s Fees seeks $662,029.40 post-

Offer fees for the work of Snell & Wilmer, and $9,171,309.00 post-Offer fees for 

the work of Bartlit Beck.  Although the Court provided the parties an opportunity 

to try and seek an agreement on the fee amount, the parties were unable to 

agree.  Instead, each party submitted its own proposed fee amount that is sought 

the Court to award.  

Plaintiff initially proposed that Defendant was entitled to $370,448.50 in 

fees for work by Snell & Wilmer only, and no fees for Bartlit Beck due to lack of 

information as to the tasks billed and no detail as to time spent on any given task. 

Within that proposal, the number of hours billed by Snell & Wilmer of 975.0 was 

agreed to, but different rates were proposed.  In a subsequent letter, Plaintiff then 

proposed that the Court should award $555,000.00 in fees for Bartlit Beck, the 

number was based on a rounded-up calculation of a 1.5 times multiplier of the 

975.0 hours incurred by Snell & Wilmer at Plaintiff’s proposed hourly average 

rate of $375.00 per hour.  

 Defendant proposed a total of $2,284,357.48 in fees, broken down with 

$1,857,338.68 sought for Bartlit Beck, using a lodestar calculation at the same 

rates used for local counsel Snell & Wilmer, and then sought $427,018.80 for 
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Snell & Wilmer.  The Court must consider the factors articulated in Brunzell v. 

Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969) to assess 

what a reasonable hourly rate and reasonable number of hours are for the work 

performed in this case.  

When determining a fee amount under Beattie, the Court also needs to look 

to Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 

(1969) which sets forth factors the Court can consider to ascertain a reasonable 

fee amont.  Pursuant to Brunzell and its progeny, the Court inter alia, considers (1) 

the qualities of the advocate: his ability, his training, education, experience, 

professional standing and skill; (2) the character of the work to be done: its 

difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time and skill required, the responsibility 

imposed and the prominence and character of the parties when they affect the 

importance of the litigation; (3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: 

the skill,  time and attention given to the work; (4) the result: whether the 

attorney was successful and what benefits were derived.  Brunzell v. Golden Gate 

National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969) (emphasis in original, 

internal quotation omitted). 

 
i. A Reduced Fee Award for Snell & Wilmer is 

Appropriate Under Brunzell   
 

a. The Qualities of the Advocate: their 
ability, their training, education, 
experience, professional standing and 
skill. 

Defendant set forth the qualities of the advocates, supported by 

declarations of Counsel.  The qualifications of each of the defense counsel were 

not disputed.  Counsel for Snell & Wilmer included Patrick G. Byrne, Esq.; 

Bradley T. Austin, Esq.; Kelly H. Dove, Esq.; Erin Gettel, Esq.; Gil Kahn, Esq.; 
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Christian P. Ogata, Esq.; and Skylar N. Arakawa-Pamphilon, Esq.  Work was 

also performed by Dawn Davis, Esq.; V.R. Bohman, Esq.; and Michael Paretti, 

Esq.; however, Defendant did not seek fees of those attorneys.26 

Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. graduated from law school in 1988, is a partner in 

the Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation group, has extensive litigation 

experience, and billed at $515.00, $617.50, $637.00, $662.00, and $695.00.27 

Bradley T. Austin, Esq. graduated from law school in 2013, is a partner in Snell & 

Wilmer’s commercial litigation group, experienced in complex business, civil, and 

commercial disputes, and billed at $280.00, $380.00, $410.00, $426.00, and 

$447.00 per hour.28 Kelly H. Dove, Esq. graduated from law school in 2007, is a 

partner in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation group, is experienced in litigation 

and appellate work, and billed at $635.00 and $660.00 per hour.29 Erin Gettel, 

Esq. graduated law school in 2015 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s 

commercial litigation group and billed at $385.00 per hour.30 Gil Kahn, Esq. 

graduated law school in 2016 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial 

litigation group who bills at $320.00 per hour; however, despite providing a 

Brunzell analysis for Mr. Kahn, there were no billing entries attributed to him in 

the provided invoices.31 Christian P. Ogata, Esq. graduated from law school in 

2020 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation group and 

                                                           
26 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:18-22. 
27 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 014:11-21. 
28 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 014:22-015:3. 
29 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 015:04-15. 
30 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 015:16-22. 
31 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 015:23-016:2. 
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billed at $345.00 per hour.32 Skylar N. Arakawa-Pamphilon, Esq. graduated from 

law school in 2021 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation 

group and billed at $323.00 per hour.33 Snell & Wilmer also utilized paralegals 

that all possessed bachelor’s degrees and paralegal certification.34 The Court 

finds that Defendant’s counsel at Snell & Wilmer are experienced and qualified 

and that the rates are generally customary for this type of specific work for most 

of the tasks performed. 

b. The Character of the Work Performed 

Plaintiff, in its Opposition to PwC’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs 

(DOC 444), challenged the character of the work and work actually performed 

due to generic descriptions contained in the billing.  The Court reviewed the 

record as to what work was completed after October 6, 2021, the work’s intricacy 

and importance, and time and skill required.  The matter involved complex 

analysis of professional tax services, tax liability and damages.  Overall, Defense 

counsel was effective as demonstrated by the results.  The issue is whether 

some of the work which based on the more general time entries was not as 

complex could have been done by a person at a lower rate. 
 

c. An Award of Attorney’s Fees is 
Reasonable Based on the Work Actually 
Performed 

As noted above, Plaintiff, in its Opposition to PwC’s Motion for Attorneys’ 

Fees and Costs (DOC 444) challenged the work actually performed. The parties 

came to an agreement as to the total number of hours billed overall by Snell & 

                                                           
32 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:3-10. 
33 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:11-17. 
34 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:23-26. 
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Wilmer of 975.00 in the correspondence submitted to the Court July 11, 2023.  

The number agreed upon was comprised of 104.20 hours billed by Patrick G. 

Byrne, Esq.; 717.90 hours billed by Bradley T. Austin, Esq.; 3.40 hours billed by 

Kelly H. Dove, Esq.; 9.40 hours billed by Erin Gettel, Esq.; 56.40 hours billed by 

Christian P. Ogata, Esq.; 5.30 hours billed by Skylar N. Arakawa-Pamphilon, 

Esq.; 0.50 hours billed by Dawn Davis, Esq.; 53.60 hours billed by Kathy 

Casford; 1.10 hours billed by Sev Redd; and 23.20 hours billed by Deborah 

Shuta.  Due to the nature of the case and character of the work done, with the 

agreed-upon number of hours, the Court finds that the rates sought are 

customary and reasonable in light of this particular case but that some of the 

work that was not as complex based on the general time entries could have been 

done by a person with a lower billing rate.  Thus, the Court finds it appropriate to 

grant fees for the work performed by Snell & Wilmer in the amount of 

$407,018.80. 

d. The Outcome Obtained for Defendant 

It is undisputed that Defendant prevailed.  In light of the foregoing 

analysis, the Court finds that the Brunzell factors are met.  The parties agreed as 

to the number of hours sought of 975.00.  The Court further finds that most of the 

rates are customary with prevailing rates of other attorneys in Nevada with 

similar qualifications but the Court had to reduce the total award due to the 

general time entries which did not demonstrate that the work could have been 

performed by someone at a lower rate.  Based on all of the factors and discretion 

of the Court, considering the nature of the work performed, the Court finds that 

the $407,018.80 of fees sought for Snell & Wilmer is reasonable and appropriate. 

 

 

 



 

16 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

ii. The Fee Award for Bartlit Beck Must Be 
Evaluated Under a Lodestar Analysis and 
Appropriately Reduced  

As set forth above, $9,171,309.00 post-Offer fees were initially sought for 

the work of Bartlit Beck.  A supplemental declaration and monthly descriptions 

summarizing the work performed were provided as exhibits in support of the 

correspondence submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023.  The Supplemental 

Declaration of Mr. Levine set forth that internal data reflected 4,200 hours during 

the relevant time frame and an average blended rate of $700.00 per hour.  This 

rate was reached by counsel utilizing the local Nevada rates of Snell & Wilmer.  

In its proposal, counsel provided a lodestar calculation adopting the effective 

hourly rates of local counsel, noting that the proposed rate was based on the 

average weighted rates actually billed by Snell & Wilmer given that Snell & 

Wilmer counsel had rate increases during the relevant time frame resulting in a 

range of rates being used for some counsel.  The average rates proposed were 

as follows: $664.76 for Mark Levine, Esq. and Christopher Landgraff; $429.95 for 

Katharine Roin, Esq. and Daniel Taylor, Esq.; $377.34 for Alexandra Genord, 

Esq.; and $251.00 for both Lori Barnicke and Kim Solorzano.  The updated 

lodestar amount provided based on the foregoing was $1,857,338.68.  
 

a. The Qualities of the Advocate: their 
ability, their training, education, 
experience, professional standing and 
skill. 

As noted above, the qualifications of Counsel was not contested.  Counsel 

for Bartlit Beck included Mark Levine, Esq.; Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq.; 

Katharine A. Roin, Esq.; Daniel C. Taylor, Esq.; Sundeep K. (Rob) Addy, Esq.; 

Alexandra Genord, Esq.; and Krista Perry, Esq.  Mark Levine, Esq. graduated 

from law school in 1989, is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Chicago office, and is an 
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experienced litigator and well qualified.35 Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq. 

graduated from law school in 1994, is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Chicago office, and 

has a wealth of litigation experience.36 Katharine A. Roin, Esq. graduated from 

law school in 2010, is a partner in Bartlit Beck’s Chicago office, and has 

experience as co-lead counsel in litigation.37 Daniel C. Taylor, Esq. also 

graduated from law school in 2010, and is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Denver office, 

with experience on multiple trial teams.38 Sundeep K. (Rob) Addy, Esq. 

graduated law school in 2004, and is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Denver office, and 

has experience in multiple multi-million and billion-dollar cases.39 Alexandra 

Genord, Esq. graduated from law school in 2020 and is an associate in Bartlit 

Beck’s Chicago office.40 Krista Perry, Esq. graduated from law school in 2016 

and was formerly an associate with Bartlit Beck.41 Bartlit Beck also utilized 

paraprofessional and support staff whose qualifications were not detailed. 

The Court notes that fees were originally requested for Mr. Addy, and 

pursuant to the correspondence submitted to the Court July 11, 2023, as part of 

the efforts of the parties to reach an agreeable fee amount, Defendant agreed to 

remove all fees incurred by Mr. Addy (who initially sought $388,884.60).  In an 

effort to provide an appropriate lodestar calculation, Defendant also proposed 

utilizing the same rates as Snell & Wilmer to be consistent with the local market. 

                                                           
35 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 136:6-13). 
36 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 136:14-19). 
37 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 136:20-7:2). 
38 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:3-9). 
39 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:10-16). 
40 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:17-21). 
41 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:22-25). 
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The rates proposed by Defendant, as set forth above, were as follows: $664.76 

per hour for Mark Levine, Esq., and Christopher Landgraff, Esq.; $429.95 per 

hour for Katharine Roin, Esq., and Daniel Taylor, Esq.; $377.34 per hour for 

Alexandra Genord, Esq.; and $251.00 per hour for Lori Barnicke and Kim 

Solorzano.  No Brunzell analysis was provided for Barnicke or Solorzano.  Based 

on review of the record, the Court cannot guess as to their qualifications or the 

basis of how fees were sought for their work. The proposal did not include a rate 

for Krista Perry, Esq.  As articulated above, and in the declarations supporting 

the Motion, the Court finds Defendant’s counsel has met the first Brunzell factor 

other than as specifically stated.  

b. The Character of the Work Performed 

The Court reviewed the record as to what work was completed after 

October 6, 2021, the work’s intricacy and importance, and time and skill required. 

The matter involved complex analysis of professional tax services, tax liability 

and damages.  The Court also had to look at what work was done by Snell & 

Wilmer firm and what work was done by Bartlit Beck.  Defense counsel was 

effective as demonstrated by the results as discussed infra. 
 

c. An Award of Reduced Attorney’s Fees is 
Reasonable Based on the Work Actually 
Performed 

As noted above, Plaintiff, in its Opposition to PwC’s Motion for Attorneys’ 

Fees and Costs, challenged the work actually performed (DOC 444).  Plaintiff 

maintained that due to the flat fee billing, lack of hourly time records, and no 

tasks identified with the amount of time dedicated to the task provided, no fees 

should be awarded beyond the amount proposed for Snell & Wilmer fees.  The 

initial records provided did not contain hourly descriptions of the work performed 

due to the billing structure of the firm.  A supplemental declaration and monthly 
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descriptions summarizing the work performed were provided as exhibits in 

support of the correspondence submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023.  The 

Supplemental Declaration of Mr. Levine set forth that internal data reflected 

4,200 hours during the relevant time frame and an average blended rate of 

$700.00 per hour.  Additionally, a description was provided for tasks done that 

month.  December 2021 included preparing status reports, reviewing the 

mandamus decision, preparing for and attending hearings, drafting briefs, and 

preparing for argument at an upcoming hearing.  January 2022 included working 

on briefs and preparing for and attending an Evidentiary Hearing.  February 2022 

included preparing for Evidentiary Hearing and associated briefing and attending 

the hearing.  March 2022 included drafting briefs, preparing witnesses, and 

attending an Evidentiary Hearing.  April 2022 included drafting proposed Orders, 

mandamus hearings, preparing Motions and preparing for hearings, as well as 

communications with various parties.  May 2022 included work on the Reply in 

support of Summary Judgment.  June 2022 included preparation and attendance 

at the summary judgment hearing and planning for pretrial work.  July 2022 

included preparing exhibits, deposition designations, trial preparations, and 

drafting pretrial memorandum.  August 2022 similarly included trial preparation 

including witness, exhibit, deposition preparation, preparing objections, trial 

briefs, and other drafts.  September 2022 included witness meetings and 

preparation, and further work on pretrial documents.  October 2022 included 

preparation for trial and attendance at pretrial matters.  November 2022 included 

the trial fees at $50,000.00 per day for 10 days.  December 2022 included 

preparing Orders from trial and drafting proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law. A breakdown was also given by each counsel for hours 

billed in each month.  
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The Court evaluates the hours billed by the three trial counsel in October 

and November 2022 when the trial occurred.  Mark Levine, Esq. billed 145 hours; 

Chris Landgraff, Esq. billed 161.90; and Katharine Roin, Esq. billed 184.00.  The 

Court is fully appreciative that counsel is highly qualified and this was a complex 

matter, but the Court also considers whether all three counsel were required for 

all tasks at trial.  Considering all of these factors, the Court finds it appropriate to 

reduce the hours for Landgraff to 121.90, for Levine to 130.00, and for Roin to 

142.00.  The Court also considers that Alexandra Genord, Esq. billed 180.48 

hours in October 2022 and 182.37 hours in November 2022.  In light of the hours 

spent by the trial counsel, the Court does not see a basis for the total amount 

sought in that time period given that Ms. Genord is an associate, and appears to 

have come into the case only in October 2022, and in those two months billed 

over 362 hours.  The Court finds it appropriate to reduce the hours to for that 

time period.  The Court also considers that there is a lack of support for work 

performed by Lori Barnicke and Kim Solorzano and there was no detail as to 

their qualifications or anything for the Court to analyze based on the pleadings. 

The Court finds that there is insufficient support in the application to justify the 

176.25 hours sought by Lori Barnicke and 158.50 hours sought by Kim 

Solorzano for November 22, 2022.  Thus, the Court finds it appropriate to reduce 

the hours to zero as Brunzell and Beattie require the Court to evaluate each 

individual for whom fees are sought and the Court cannot do so based on the 

lack of information provided.   

d. The Outcome Obtained for Defendant 

It is undisputed that Defendant prevailed.  The Court, thus, finds that it is 

appropriate to award fees to Bartlit Beck; however, the overall fees do need to be 

reduced both in amount and in hours and $1,695,735.59 is appropriate. 
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In sum, based on the foregoing, the Court awards fees in the amount of 

$407,018.80 for Snell & Wilmer and $1,695,735.59 for Bartlit Beck. 
 
III. Defendant’s Request for Costs and Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax And 

Costs.  

The February 9, 2023, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth 

that that “any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed 

Motion.”42 On February 14, 2023, Defendant PwC timely filed a Verified 

Memorandum of Costs (DOC 417), and Appendix thereto (DOC 418).  Then on 

February 15, 2023, the parties then filed a Stipulation and Order to Extend Time 

to File Memorandum of Costs and Motion to Retax (DOC 419).  Thereafter, on 

February 24, 2023, Defendant filed an Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs 

(DOC 422) and Appendix thereto (DOC 423), seeking a total of $921,833.58 in 

costs.  Plaintiff then filed Tricarichi’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended 

Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 424).  Defendant filed an Opposition to 

Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs (DOC 440) on March 31, 2023.  Pursuant to 

NRS 18.020(3), costs must be awarded to the prevailing party against any 

adverse party in an action where Plaintiff sought to recover more than $2,500.00. 

In this action, Plaintiff was seeking far in excess of that amount.  Following 

conclusion of the bench trial, Judgment was entered in favor of Defendant and 

Plaintiff was awarded nothing from his Complaint.43 Thus, an award of costs is 

appropriate here. 

Additionally, as set forth at the May 30, 2023, hearing, costs sought under 

NRS 18 pre-date the 2021 Offer of Judgment; and thus, the statute is the basis of 

the award of costs.  As the Court has found that the elements of NRCP 68 were 

                                                           
42 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law at P. 41, DOC 416 filed February 9, 2023, Notice of Entry 
of Order thereof DOC 420 filed February 22, 2023. 
43 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law at P. 41, DOC 416 filed February 9, 2023, Notice of Entry 
of Order thereof DOC 420 filed February 22, 2023. 
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met based on the 2021 Offer of Judgment, NRCP 68 provides an independent 

basis for costs incurred after the 2021 Offer of Judgment.  Although both the NRS 

and the NRCP provide independent basis for costs post the 2021 Offer, as those 

amounts are not cumulative, the Court analyzes the total costs that are to be 

awarded utilizing the statutory framework. 44 
 

A. Defendant Was the Prevailing Party Pursuant to NRS 18 et seq.  
 

1. Based on the Documentation and 
Applicable Authority, Defendant’s Cost 
Request is Reduced. 

 
NRS 18.005 allows recovery of the following amounts: 

(1)      Clerks’ fees. 
(2)      Reporters’ fees for depositions, including a reporter’s    

fee for one copy of each deposition. 
(3)      Jurors’ fees and expenses, together with reasonable 

compensation of an officer appointed to act in 
accordance with NRS 16.120. 

(4)      Fees for witnesses at trial, pretrial hearings and 
deposing witnesses, unless the court finds that the 
witness was called at the instance of the prevailing 
party without reason or necessity. 

(5)      Reasonable fees of not more than five expert 
witnesses in an amount of not more than $1,500 for 
each witness, unless the court allows a larger fee 
after determining that the circumstances surrounding 
the expert’s testimony were of such necessity as to 
require the larger fee. 

(6)      Reasonable fees of necessary interpreters 
(7)      The fee of any sheriff or licensed process server for 

the delivery or service of any summons or subpoena 
used in the action, unless the court determines that 
the service was not necessary. 

(8)      Compensation for the official reporter or reporter pro 
tempore. 

(9)      Reasonable costs for any bond or undertaking 
required as part of the action. 

                                                           
44 May 30, 2023 Transcript DOC 448 at 73:15-18. 
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(10) Fees of a court baliff or deputy marshal who was     
required to work overtime. 

(11) Reasonable costs for telecopies. 
(12) Reasonable costs for photocopies. 
(13) Reasonable costs for long distance telephone   calls. 
(14) Reasonable costs for postage. 
(15) Reasonable costs for travel and lodging incurred 

taking depositions and conducting discovery. 
(16) Fees charged pursuant to NRS 19.0335. 
(17) Any other reasonable and necessary expense 

incurred in connection with the action, including 
reasonable and necessary expenses for 
computerized services for legal research.  

 

Applicable case law provides that any award of costs must be 

“reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred, and supported by justifying 

documentation submitted to the Court.  In re Dish Network, 133 Nev. 438, 452, 

401 P.3d 1081, 1093 (2017); Cadle v. Woods & Erickson, LLP, 131 Nev. 114, 

120-121, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015);  Bobby Berosini, Ltd. v. PETA, 114 Nev. 

1348, 1352-53, 971 P.2d 383, 386 (1998); Fairway Chevrolet Company v. 

Kelley,484 P.3d 276 (Nev. 2021) (unpublished). As set forth in Cadle, sufficient 

documentation requires more than an itemized memorandum, there must be 

evidence presented to substantiate the cost requested. 131 Nev. at 120-121, 345 

P.3d at 1054-1055 (2015).  The Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 

422) sought the following costs: 
a. Reporters’ Fees for Depositions, 

Hearings, and Trial 

Reporters’ fees requested are broken down by the amount sought by each 

firm representing Defendant and by the type of reporter fees.  Defendant seeks 

$73,354.31 for reporters’ fees for depositions incurred by the Bartlit Beck firm 

under NRS 18.005(2).  The amount included $59,221.51 for deposition 

transcripts and $15,554.11 for daily transcript fees for the Trial.  The Court 

considers North Las Vegas Infrastructure Investment and Construction, LLC v. 
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City of North Las Vegas, 139 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 525 P.3d 836 (2023).  There, 

costs for videotaped depositions were denied because the depositions were not 

used at trial and there was no explanation of why the videos were necessary. 

The Court notes that here, Plaintiff challenges, within the reporters’ costs for the 

depositions, optional reporting services such as RealTime, rush fees, and 

videotaping. 

 Invoices for deposition transcripts were provided for services dated 

August 3, 2020, for $750.00, $443.50, and $1,382.15 including a $175.00 

Realtime Setup Fee and $239.80 Realtime Over Internet Fee; August 4, 2020, 

for $2,481.20 including a $695.20 Realtime Over Internet fee, and $665.00 

including a $190.00 rush fee; August 11, 2020, for $1,100.00, $641.50, and 

$2,280.85 including a $175 Realtime Setup Fee and $385.00 Realtime Over 

Internet Fee; August 18, 2020, for $542.50, $925.00, and $1,478.75 including a 

$175.00 Realtime Setup Fee and a $204.60 Realtime Over Internet Fee,; August 

19, 2020, for $542.50, $925.00, and $1,878.10 including a $175.00 Realtime 

Setup Fee and $325.60 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 1, 2020, for 

$805.00, $1,317.40, and $1,176.75; September 16, 2020, for $1,450.00, 

$839.50, and $4,064.20 which included a $175.00 Realtime Setup Fee and a 

$576.40 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 17, 2020, for $685.00 for 

videography services for the deposition of Mark Boyer, and $2,683.90 which also 

included a $424.60 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 18, 2020, for $635.00, 

and $2,023.50 which included a $367.40 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 

22, 2020, for $610.00 and $2,233.50 which included a $446.60 Realtime Over 

Internet fee; September 25, 2020, for $790.00, $1,362.50, and $3,555.90 which 

included a $175.00 Realtime Setup Fee and $565.40 Realtime Over Internet fee; 

September 29, 2020, for $490.00 and $1,638.90 which included a $301.40 

Realtime Over Internet Fee; September 30, 2020, for $2,750.30 which included a 
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$550.00 Realtime Over Internet fee; October 1, 2020, for $988.00, $1,712.50 for 

videography services for the deposition of Michael Tricarichi, for $3,665.90, 

$780.00 for videography services for the deposition of Kenneth Harris, and for 

$2,675.70 which included a $492.80 Realtime Over Internet fee; October 9, 

2020, for $2,050.70 including a $567.60 Realtime Over Internet fee, and $780.00 

for videography services for the deposition of Brian Meighan.  Invoices for daily 

transcript fees for trial are provided dated October 31, 2022, for $1,830.84; 

November 2, 2022, for $1,140.26; November 3, 2022, for $2,039.62; November 

4, 2022, for $1,919.17; November 5, 2022, for $939.51; November 9, 2022, for 

$1,718.42; November 10, 2022, for $1,862.96 and $2,682.02, and November 11, 

2022 for $1,421.31.  

While under NRCP 68, the costs pre-dating the 2021 Offer of Judgment 

would not be recoverable.  Here, the deposition costs are allowable under NRS 

18 and, in general, are supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, 

necessary, and actually incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, 

Berosini, and Fairway.  Based on the invoices provided, $57,800.20 in deposition 

transcripts incurred by Bartlit Beck is supported; however, that amount includes a 

$190.00 in rush fees, $7,192.40 in Realtime Fees, and $3,957.50 in videography 

services for depositions, which the Court finds would not be appropriate.  Nothing 

is provided be Defendant showing that these extra reporter services were 

reasonable and necessary to this case.  The Court then also considers and finds 

that the invoices provided support the $15,554.11 sought for daily transcript fees. 

Therefore, the Court finds that $62,014.41 in reporters’ and transcript fees 

incurred by Bartlit Beck is appropriate under NRS 18. 

Defendant also seeks $4,894.97 in Reporters’ Fees for Hearings incurred 

by Snell & Wilmer under NRS 18.005(8).  Invoices are provided for hearings 

dated November 16, 2016, for $270.54 and $80.00; May 10, 2017, for $318.53; 
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September 24, 2018, for $169.63 and $40.00; March 21, 2019, for $42.07; July 8, 

2019, for $144.54 and $40.00; March 31, 2020, for $168.63 for an expedited 

transcript; March 24, 2022, for $40.00; March 30, 2022, for $120.00; March 31, 

2022, for $1,216.93 and for $120.00; June 13, 2022, for $186.31 for an expedited 

transcript; October 25, 2022, for $725.16; November 16, 2022, for $944.38; and 

December 27, 2022, for $268.25.  

While, under NRCP 68, the costs pre-dating 2021 Offer of Judgment 

would not be recoverable, here the hearing and trial costs are allowable under 

NRS 18 and are supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, 

necessary, and actually incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, 

Berosini, and Fairway.  Based on the invoices provided, the Court finds that the 

amount sought for reporters’ fees for hearings is supported; however, as noted 

above, some invoices indicate expedited fees without a basis provided for the 

rush charge. Therefore, the Court finds it must reduce the amount to account for 

the rush charges and that $4,540.03 is appropriate in reporters fees incurred by 

Snell & Wilmer for hearings. 

b. Printing, Copying, and Scanning 

Defendant seeks $5,468.66 for printing, copying, and scanning under NRS 

18.005(12).  Four separate invoices were provided: an October 21, 2019, invoice 

for $1,252.46; a July 27, 2020, invoice for $380.00; an October 20, 2022, invoice 

for $2,354.70; and an October 31, 2022, invoice for $1,481.50. While, under 

NRCP 68, the costs pre-dating 2021 Offer of Judgment would not be 

recoverable, here the copying costs are allowable under NRS 18 and are 

supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, necessary, and actually 

incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, Berosini, and Fairway.  

The full $6,468.66 is, therefore, appropriate.  
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c. Travel and Lodging for Hearings and 
Depositions 

Defendant seeks $4,585.60 for travel and lodging costs incurred by Bartlit 

Beck associated with counsel traveling for hearings and depositions.  Defendant 

seeks the amount under NRS 18.005(15).  Invoices were provided for: 

September 4, 2020, travel by Christopher Landgraff for $1,339.65; September 4, 

2020, meals for Christopher Landgraff of $192.50; September 8, 2020, 

conference room, beverage service, and internet for $2,178.36; September 30, 

2022, travel for Christopher Landgraff for $464.53; September 30, 2022, air fare 

for Christopher Landgraff for $323.18; and September 30, 2022, meals for 

$87.38.  At the May 30, 2023, hearing the Court set forth that meals would not be 

appropriate to recover as counsel would have to eat regardless, and that hotel 

costs and tickets would not be appropriate, acknowledging that while parties 

have their choice of counsel, those costs are client driven based on their 

selection of counsel and Plaintiff should not have to bear additional cost for the 

choice of the Defendant.45 After the Court allowed time for the parties to reach an 

agreement as to fees and costs, per the correspondence submitted to the Court 

on July 11, 2023, counsel withdrew the request for travel and meal expenses. 

Thus, the Court need not address the initial travel and lodging and meal request. 

d. Pro Hac Vice Admissions 

Defendant seeks $5,000.00 in costs related to Pro Hac Vice Admissions 

incurred by Bartlit Beck and $3,700.00 in costs related to Pro Hac Vice 

Admissions incurred by Snell & Wilmer.  Defendant seeks these costs under 

NRS 18.005(17) as an “other” reasonable and necessary expense.  Invoices 

were provided for Application fees, Pro Hac Vice fees, and Annual Renewal 

Fees.  Plaintiff challenged the cost in its entirety as not authorized under NRS 

                                                           
45 May 30, 2023, Transcript DOC 448 at 73:19-74:11. 
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18.46 At the May 30, 2023, hearing the Court stated the cost would not be 

appropriate as it was counsel’s choice to associate pro hac counsel.47 After the 

Court allowed time for the parties to reach an agreement as to fees and costs, 

per the correspondence submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023, counsel 

withdrew the request for Pro Hac Vice fees.  Thus, the Court need not address 

the initial Pro Hac Vice fee request. 

e. Clerk’s Fees 

Defendant seeks $3,386.00 in Clerk’s Fees under NRS 18.005(1).  The 

register of actions was provided showing filing fees on July 11, 2016, for 

$1,483.00; March 6, 2017, for $200.00; August 12, 2019, for $223.00; November 

13, 2020, for $200.00; April 28, 2022, for $200.00; June 13, 2022, for $40.00; 

October 24, 2022, for $120.00; and November 16, 2022, for $920.00.  While 

under NRCP 68 the fees pre-dating 2021 Offer of Judgment would not be 

recoverable, here, the Clerk’s fees are allowable under NRS 18 and are 

supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, necessary, and actually 

incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, Berosini, and Fairway.  

The full $3,386.00 sought is, therefore, appropriate. 

f. Subpoena Costs 

Defendant seeks various costs associated with subpoenas consisting of 

Clerk’s Fees under NRS 18.005(1); Witness fees under NRS 18.005(4); Service 

of Subpoena under NRS 18.005(7); Messenger Services for Filing/Obtaining 

Foreign Subpoenas under NRS 18.005(17); for a total of $2,081.06.  Invoices are 

provided dated February 4, 2020, for $85.00 to serve a subpoena to Levin & 

Associates; February 7, 2020, for $215.00 for filing fees to issue a foreign 

                                                           
46 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 5:5-18. 
47 May 30, 2023, Transcript DOC 448 at 75:21-25. 
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subpoena; February 28, 2020, for $418.50 to serve a subpoena to Carla 

Tricarichi and Randy Hart; February 28, 2020, for $172.50 to serve a subpoena 

to James Tricarichi; February 28, 2020, for $110.00 for the messenger to the 

courthouse to serve the out-of-state subpoenas; March 20, 2020, for $275.00 for 

a court filing fee on the subpoena to Richard Corn; March 20, 2020, for $560.00 

for a court filing fee on the subpoena to Andrew Mason; May 20, 2020, for 

$120.00 for a court filing fee on the subpoena for Donald Korb; September 8, 

2020, for $84.00 for service of subpoena to Telecom Acquisition Corp.; and June 

13, 2022, for $41.06 in court fees.  While under NRCP 68 the fees pre-dating 

2021 Offer of Judgment would not be recoverable, here, the various subpoena 

costs are allowable under NRS 18 and are supported by adequate 

documentation as reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred as required 

under In re Dish Network, Cadle, Berosini, and Fairway.  The $2,081.06 sought is 

therefore appropriate. 

g. Mediator Fees and Messenger Fees 

Defendant seeks the costs under NRS 18.005(17) as an “other” 

reasonable and necessary expense for both Mediator Fees and Messenger 

Fees.  The Court addresses both in turn.  

Defendant seeks $3,850.00 for Mediation fees. Plaintiff challenged the 

cost as not authorized under NRS 18.48 At the May 30, 2023, hearing, counsel 

confirmed that the mediation was voluntary. 49  After the Court allowed time for 

the parties to reach an agreement as to fees and costs, per the correspondence 

submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023, counsel withdrew the request for 

Mediator fees.  Thus, the Court need not address the initial Mediator fee request. 

                                                           
48 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 5:5-18. 
49 May 30, 2023, Transcript DOC 448 at 72:19-73:14. 
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Defendant also seeks $1,226.00 in Messenger Services costs pursuant to 

NRS 18.005(17).  Receipts were provided for: September 20, 2016, for $37.00; 

September 21, 2016, for $47.00; September 27, 2016, for $94.00; August 11, 

2016, for $35.00; November 8, 2016, for $25.00; February 8, 2017, for $62.00; 

February 10, 2017, for $25.00; May 17, 2017, for $21.00; May 15, 2017, for 

$35.00; July 26-29, 2019, for $40.00; September 9-10, 2020, for $90.00; 

September 23, 2020, for $76.50; October 2, 2020, for $25.00; October 27-31, 

2022, for $350.00; March 25-28, 2022, for $152.50; June 6-10, 2022, for 

$111.00.  Plaintiff challenged the cost in its entirety as not authorized under NRS 

18.50  The Court finds that messenger fees are appropriate, per the statute, and 

supported by documentation for the hearings listed above and thus the Court 

awards $1,226.00. 

h. Expert Witness Fees 

Defendant seeks $814,286.98 in Expert Witness Fees for three experts. 

The amount sought is broken down as $84,655.50 for Joseph Leauanae; 

$36,584.25 for Arthur Dellinger; and $693,046.73 for Kenneth Harris.  Plaintiff 

challenged the amount in its entirety.  In the alternative, if fees were awarded, 

Plaintiff argued that costs should capped at $1,500.00 under NRS 18.005(5).51 At 

the May 30, 2023, hearing, the Court set forth that the amount sought needed to 

be reduced given overlap with the tax court issues, general advice, benefit of 

video, and what the experts needed to specifically look at and do.52 After the 

Court allowed time for the parties to reach an agreement as to fees and costs, 

                                                           
50 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 5:5-18. 
51 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 3:19-5:4.  The Motion and all documents were provided to the Court prior to the Nevada 
Legislature’s amendedments to the Statute and thus the prior statutory amount applied.  Even 
utilizing the current 2023 statute, the Court’s analysis would be the same.  
52 May 30, 2023 Transcript DOC 448 at 74:12-75:20. 
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per the correspondence submitted to the Court July 11, 2023, defense counsel 

agreed to reduce the fee sought for Harris by 50 percent (50%), to $346,523.36.  

Plaintiff’s counsel still objected to that reduced amount. 

In Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 650-51, 357 P.3d 365, 377-78 (Nev. Ct. 

App. 2015), the Court of Appeals set forth that awarding expert witness fees 

more than $1,500.00 per expert requires an analysis of various factors, where 

“not all of these factors may be pertinent to every request for expert witness fees 

in excess of $1,500 per expert under NRS 18.005(5), and thus, the resolution of 

such requests will necessarily require a case-by-case examination of appropriate 

factors”:  

 
(1)  the importance of the expert’s testimony to the party’s 

case; 
(2)  the degree to which the expert’s opinion aided the trier 

of fact in deciding the case; 
(3)  whether the expert’s reports or testimony were 

repetitive of other expert witnesses; 
(4)  the extent and nature of the work performed by the 

expert; 
(5)  whether the expert had to conduct independent 

investigations or testing; 
(6)  the amount of time the expert spent in court, preparing 

a report, and preparing for trial; 
(7) the expert’s area of expertise; 
(8)  the expert’s education and training; 
(9)  the fee actually charged to the party who retained the 

expert; 
(10)  the fees traditionally charged by the expert on related 

matters; 
(11)  comparable experts’ fees charged in similar cases; 

and, 
(12)  if an expert is retained from outside the area where 

the trial is held, the fees and costs that would have 
been incurred to hire a comparable expert where the 
trial was held. 

Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 650-51, 357 P.3d 365, 377-78 (Nev. Ct. 

App. 2015).  The Court notes that there was no Frazier analysis provided in the 
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Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 417), nor the Amended Verified 

Memorandum of costs (DOC 424) beyond a footnote stating that the experts 

“have specialized and substantial knowledge in the foregoing field(s),” and that 

the cost was warranted because each expert “(1) prepared a comprehensive 

expert report, (2) sat for a deposition, and (3) testified at trial (and as such, 

incurred the additional time required to sufficiently prepare for both deposition 

and trial)” with the result being in Defendants’ favor.53 Nevertheless, PwC’s 

Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs (DOC 440) addressed the Frazier 

factors; and thus, the Court analyzes each as set forth below. 
 

i. The Court Finds That Most of the Frazier 
Factors Presented Are Met As To Expert 
Joseph Leauanae but Defendant Did Not 
Provide the Court With All the Required 
Information Pursuant to Frazier and 
Other Case Law and Thus, the Amount 
Sought Needs to Be Reduced. 

Defendant seeks $84,655.50 in expert fees for Joseph Leauanae.  Mr. 

Leauanae is a business appraiser and forensic accountant with over 25 years of 

experience in financial evaluation and litigation.54 Mr. Leauanae is a CPA in 

Nevada, Utah, and California, and has additional certifications in information 

technology, financial forensics, and as a fraud examiner.55 The nature of the 

work performed by Mr. Leauanae involved providing an opinion on economic 

damages of Plaintiff.56  Defendant set forth that Mr. Leauanae drafted an expert 

report, rebuttal report, was deposed, prepared demonstrative exhibits, and 

                                                           
53 Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 417 at 3 n.1; 
Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 422 at 3 n.2. 
54 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:5-14. 
55 Id. 
56 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:17-18. 
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testified at trial.57 No further details were provided in the analysis.  The reports 

and testimony were not repetitive as the three experts were opining from three 

different fields of expertise.  Defendant set forth that the independent 

investigation performed by Mr. Leauanae involved review of documents, 

pleadings, production, discovery, representations to the IRS, Plaintiff’s expert 

report on damages, and deposition transcripts.58 As to the time spent preparing a 

report, preparing for trial, and in court, Mr. Leauanae spent 317.50 hours at a 

rate of $375.00 per hour in 2020 through 2021, and $415.00 per hour in 2022, 

and provided invoices as to the time.59 Defendant provided nothing to show the 

fee charged was in accordance with those traditionally charged by the expert in 

related matters as it instead stated that, “this Court is well positioned to 

determine the reasonableness of the same based on its vast experience with 

similar experts in complex civil litigation matters as well as the submitted 

invoices.”60  While the Court has addressed numerous experts in a wide variety 

of settings, Frazier and the case law regarding costs in general, see e.g. In re 

Dish Network, 133 Nev. 438, 452, 401 P.3d 1081, 1093 (2017);  Cadle v. Woods 

& Erickson, LLP, 131 Nev. 114, 120-121, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015);  Bobby 

Berosini, Ltd. v. PETA, 114 Nev. 1348, 1352-53, 971 P.2d 383, 386 (1998); 

Fairway Chevrolet Company v. Kelley,484 P.3d 276 (Nev. 2021) (unpublished) 

all set forth that it is the responsibility of the party who is seeking the costs to 

provide the documentation and explanation necessary for the Court to fully 

analyze any costs sought.  In this case, Defendant has failed to provide any 

                                                           
57 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:20-22:1. 
58 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
22:21-23. 
59 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
24:11-15; 25:3-4. 
60 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
25:9-15. 
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information related to multiple Frazier factors.  As a result of Defendant’s 

decision to provide the Court only limited information, the Court can only take into 

account what was provided and reduces the cost allowed for Mr. Leauanae to 

$46,655.50.  
   

ii. The Court Finds That the Frazier Factors 
Are Met As To Expert Arthur Dellinger 

Defendant seeks $36,584.25 in expert fees for Arthur Dellinger.  Mr. 

Dellinger is a CPA with 53 years of experience with a specialty in tax matters.61 

As to the nature of the work performed, Dellinger provided an opinion on whether 

the standards for disclosures of errors applies to former clients.62 Defendant set 

forth that Mr. Dellinger drafted an expert report, rebuttal report, was deposed, 

prepared demonstrative exhibits, testified at trial, reviewed standards for tax 

services, conducted research, and reviewed information on the case provided by 

counsel.63 The reports and testimony were not repetitive as the three experts 

were opining from three different fields of expertise.  Defendant also sets forth 

that  the independent investigation performed by Mr. Dellinger was that he 

“extensively reviewed the statements on standards for tax services, conducted 

research, and reviewed case information provided by counsel”.64 Unlike Mr. 

Leauanae, however, Defense counsel did provide support of showing that the 

expert’s testimony was of significant importance to the decision.  Specifically, 

Defendant pointed to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and stated 

that it referenced the testimony of Mr. Dellinger on the standard of professional 

                                                           
61 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
20:7-12. 
62 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:16-17. 
63 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:20-22:4. 
64 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
22:19-20. 
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care and Statements on Standards for Tax Services.”65 As to the time spent 

preparing a report, preparing for trial, and in court, Mr. Dellinger spent 72.45 

hours at a rate of $500.00 per hour, and provided invoices as to the time.66 

Defendant provided nothing to show the fee charged was in accordance with 

those traditionally charged by the expert in related matters.  Instead, it again set 

forth that “this Court is well positioned to determine the reasonableness of the 

same based on its vast experience with similar experts in complex civil litigation 

matters as well as the submitted invoices.”67 Nevertheless, to support that the fee 

was comparable to what would have been incurred by a local expert, Defendant 

compared Dellinger’s rate of $500.00 to Plaintiff’s local expert, Greene’s, rate of 

$400.00 who has been practicing for roughly 15 less years than Dellinger.68 As a 

result of the more detailed analysis, the Court finds that there is enough support, 

pursuant to the case law and given the nature of the instant case, to award 

Defendant the entirety of the costs sought on behalf of Mr. Dellinger in the 

amount of $36,584.25. 
 

iii. The Court Finds That the Frazier Factors 
and Applicable Case Law Warrant a 
Reduction As to Expert Kenneth Harris 

Defendant initially sought $693,046.73 in expert fees for Kenneth Harris, 

and in the correspondence submitted to the Court wherein the parties sought to 

reach an agreement as to fees and costs Defendants had agreed to reduce the 

amount by 50 percent (50%) to $346,523.36.  Mr. Harris has practiced in tax law 

                                                           
65 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
23:15-16. 
66 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
24:6-10; 25:1. 
67 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
25:9-15. 
68 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
26:7-9. 
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for 35 years, with experience in mergers, acquisitions, spin offs, divestitures, and 

internal reorganizations.69 Mr. Harris also teaches tax law at Northwestern 

School of Law.70 As to the nature of the work performed, Defendant sparsely 

provided that Mr. Harris gave an opinion as to Defendant’s conduct in advising 

Plaintiff on the transaction.71 Defendant set forth the same description for all of its 

experts -- that Mr. Harris drafted an expert report, rebuttal report, was deposed, 

prepared demonstrative exhibits, and testified at trial.72 No further details were 

included in Defendant’s Frazier analysis as to this factor.  Defendant then 

addressed that the reports and testimony were not repetitive as the three experts 

were opining from three different fields of expertise.  In support of showing that 

the expert’s testimony was of significant importance to the decision, Defendant 

pointed to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law referencing the testimony 

of: “Mr. Harris twelve separate times when: (1) analyzing standard tax industry 

terms, (2) distinguishing facts between the Westside, Enbridge, and Marshall 

transactions, (3) interpreting Notice 2008-111, (4) interpreting of the Statements 

on Standards for Tax Services, (5) and analyzing PwC’s confidentiality 

obligations under applicable standards.”73  It is asserted by Defendant that Mr. 

Harris spent 1,089.90 hours preparing a report, preparing for trial, and in court at 

a rate of $775.00 per hour.  It did provide invoices as to the time, as noted in the 

Opposition, and it also contended that Harris also utilized lower billing associates 

at $525.00 per hour.74 It is not clear to the Court the role of the “billing 

                                                           
69 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
20:13-21:4. 
70 Id.  
71 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:18-19. 
72 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:20-22:1. 
73 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
23:11-14. 
74 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
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associates” or how those rates could be justified, pursuant to Nevada law, given 

the limited billing details provided.  Defendant also failed to provide anything to 

show the fee charged was in accordance with those traditionally charged by the 

expert in related matters, instead relying on the assertion that “this Court is well 

positioned to determine the reasonableness of the same based on its vast 

experience with similar experts in complex civil litigation matters as well as the 

submitted invoices.”75 Next, to support that the fee was comparable to what 

would have been incurred by a local expert, Defendant compared Harris’ rate of 

$775.00, and experience as an attorney since 1985, to its own retained counsel 

Mr. Byrne’s rate of $750.00 who has been practicing since 1988.76 The 

comparison provided by Defendant was a rate for an attorney, and while the 

Court acknowledges Mr. Harris is an attorney, no comparison was provided for 

what is the appropriate rate for an expert standard who plays a different role than 

counsel for the party.  In short, there was no analysis as what a comparable 

attorney acting in an expert capacity would charge in Nevada or Clark County. 

Considering the invoices provided, the fee summary description for Mr. Harris is 

listed under “Lawyer” and other lawyers at the firm are also listed as billing on the 

matter.  Based on the limited analysis given of the foregoing Frazier factors, the 

Court finds it appropriate to reduce the expert fee sought for Mr. Harris. 

 For example, some of the items in the invoices contain insufficient detail 

for the Court to consider, appear to be representation work beyond the scope 

necessary for an expert opinion, appear to be other parties conducting review for 

the expert, or appear to be duplicative intra-office conferencing with the expert, 

                                                                                                                                                                             
24:16-20; 25:5-6. 
75 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
25:9-15. 
76 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
26:5-7. 
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as further discussed below. The invoices reflect the billings of Mr. Harris (KLH) 

and other billing entries are included billed by Andrea M. Despotes (AMD) and 

Matthew Koenders (KM) yet there is nothing to provide the Court how three 

attorneys were needed to prepare an expert report particularly when there were 

other experts that presented opinions that overlapped but were not duplicative.  

The following entries show billing for intra-office communications and, in 

some instances, duplicative billing for the same intra-office meeting.  On August 

6, 2019, MK billed $1,207.50 to conference with KLH as well as to review the 

complaint, research, and analysis, and did not parse out the amount of time 

spent conferring with KLH.  Then on August 26, 2019, AMD billed $1,840.00 to 

review the file, conduct research, and confer with KLH; again, not breaking down 

the amount of time spent for inter-office conferencing.  On August 27, 2019, MK 

again billed $1,312.50 to again review the complaint, analysis, and confer with 

KLH.  On August 30, 2019, there are billing entries for KLH for conferencing with 

MK, as well as a duplicative $525.00 entry for MK for conferencing with KLH.  On 

September 5, 2019, MK billed $1,050.00 to review the record and confer with 

KLH.  On September 16, 2019, AMD billed $2,760.00 for an office conference 

with KLH and work on research, with no breakdown for the timing as to each.  On 

September 18, 2019, AMD billed $172.50 for an office conference.  On February 

20, 2020, and February 27, 2020, MK billed $787.50 and $2,467.50, respectively, 

to review record and analysis and confer with KLH; again, with no breakdown of 

the time spent on intra-office conference.  Then on March 21, 2020, and March 

31, 2020, MK billed $1,680.00 and $367.50, respectively, to work on the draft 

expert report, research, and conference with KLH with no temporal breakdown. 

On April 8, 2020, and April 12, 2020, AMD billed $230 and $57.50, respectively, 

to conference with KLH.  On April 13, 2020, there are billing entries for KLH for 

conferencing with MK, as well as a duplicative $787.50 entry for MK for 
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conferencing with KLH.  Similarly, on April 14, 2020, there are billing entries for 

KLH conferencing with MK on the report, and a duplicative entry for $1,470.00 

MK to conference with KLH and review and revise the draft report, the time is not 

parsed out for the activities.  On April 20, 2020, and April 21, 2020, AMD billed 

$115.00 for both entries to conference with KLH.  On April 27, 2020, MK billed 

$1,207.50 for an entry covering work on a draft report and conferencing with 

KLH, with no breakdown of the time spent on each task.  On May 7, 2020, MK 

billed $210.00 to conference with KLH.  On June 5, 2020, KLH billed to 

conference with AMD, and there was a duplicative billing entry by AMD for 

$1,207.50 to conference with KLH and work on the rebuttal report, with no 

breakdown of the time allotted to each activity.  

Some billed activities appear to be representation work beyond the scope 

necessary of an expert opinion and the entries do not contain sufficient detail for 

the Court to fully evaluate the distinction between expert tasks and tasks that 

would be handled by counsel.  For example, on November 16, 2020, KLH billed 

$630.000.00 to review a Motion in Limine pertaining to expert testimony, and 

then on November 19, 2020, billed $232.50 for “research re: MIL issue.” 

Additionally, there were billing entries for drafting the expert report and 

rebuttal report performed by parties that were not expert Mr. Harris.  There was 

no information provided as to the nature or scope of the work, whether this work 

was duplicative, or what role each person had in the preparation of the report for 

the Court to assess in its review of the records.  On January 24, 2020, AMD 

billed $632.50 for a generic entry of “worked on matters re: expert opinion.”  On 

February 4, 2020, AMD billed $920.00; on February 7, 2020, AMD billed 

$805.00; on February 11, 2020, AMD billed $2,127.50; on February 12, 2020, 

AMD billed $1,782.50; on February 14, 2020, AMD billed $115.00; on February 

19, 2020, AMD billed $977.50; on February 21, 2020, AMD billed $3,220.00; on 
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February 25, 2020, AMD billed $2,300.00; on February 26, 2020, AMD billed 

$2,507.50; on February 28, 2020, AMD billed $2,817.50; all of the foregoing 

entries were for a generic description of “worked on expert opinion matter.”  It is 

unclear to the Court whether these were part of preparing the opinion or whether 

they were other actions associated with the file as there is minimal description of 

the work given.  

Then, turning to entries where it was apparent the work was pertaining to 

the report, on March 2, 2020, KLH billed $4,107.50 and on March 5, 2020, billed 

$1,007.50 to research and work on the expert report.  On March 6, 2020, KLH 

billed $5,580.00 to work on the expert report while MK also billed $1,942.50 that 

same day to work on the draft report and research.  Similarly, on March 7, 2020, 

KLH billed $2,480.00 to work on the expert report and MK also billed $1,312.50 

to work on the draft.  Thereafter, KLH billed $1,162.50 for “work on expert report” 

on March 8, 2020; $5,037.50 on March 9, 2020; $5,435.00 on March 10, 2020; 

$2,325.00 on March 11, 2020; $3,100.00 on March 12, 2020; $3,100.00 on 

March 13, 2020; $1,550.00 on March 14, 2020; $2,945.00 on March 15, 2020; 

$4,262.50 on March 16, 2020; $4,107.50 on March 17, 2020; $4,262.50 on 

March 18, 2020; $4,650.00 on March 19, 2020; $4,495.00 on March 20, 2020; 

$3,875.00 on March 21, 2020; $3,875.00 on March 22, 2020; $5,347.50 on 

March 23, 2020; $5,192.50 on March 24, 2020; $3,487.50 on March 25, 2020; 

$4,650.00 on March 26, 2020; $4,650.00 on March 27, 2020; $5,037.50 on 

March 28, 2020; $3,875.00 on March 29, 2020; $4,650.00 on March 30, 2020; 

and $3,487.50 on March 31, 2020.  Overlapping many of those same dates, MK 

billed $1,680.00 on March 21, 2020, (which was already referenced above for 

overlapping with intra-office conferencing with KLH); $1,050.00 on March 22, 

2020; $787.50 on March 23, 2020; $1,470.00 on March 24, 2020; $1,312.50 on 

March 27, 2020; $3,150.00 on March 28, 2020; $3,937.50 on March 29, 2020; 
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$1,995.00 on March 30, 2020; and $367.50 on March 31, 2020, (this entry was 

also accounted for above for the overlapping conference with KLH), all for 

generic descriptions of “work on draft report.”  

KLH then billed for revisions to the report on April 1, 2020; April 2, 2020; 

April 11, 2020; and April 20, 2020, in the amounts of $2,945.00, $2,092.50, 

$1,395.00, and $1,705.00 respectively.  For further work on the expert report, 

KLH billed $1,782.50 on April 13, 2020; $3,022.50 on April 14, 2020; $1,162.50 

on April 15, 2020; $775.00 on April 16, 2020; $2,712.50 on April 17, 2020; 

$3,100.00 on April 19, 2020; $3,875.00 on April 20, 2020; $3,642.50 on April 21, 

2020; $3,410.00 on April 22, 2020; $2,712.50 on April 23, 2020; $4,107.50 on 

April 24, 2020; $3,177.50 on April 27, 2020; $1,550.00 on April 28, 2020; and 

$1,937.50 on April 29, 2020.  Overlapping many of those same dates, MK billed 

$787.50 on April 13, 2020 (addressed above for the entry also covering intra-

office conference); $1,470.00 on April 14, 2020; $945.00 on April 25, 2020; and 

$1,207.50 on April 27, 2020 (addressed above for the entry overlapping intra-

office conference as well), all to “work on draft report.”  AMD also billed $345.00 

on April 15, 2020; $115.00 on April 17, 2020; $3,392.50 on April 22, 2020; 

$2,875.00 on April 23, 2020; $3,162.50 on April 24, 2020; $4,772.50 on April 25, 

2020; $3,622.50 on April 26, 2020; $4,657.50 on April 27, 2020; and $3,277.50 

on April 28, 2020, for generic entries of “worked on opinion draft.” 

KLH then made further revisions to the report as part of billing blocks, 

including multiple other activities without distinguishing the time spent specifically 

on the report for $2,170.00 on May 13, 2020, and $1,705.00 on May 15, 2020. 

KLH billed $1,937.50 on May 30, 2020; $2,325.00 on June 1, 2020; $3,255.00 on 

June 2, 2020; $2,170.00 on June 3, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 5, 2020; $3,100.00 

on June 7, 2020; $3,642.50 on June 8, 2020; $3,100.00 on June 9, 2020; 

$2,712.50 on June 10, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 11, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 12, 
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2020; $3,100.00 on June 13, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 14, 2020; $2,712.50 on 

June 15, 2020; $1,782.50 on June 16, 2020; $2,092.50 on June 17, 2020; 

$3,875.00 on June 18, 2020; $3,100.00 on June 19, 2020; and $1,705.00 on 

June 24, 2020, to work on his rebuttal report and make revisions thereto.  Some 

of the foregoing entries were also lumped with activities such as reviewing 

production without breaking down the time spent for the Court to consider.  

Again, overlapping many of these same dates, there were entries by other 

persons for work on the expert rebuttal report.  There were also billing entries by 

MK for work on the rebuttal report of $1,312.50 on June 28, 2020, and $2,782.50 

on June 29, 2020.  AMD billed $575.00 on June 1, 2020; $2,645.00 on June 2, 

2020; $2,645.00 on June 3, 2020; $1,207.50 on June 5, 2020; $2,990.00 on June 

9, 2020; $2,645.00 on June 10, 2020; $2,875.00 on June 11, 2020; $3,162.50 on 

June 12, 2020; $2,760.00 on June 13, 2020; $3,392.50 on June 14, 2020; 

$172.50 on June 15, 2020; $690.00 on June 18, 2020; $1,035.00 on June 19, 

2020; $1,035.00 on June 23, 2020; $920.00 on June 24, 2020; $1,610.00 on 

June 26, 2020; $632.50 on June 27, 2020; and $2,472.50 on June 28, 2020.  

The Court notes that in addition to the foregoing entries that specifically 

referenced work on the report, and as highlighted above, AMD frequently billed 

generic entries for “work on expert matter” and it is not clear for the Court to 

assess the work done and whether it was in preparation of the report or another 

matter.  On July 1, 2020, KLH billed $1,085.00 to review comments and edits to 

the rebuttal report; on July 2, 2020, KLH billed $1,162.50 to revise the rebuttal 

report; and on July 7, 2020, KLH billed $1,937.50 to conference with AMD and 

work on final edits to the rebuttal report for which AMD also billed $575.00 to 

work on “expert opinion matters.” 

While the Court appreciates that the testimony was important to the 

Defendant’s case, and it is cited as being an aid to the Court’s decision, it is 
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unclear how the expert report and rebuttal reports alone could be billed at over 

$302,400.00, including work by two persons who were not the expert himself, 

and have that amount be considered “reasonable.”  The Court fully considers the 

nature of the case, the sophisticated parties, and the complex matters involved. 

The Court also fully considers that due to the nature of the invoices, some of the 

matters have other activities included in the line item accounting for the total time 

billed for that entry, but also notes that there are many other generic entries that 

could have involved billing for work on the report that were unclear, and the 

foregoing entries were only the ones that it was clear to the Court that the work 

done pertained to the actual reports.  

Next, the Court also considers the billing entries pertaining to Mr. Harris’ 

participation in trial.  On November 1, 2022, KLH billed $3,875.00 to review the 

transcript of the first day of trial and prepare for testimony; AMD also billed 

$3,852.50 that day to review the transcript, research tax issues, prepare notes for 

KLH, and partake in “related expert preparation activities.”  On November 2, 

2022, KLH billed $5,037.50 to review the transcript of the second day of trial, 

prepare for testimony, and travel to Las Vegas; AMD also billed $3,450.00 that 

day to again review the transcript, research tax issues, prepare notes for KLH, 

and “related expert preparation activities.”  On November 3, 2022, KLH billed 

$6,200.00 to attend trial; AMD billed $3,852.50 to review the transcript, research 

tax issues, prepare notes for KLH, and “related expert preparation activities.”  On 

November 4, 2022, KLH billed $5,812.50 to prepare in the morning and then 

attend trial in the afternoon; AMD billed $2,530.00 for the same activities 

articulated in the preceding entries.  On November 5, 2022, KLH billed $6,200.00 

to prepare for cross examination.  On November 6, 2022, KLH billed $5,425.00 to 

again prepare for cross examination; AMD billed $2,587.50 that day for the same 

activities articulated in the preceding entries.  On November 7, 2022, KLH billed 
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$6,975.00 to attend trial and prepare for direct testimony; AMD billed $3,852.50 

for the same activities articulated in the preceding entries.  On November 8, 

2022, KLH billed $6,975.00 to attend trial and prepare for direct testimony.  On 

November 9, 2022, KLH billed $6,975.00 to attend trial and give direct and cross 

examination testimony.  On November 10, 2022, KLH billed $3,875.00 to attend 

trial and give cross examination testimony, as well as billed travel time.  Upon 

review, the Court notes that Mr. Harris testified 4 hours and 44 minutes over two 

days at the trial, and pursuant to applicable law the Court takes that into account 

in ascertaining what is the reasonable and necessary cost amount that Plaintiff 

should be responsible for. 

In sum, while the Court is appreciative of the extent of Mr. Harris’ 

expertise, based on the limited information provided by Defendant, the 

requirements of Nevada case law, and the analysis of entries set forth above, the 

Court finds that costs to be borne by Plaintiff associated with Mr. Harris should 

be reduced to $160,000.00    

As noted above, while Defendant’s prevailed on their 2021 Offer of 

Judgment which would entitle them to costs after said Offer was declined, that 

amount is subsumed in the NRS 18 analysis.  Accordingly, there are no 

additional costs that the Court need address.  

 

ORDER 

Having reviewed the papers and pleadings on file herein, including, but 

not limited to, the pleadings, exhibits and affidavits; having heard oral arguments 

of the parties, this Court makes the following ruling:  

IT IS, THEREFORE, HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED 

that Defendant Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees and 

Costs (DOC 427) is granted in part and denied in part without prejudice as follows:  
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The Court finds it appropriate to award Defendant Attorney’s Fees for the 

work of Snell & Wilmer in the amount of $407,018.80. 

The Court finds it appropriate to award Defendant Attorney’s Fees for the 

work of Bartlit Beck in the amount of $1,695,735.59. 

The Court further finds it appropriate to award costs, as set forth above 

pursuant to NRS 18 without being duplicative of NRCP 68 in the amount of 

$322,955.91. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Plaintiff 

Tricarichi’s Motion To Retax and Settle PwC’s Amended Verified Memorandum 

Of Costs (DOC 414) is granted in part and denied in part without prejudice 

consistent with the Court’s ruling on Defendant Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s 

Motion For Attorneys’ Fees And Costs as set forth herein. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this 25th day of August, 2023. 

 
 
     ______________________________ 
     HON. JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on or about the date filed, a copy of this Order was 
served via Electronic Service to all counsel/registered parties, pursuant to the 
Nevada Electronic Filing Rules, and/or served via in one or more of the following 
manners: fax, U.S. mail, or a copy of this Order was placed in the attorney’s file 
located at the Regional Justice Center: 
 
 
            
      ______________________________ 
      TRACY L. CORDOBA-WHEELER 
      Judicial Executive Assistant 

 

 

           /s/ Tracy L. Cordoba
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 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendant 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs and Order Granting in 

Part and Denying in Part Plaintiff Tricarichi’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended 

Verified Memorandum of Costs was entered in the above-captioned matter on August 25, 2023, a 

copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  

 Dated: August 28, 2023            SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 

By:       /s/ Bradley Austin 
Patrick Byrne, Esq. (NV Bar No. 7636) 
Bradley T. Austin, Esq. (NV Bar No. 13064) 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
pbryne@swlaw.com 
baustin@swlaw.com 
 
Mark L. Levine, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq. (Pro Hac 
Vice) 
Katharine A. Roin, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
Alexandra R. Genord, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
BARTLIT BECK LLP 
54 West Hubbard Street, Suite 300 
Chicago, IL 60654 
mark.levine@bartlitbeck.com  
chris.landgraff@bartlitbeck.com 
kate.roin@bartlitbeck.com  
alexandra.genord@bartlitbeck.com 
 
Sundeep K. (Rob) Addy, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
Daniel C. Taylor, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
BARTLIT BECK LLP  
1801 Wewatta Street, Suite 1200 
Denver, CO 80202 
rob.addy@bartlitbeck.com 
daniel.taylor@bartlitbeck.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, the undersigned, declare under penalty of perjury, that I am over the age of eighteen 

(18) years, and I am not a party to, nor interested in, this action.  On August 28, 2023, I caused to 

be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP’S MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND 

COSTS AND ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART PLAINTIFF 

TRICARICHI’S MOTION TO RETAX AND SETTLE PWC’S AMENDED VERIFIED 

MEMORANDUM OF COSTS upon the following by the method indicated:  
  

 
BY E-MAIL:  by transmitting via e-mail the document(s) listed above to the e-mail 
addresses set forth below and/or included on the Court’s Service List for the above-
referenced case. 

 
BY U.S. MAIL:  by placing the document(s) listed above in a sealed envelope with 
postage thereon fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada addressed 
as set forth below. 

 
BY OVERNIGHT MAIL:  by causing document(s) to be picked up by an overnight 
delivery service company for delivery to the addressee(s) on the next business day. 

 
BY PERSONAL DELIVERY:  by causing personal delivery via messenger service of 
the document(s) listed above to the person(s) at the address(es) set forth below. 

 
BY ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION:  submitted to the above-entitled Court for 
electronic filing and service upon the Court's Service List for the above-referenced case. 

 
 
Brenoch Wirthlin, Esq. 
Ariel Johnson, Esq. 
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC 
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
bwirthlin@hutchlegal.com 
ajohnson@hutchlegal.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

Scott F. Hessell, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
Blake Sercye, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 
55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 
Chicago, IL 60603 
shessell@sperling-law.com 
bsercye@sperling-law.com 

 
 
 
 /s/ Lyndsey Luxford     
An Employee of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P. 

 4876-0543-7052 
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ORDR 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
 
 
MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, an individual 
 
                                    Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP, 
 
 
                                    Defendant.   

 
Case No.:     A-16-735910-C 
 
Dept. No.:     XXXI 

 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND 
DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT 
PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS 
LLP’S MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ 
FEES AND COSTS 
 
and 
 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND 
DENYING IN PART PLAINTIFF 
TRICARICHI’S MOTION TO RETAX 
AND SETTLE PWC’S AMENDED 
VERIFIED MEMORANDUM OF 
COSTS 

 

 
 
 

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

This matter came on for hearing on May 30, 2023, on Defendant 

Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees And Costs (DOC 

427) and Plaintiff Tricarichi’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended 

Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 414).  Present at the hearing was Scott F. 

Hessell, Esq., and Ariel Clark Johnson, Esq. for Plaintiff Tricarichi; and Bradley 

Austin, Esq., Patrick G. Byrne, Esq., and Chris Landgraff, Esq., for Defendant 

Pricewaterhouse Coopers (hereinafter PwC).  At the hearing, the parties agreed 

Electronically Filed
08/25/2023 4:26 PM

Case Number: A-16-735910-B

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/25/2023 4:27 PM
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to meet among themselves to determine if there could be agreement on 

outstanding fee and cost issues.  The parties also agreed to provide the written 

positions of the parties post-hearing to the Court.  The Court, having reviewed 

the papers and pleadings on file herein, having heard oral arguments of the 

parties, and then reviewed the additional information provided by the parties, 

makes the following ruling:  

The bench trial commenced on October 31, 2022, and the trial concluded 

on November 10, 2022.  At the trial, Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of Hutchison & 

Steffen PLLC appeared for Plaintiff, along with pro hac vice counsel Scott F. 

Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of Sperling & Slater, P.C.  Patrick G. 

Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq., of Snell & Wilmer LLP, and pro hac vice 

counsel Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq., and Katharine A. 

Roin, Esq., of Bartlit Beck, LLP, appeared for Defendant PwC. 

 The trial encompassed approximately nine trial days as well as additional 

motion hearing days.  During the course of the bench trial, four experts were 

called both in person and via video.  At the conclusion of the trial, the Court set 

forth its ruling in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.1  In sum, the Court 

found in favor of Defendant PwC and that “Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from 

his Complaint”2 as there was no evidence proving three elements of his claim and 

due to the single cause of action being barred by both Nevada and New York 

statute of limitations.3  After the ruling had been entered, and based on stipulations 

by the parties, Defendant filed its Memorandum of Costs and its Amended 

Memorandum of Costs as well as a Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs.  Plaintiff 

                                                           
1 February 9, 2023, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at ¶100. 
2 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law at P. 41, DOC 416, filed February 9, 2023; Notice of Entry 
of Order thereof, DOC 420, filed February 22, 2023. 
3 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at ¶¶ 115, 130, 132, 137, 148, 161. 
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filed his Motion to Retax and Oppositions to Defendant’s Motion.  The pleadings 

were timely filed. 
 
II. Defendant is Entitled in Part to Reasonable Attorney Fees 

Pursuant to Applicable Law  Based on its Second Offer of 
Judgment  

“Ultimately, the decision to award attorney fees rests within the district 

court's discretion, and we review such decisions for an abuse of discretion.” 

O’Connell v. Wynn, 134 Nev. 550, 554, 429 P.3d 664, 668 (2018); Frazier v. Drake, 

131 Nev. 632, 641-42; 357 P.3d 365, 372 (2015).  Further, as reiterated by the 

Nevada Appellate Court in O’Connell v. Wynn, 134 Nev. 550, 429 P.3d 664 

(2018), “[a] party may seek attorney fees when allowed by an agreement, rule, or 

statute.  See NRS 18.010 (governing awards of attorney fees); RTTC Commc'ns, 

LLC v. The Saratoga Flier, Inc., 121 Nev. 34, 40, 110 P.3d 24, 28 (2005) (noting 

that “a court may not award attorney fees absent authority under a specific rule 

or statute”).”  Here, Defendant seeks fees, pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil 

Procedure 54(d), which provides “[a] claim for attorney fees must be made by 

motion.  The court may decide a post judgment motion for attorney fees despite the 

existence of a pending appeal from the underlying final judgment.”  Defendant also 

seeks fees pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 68(f) which directs that:  

 
“If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more 
favorable judgment: … (B) the offeree must pay the offeror’s 
post-offer costs and expenses, including a reasonable sum to 
cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for each expert 
witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare 
for and conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the 
judgment from the time of the offer to the time of entry of the 
judgment and reasonable attorney fees, if any be allowed, 
actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer. If the 
offeror’s attorney is collecting a contingent fee, the amount of 
any attorney fees awarded to the party for whom the offer is 
made must be deducted from that contingent fee.  
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Defendant made Plaintiff an Offer of Judgment on September 25, 2019, and 

then made a second Offer of Judgment October 6, 2021.4 The parties agree that 

the 2019 update to the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure apply to both Offers of 

Judgment.  Neither Offer was accepted by Plaintiff, and the case proceeded to trial 

in October and November 2022.  Following the conclusion of the bench trial, the 

Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on February 9, 2023, 

entering Judgment in favor of Defendant PwC.5  The Order continued that “any 

request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion.”6  As 

noted, the Court finds that Defendant has met the timeliness standards to seek 

reasonable fees pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 54(d) and 68(f).  

As the fee request was timely, the Court next considers whether Defendant 

has met the factors necessary pursuant to NRCP 68 and applicable case law 

including Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 688 P.2d 268, 274 (1983) with 

respect to each of its Offers of Judgment.  Pursuant to Beattie and its progeny, the 

Court considers the following factors to determine whether attorneys’ fees are 

appropriate: 
(1) whether the plaintiff’s claim was brought in good faith; (2) 
whether the defendant’s offer of judgment was reasonable and 
in good faith in both its timing and amount; (3) whether the 
plaintiff’s decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was 
grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees 
sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount. 
 

Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 688 P.2d 268, 274 (1983).  

 

 

                                                           
4 Both Offers of Judgment are provided as Exhibits 1 and 2 in the Appendix of Exhibits to the 
Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs filed March 15, 2023, with electronic service stamps 
reflecting the dates of service (DOC 428).  Each Offer of Judgment was for $50,000.00. 
55 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at ¶¶ 115, 130, 132, 137, 148, 161. 
6 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, DOC 416 at 41:6-7. 
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A. The Court Finds That Fees Are Not Appropriate Under The 
2019 Offer of Judgment  

 
As there were two Offers of Judgment, the Court addresses each of them in 

turn.  With respect to the 2019 Offer, the Court has to consider what was known 

about the claims and defenses at the time the offer was made as well as other 

Beattie factors.   

1. The Court Finds That the First Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Plaintiff. 

First, when considering whether Plaintiff’s claim was brought in good faith, 

the Court sees that at the time of the 2019 offer, while Plaintiff had lost on 

Summary Judgment on the statute of limitations on the 2003 claim, the 2008 claim 

was still in the early stages of the litigation from a timing standpoint as it had been 

newly added to the Complaint.7  This factor weighed in favor of it being pursued in 

good faith by Plaintiff.  

2. The Court Finds That the Second Beattie Factor 
Weighs in Favor of Defendant. 

 
When analyzing the second factor, the Court looks to whether Defendant’s 

2019 Offer of Judgment was reasonable and in good faith, both in its timing and 

amount.  As to timing, the Court considers that the Offer was made following the 

Summary Judgment ruling on the 2003 claim.8 The 2008 claim was just beginning 

in the case.9  At that time, the limitation of liability issue had not been resolved 

either.10  Accordingly, at the time the Offer was made, given the status of the case 

and what was known by Defendant, the timing component was reasonable.  

                                                           
7 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:6-16. 
8 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:20-23. 
9 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:23-24. 
10 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:23-57:2. 
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As to the amount offered of $50,000.00, the Court also sees that amount as 

reasonable and in good faith because $50,000.00 was consistent with the limitation 

of liability which was an issue that had not yet been resolved.11 Thus, the second 

factor would weigh in favor of Defendant’s offer being both reasonable and in good 

faith.  

3. The Court Finds That the Third Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Plaintiff. 

 
Next, the Court considers whether Plaintiff’s decision to reject the Offer and 

proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith.  Regardless of whether 

the Court looks at what issues actually went to trial, or could have gone to trial from 

a September 2019 lens before the statute of limitation issue was decided, or from 

the lens of considering Summary Judgment had been granted on the 2003 claim, 

and what the risk then was of the 2008 claim, the Court finds the factor weighs in 

favor of Plaintiff.12 At this juncture, there were appeal and writ opportunities 

available; the 2008 claim was still in its infancy in this case.13 The decision to reject 

the Offer at that time was not grossly unreasonable or in bad faith as there were still 

other avenues. 

4. The Court Need Not Reach the Fourth Beattie Factor.  

Lastly, the Court would consider whether the fees sought by the Offeror are 

reasonable and justified in amount.  Here, though, the Court finds it does not need 

to address whether the fees sought were reasonable and justified as two of the 

                                                           
11 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 56:20-57:2. 
12 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 57:3-58:25. 
13 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 57:3-58:25. 
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three preceding Beattie factors weighed in favor of Plaintiff.  In sum, the Court finds 

that fees would not be appropriate under the 2019 Offer of Judgment.14 

B. The Court Finds That Fees Are Appropriate Under the 2021 
Offer of Judgment  
  

The Court next considers the 2021 Offer of Judgment which was also for 

$50,000.00 exclusive of fees, interest, and costs to determine if that Offer  meets 

the requisite criteria to impose fees against Plaintiff.  

1. The Court Finds That the First Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Defendant. 

 
The Court first considers whether the Plaintiff’s claim was brought in good 

faith.  The Court finds that at the time of the 2021 Offer, there was an existing ruling 

from the Nevada Supreme Court and the prior the Summary Judgment ruling on 

the 2003 claim.  Further, the parties had the intervening time to flush out the issues 

that eventually went to trial.  Thus, given the posture of the remaining claim, the 

Court finds that the first factor weighs in favor of Defendant.15  

2. The Court Finds That the Second Beattie Factor 
Weighs in Favor of Defendant. 

 
The Court next looks to whether the 2021 Offer was reasonable and in good 

faith in both its timing and amount.  As to amount, the Court considers that there 

was the issue of the same limitation of liability as with the 2019 Offer; and thus, the 

$50,000.00 would still be appropriate in light of the matters still at issue.16 The 

Court also evaluated the nature of the claims including that it was uncontested in 

the case that there was no work done by PwC in the intervening five years between 

                                                           
14 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 59:1-6. 
15 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:3-8. 
16 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:9-17. 
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Plaintiff’s 2003 and 2008 issues.  The Court also had to look at the fact that Plaintiff 

was premising his liability claim on potential duties he asserted PWC owed him 

retrospectively without there being any duty triggered from actual work performed.17 

The 2021 Offer also followed the Nevada Supreme Court’s ruling in Defendant’s 

favor pertaining to that limitation of liability, along with the prior Summary Judgment 

on the 2003 claim.  In light of the procedural posture and facts, the Court finds that 

the timing of the 2021 Offer of Judgment was in good faith.18 The second factor, 

thus, weighs in favor of Defendant.  

3. The Court Finds That the Third Beattie Factor Weighs 
in Favor of Defendant. 

 
Then the Court must consider whether the Plaintiff’s decision to reject the 

Offer and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith.  Here, the Court 

does find that the rejection of the 2021 Offer was grossly unreasonable.  At the time 

of the 2021 Offer, there was the benefit of knowledge of all of the proceedings in 

the tax court and other courts up to that point and Plaintiff also had the benefit of 

the opinions of top tax experts in the field.19 The Court must also consider if Plaintiff 

had a reasonable expectation based on the evidence known, whether he would 

meet his burden would at trial.  At the time of the 2021 Offer, Plaintiff was aware of 

at least three hurdles.  First, there was a statute of limitations issue.  Second, even 

if duty, breach, causation, and damages were proven, then Plaintiff would still need 

to prove a type of retrospective fraud.  Third, per the agreement, Plaintiff would also 

                                                           
17 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:23-61:5. 
18 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 60:9-61:6. 
19 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 61:7-61:18. 
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need to meet the burden of establishing gross negligence.20 Plaintiff also was 

pursuing an action premised on the finding of a failure to act retrospectively, with no 

supporting case law.21 For those reasons the Court finds that the third Beattie factor 

was not met as to reasonableness of proceeding to trial and the factor then weighs 

in favor of Defendant.  

The remaining question is whether the fees sought were reasonable and 

justified. 

4. The Fees Sought by the Offeror are reasonable and 
justified in amount, as reduced by the Court.  

 
  In In light of Defendant meeting its burden on the first three factors, the next 

step the Court must then determine if “whether the fees sought by the offeror are 

reasonable and justified in amount.” Beattie, 99 Nev. at 588-89, 688 P.2d at 274 

(1983).  

 In so doing, the Court engages in a multi- step process.  First, the Court 

must determine what method should be used to calculate the fees amount given 

the multiple methods used by Defendant’s various counsel.  Second, the Court 

must analyze the amount requested utilizing the appropriate method to determine 

what is the reasonable and necessary amount that Defendant should be awarded 

and ensure that the amount was actually incurred in accordance with applicable 

law.    

 

 

                                                           
20 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 61:19-63:13. 
21 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 63:3-63:13. 

009



 

10 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

a. The Court Finds a Lodestar Calculation to be 
the Proper Method of Fee Calculation in This 
Case    

The Court may use any method to calculate a reasonable amount of fees, 

including a lodestar amount based on the hourly rates charged by each counsel 

or contingency fee pursuant to Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holdings Corp., 121 

Nev. 837, 864 (2005).  Defendant’s counsels’ law firms utilize two different 

methods for calculating their fees: Bartlit Beck utilized a flat fee, and Snell & 

Wilmer utilized an hours billed/lodestar calculation.  As set forth in the Motion, 

Bartlit Beck billed on a monthly flat-fee basis, and did a separate daily flat fee for 

hearings and their preparation.22 The Motion noted that “[s]hould this Court 

determine that the total fee amount is unreasonable, it may calculate a 

reasonable fee based on any other method, including the lodestar method, which 

would account for the ‘hours reasonably spent on the case’ multiplied ‘by a 

reasonable hourly rate.’”23 The Court does not find that the method of using a flat 

fee is comparable to a contingency fee with zero risk factor.  Instead, the first 

method proposed by Bartlitt Beck tries to cap fees which may be desirable 

between an attorney and its client, but such a method does not consider what 

would be reasonable under Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 

455 P.2d 31 (1969).24  Instead, the Court finds that a lodestar approach taking 

into account billing records to be a more appropriate method in considering what 

work was really reasonable and necessary from the 2021 Offer of Judgment 

onward.25 As set forth above, the Court deferred on ruling on the fee amount to 

                                                           
22 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs DOC 427 18:4-8; 
Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 filed 
under seal). 
23 PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs DOC 427 18:9-11 (citing 
to Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holding Corp., 121 Nev. 837, 864 n.98, 124 P.3d 530, 549 n. 98 
(2005). 
24 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 65:14-66:1. 
25 May 30, 2023, Hearing Transcript at 66:9-22. 
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allow the parties time until late July 2023 to either come to an agreement as to an 

appropriate fee amount or to propose alternate fee amounts that the Court could 

consider.  
b. The  Reasonable Hourly Rate and Reasonable 

Number of Hours for the Work Performed 

 The second step of the analysis is for the Court to determine what the 

reasonable hourly rate is for each of the counsel and legal team.  The Court then 

determines what are the reasonable number of hours for each of the individuals 

for whom fees are sought.  

 Defendant in their Motion for Attorney’s Fees seeks $662,029.40 post-

Offer fees for the work of Snell & Wilmer, and $9,171,309.00 post-Offer fees for 

the work of Bartlit Beck.  Although the Court provided the parties an opportunity 

to try and seek an agreement on the fee amount, the parties were unable to 

agree.  Instead, each party submitted its own proposed fee amount that is sought 

the Court to award.  

Plaintiff initially proposed that Defendant was entitled to $370,448.50 in 

fees for work by Snell & Wilmer only, and no fees for Bartlit Beck due to lack of 

information as to the tasks billed and no detail as to time spent on any given task. 

Within that proposal, the number of hours billed by Snell & Wilmer of 975.0 was 

agreed to, but different rates were proposed.  In a subsequent letter, Plaintiff then 

proposed that the Court should award $555,000.00 in fees for Bartlit Beck, the 

number was based on a rounded-up calculation of a 1.5 times multiplier of the 

975.0 hours incurred by Snell & Wilmer at Plaintiff’s proposed hourly average 

rate of $375.00 per hour.  

 Defendant proposed a total of $2,284,357.48 in fees, broken down with 

$1,857,338.68 sought for Bartlit Beck, using a lodestar calculation at the same 

rates used for local counsel Snell & Wilmer, and then sought $427,018.80 for 

011



 

12 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

Snell & Wilmer.  The Court must consider the factors articulated in Brunzell v. 

Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969) to assess 

what a reasonable hourly rate and reasonable number of hours are for the work 

performed in this case.  

When determining a fee amount under Beattie, the Court also needs to look 

to Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 

(1969) which sets forth factors the Court can consider to ascertain a reasonable 

fee amont.  Pursuant to Brunzell and its progeny, the Court inter alia, considers (1) 

the qualities of the advocate: his ability, his training, education, experience, 

professional standing and skill; (2) the character of the work to be done: its 

difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time and skill required, the responsibility 

imposed and the prominence and character of the parties when they affect the 

importance of the litigation; (3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: 

the skill,  time and attention given to the work; (4) the result: whether the 

attorney was successful and what benefits were derived.  Brunzell v. Golden Gate 

National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969) (emphasis in original, 

internal quotation omitted). 

 
i. A Reduced Fee Award for Snell & Wilmer is 

Appropriate Under Brunzell   
 

a. The Qualities of the Advocate: their 
ability, their training, education, 
experience, professional standing and 
skill. 

Defendant set forth the qualities of the advocates, supported by 

declarations of Counsel.  The qualifications of each of the defense counsel were 

not disputed.  Counsel for Snell & Wilmer included Patrick G. Byrne, Esq.; 

Bradley T. Austin, Esq.; Kelly H. Dove, Esq.; Erin Gettel, Esq.; Gil Kahn, Esq.; 
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Christian P. Ogata, Esq.; and Skylar N. Arakawa-Pamphilon, Esq.  Work was 

also performed by Dawn Davis, Esq.; V.R. Bohman, Esq.; and Michael Paretti, 

Esq.; however, Defendant did not seek fees of those attorneys.26 

Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. graduated from law school in 1988, is a partner in 

the Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation group, has extensive litigation 

experience, and billed at $515.00, $617.50, $637.00, $662.00, and $695.00.27 

Bradley T. Austin, Esq. graduated from law school in 2013, is a partner in Snell & 

Wilmer’s commercial litigation group, experienced in complex business, civil, and 

commercial disputes, and billed at $280.00, $380.00, $410.00, $426.00, and 

$447.00 per hour.28 Kelly H. Dove, Esq. graduated from law school in 2007, is a 

partner in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation group, is experienced in litigation 

and appellate work, and billed at $635.00 and $660.00 per hour.29 Erin Gettel, 

Esq. graduated law school in 2015 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s 

commercial litigation group and billed at $385.00 per hour.30 Gil Kahn, Esq. 

graduated law school in 2016 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial 

litigation group who bills at $320.00 per hour; however, despite providing a 

Brunzell analysis for Mr. Kahn, there were no billing entries attributed to him in 

the provided invoices.31 Christian P. Ogata, Esq. graduated from law school in 

2020 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation group and 

                                                           
26 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:18-22. 
27 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 014:11-21. 
28 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 014:22-015:3. 
29 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 015:04-15. 
30 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 015:16-22. 
31 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 015:23-016:2. 
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billed at $345.00 per hour.32 Skylar N. Arakawa-Pamphilon, Esq. graduated from 

law school in 2021 and is an associate in Snell & Wilmer’s commercial litigation 

group and billed at $323.00 per hour.33 Snell & Wilmer also utilized paralegals 

that all possessed bachelor’s degrees and paralegal certification.34 The Court 

finds that Defendant’s counsel at Snell & Wilmer are experienced and qualified 

and that the rates are generally customary for this type of specific work for most 

of the tasks performed. 

b. The Character of the Work Performed 

Plaintiff, in its Opposition to PwC’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs 

(DOC 444), challenged the character of the work and work actually performed 

due to generic descriptions contained in the billing.  The Court reviewed the 

record as to what work was completed after October 6, 2021, the work’s intricacy 

and importance, and time and skill required.  The matter involved complex 

analysis of professional tax services, tax liability and damages.  Overall, Defense 

counsel was effective as demonstrated by the results.  The issue is whether 

some of the work which based on the more general time entries was not as 

complex could have been done by a person at a lower rate. 
 

c. An Award of Attorney’s Fees is 
Reasonable Based on the Work Actually 
Performed 

As noted above, Plaintiff, in its Opposition to PwC’s Motion for Attorneys’ 

Fees and Costs (DOC 444) challenged the work actually performed. The parties 

came to an agreement as to the total number of hours billed overall by Snell & 

                                                           
32 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:3-10. 
33 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:11-17. 
34 Declaration of Bradley T. Austin, Esq. in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 
428 BATES 016:23-26. 
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Wilmer of 975.00 in the correspondence submitted to the Court July 11, 2023.  

The number agreed upon was comprised of 104.20 hours billed by Patrick G. 

Byrne, Esq.; 717.90 hours billed by Bradley T. Austin, Esq.; 3.40 hours billed by 

Kelly H. Dove, Esq.; 9.40 hours billed by Erin Gettel, Esq.; 56.40 hours billed by 

Christian P. Ogata, Esq.; 5.30 hours billed by Skylar N. Arakawa-Pamphilon, 

Esq.; 0.50 hours billed by Dawn Davis, Esq.; 53.60 hours billed by Kathy 

Casford; 1.10 hours billed by Sev Redd; and 23.20 hours billed by Deborah 

Shuta.  Due to the nature of the case and character of the work done, with the 

agreed-upon number of hours, the Court finds that the rates sought are 

customary and reasonable in light of this particular case but that some of the 

work that was not as complex based on the general time entries could have been 

done by a person with a lower billing rate.  Thus, the Court finds it appropriate to 

grant fees for the work performed by Snell & Wilmer in the amount of 

$407,018.80. 

d. The Outcome Obtained for Defendant 

It is undisputed that Defendant prevailed.  In light of the foregoing 

analysis, the Court finds that the Brunzell factors are met.  The parties agreed as 

to the number of hours sought of 975.00.  The Court further finds that most of the 

rates are customary with prevailing rates of other attorneys in Nevada with 

similar qualifications but the Court had to reduce the total award due to the 

general time entries which did not demonstrate that the work could have been 

performed by someone at a lower rate.  Based on all of the factors and discretion 

of the Court, considering the nature of the work performed, the Court finds that 

the $407,018.80 of fees sought for Snell & Wilmer is reasonable and appropriate. 
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ii. The Fee Award for Bartlit Beck Must Be 
Evaluated Under a Lodestar Analysis and 
Appropriately Reduced  

As set forth above, $9,171,309.00 post-Offer fees were initially sought for 

the work of Bartlit Beck.  A supplemental declaration and monthly descriptions 

summarizing the work performed were provided as exhibits in support of the 

correspondence submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023.  The Supplemental 

Declaration of Mr. Levine set forth that internal data reflected 4,200 hours during 

the relevant time frame and an average blended rate of $700.00 per hour.  This 

rate was reached by counsel utilizing the local Nevada rates of Snell & Wilmer.  

In its proposal, counsel provided a lodestar calculation adopting the effective 

hourly rates of local counsel, noting that the proposed rate was based on the 

average weighted rates actually billed by Snell & Wilmer given that Snell & 

Wilmer counsel had rate increases during the relevant time frame resulting in a 

range of rates being used for some counsel.  The average rates proposed were 

as follows: $664.76 for Mark Levine, Esq. and Christopher Landgraff; $429.95 for 

Katharine Roin, Esq. and Daniel Taylor, Esq.; $377.34 for Alexandra Genord, 

Esq.; and $251.00 for both Lori Barnicke and Kim Solorzano.  The updated 

lodestar amount provided based on the foregoing was $1,857,338.68.  
 

a. The Qualities of the Advocate: their 
ability, their training, education, 
experience, professional standing and 
skill. 

As noted above, the qualifications of Counsel was not contested.  Counsel 

for Bartlit Beck included Mark Levine, Esq.; Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq.; 

Katharine A. Roin, Esq.; Daniel C. Taylor, Esq.; Sundeep K. (Rob) Addy, Esq.; 

Alexandra Genord, Esq.; and Krista Perry, Esq.  Mark Levine, Esq. graduated 

from law school in 1989, is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Chicago office, and is an 
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experienced litigator and well qualified.35 Christopher D. Landgraff, Esq. 

graduated from law school in 1994, is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Chicago office, and 

has a wealth of litigation experience.36 Katharine A. Roin, Esq. graduated from 

law school in 2010, is a partner in Bartlit Beck’s Chicago office, and has 

experience as co-lead counsel in litigation.37 Daniel C. Taylor, Esq. also 

graduated from law school in 2010, and is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Denver office, 

with experience on multiple trial teams.38 Sundeep K. (Rob) Addy, Esq. 

graduated law school in 2004, and is partner in Bartlit Beck’s Denver office, and 

has experience in multiple multi-million and billion-dollar cases.39 Alexandra 

Genord, Esq. graduated from law school in 2020 and is an associate in Bartlit 

Beck’s Chicago office.40 Krista Perry, Esq. graduated from law school in 2016 

and was formerly an associate with Bartlit Beck.41 Bartlit Beck also utilized 

paraprofessional and support staff whose qualifications were not detailed. 

The Court notes that fees were originally requested for Mr. Addy, and 

pursuant to the correspondence submitted to the Court July 11, 2023, as part of 

the efforts of the parties to reach an agreeable fee amount, Defendant agreed to 

remove all fees incurred by Mr. Addy (who initially sought $388,884.60).  In an 

effort to provide an appropriate lodestar calculation, Defendant also proposed 

utilizing the same rates as Snell & Wilmer to be consistent with the local market. 

                                                           
35 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 136:6-13). 
36 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 136:14-19). 
37 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 136:20-7:2). 
38 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:3-9). 
39 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:10-16). 
40 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:17-21). 
41 Declaration of Mark L. Levine in Support of Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (DOC 429 
filed under seal BATES 137:22-25). 
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The rates proposed by Defendant, as set forth above, were as follows: $664.76 

per hour for Mark Levine, Esq., and Christopher Landgraff, Esq.; $429.95 per 

hour for Katharine Roin, Esq., and Daniel Taylor, Esq.; $377.34 per hour for 

Alexandra Genord, Esq.; and $251.00 per hour for Lori Barnicke and Kim 

Solorzano.  No Brunzell analysis was provided for Barnicke or Solorzano.  Based 

on review of the record, the Court cannot guess as to their qualifications or the 

basis of how fees were sought for their work. The proposal did not include a rate 

for Krista Perry, Esq.  As articulated above, and in the declarations supporting 

the Motion, the Court finds Defendant’s counsel has met the first Brunzell factor 

other than as specifically stated.  

b. The Character of the Work Performed 

The Court reviewed the record as to what work was completed after 

October 6, 2021, the work’s intricacy and importance, and time and skill required. 

The matter involved complex analysis of professional tax services, tax liability 

and damages.  The Court also had to look at what work was done by Snell & 

Wilmer firm and what work was done by Bartlit Beck.  Defense counsel was 

effective as demonstrated by the results as discussed infra. 
 

c. An Award of Reduced Attorney’s Fees is 
Reasonable Based on the Work Actually 
Performed 

As noted above, Plaintiff, in its Opposition to PwC’s Motion for Attorneys’ 

Fees and Costs, challenged the work actually performed (DOC 444).  Plaintiff 

maintained that due to the flat fee billing, lack of hourly time records, and no 

tasks identified with the amount of time dedicated to the task provided, no fees 

should be awarded beyond the amount proposed for Snell & Wilmer fees.  The 

initial records provided did not contain hourly descriptions of the work performed 

due to the billing structure of the firm.  A supplemental declaration and monthly 
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descriptions summarizing the work performed were provided as exhibits in 

support of the correspondence submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023.  The 

Supplemental Declaration of Mr. Levine set forth that internal data reflected 

4,200 hours during the relevant time frame and an average blended rate of 

$700.00 per hour.  Additionally, a description was provided for tasks done that 

month.  December 2021 included preparing status reports, reviewing the 

mandamus decision, preparing for and attending hearings, drafting briefs, and 

preparing for argument at an upcoming hearing.  January 2022 included working 

on briefs and preparing for and attending an Evidentiary Hearing.  February 2022 

included preparing for Evidentiary Hearing and associated briefing and attending 

the hearing.  March 2022 included drafting briefs, preparing witnesses, and 

attending an Evidentiary Hearing.  April 2022 included drafting proposed Orders, 

mandamus hearings, preparing Motions and preparing for hearings, as well as 

communications with various parties.  May 2022 included work on the Reply in 

support of Summary Judgment.  June 2022 included preparation and attendance 

at the summary judgment hearing and planning for pretrial work.  July 2022 

included preparing exhibits, deposition designations, trial preparations, and 

drafting pretrial memorandum.  August 2022 similarly included trial preparation 

including witness, exhibit, deposition preparation, preparing objections, trial 

briefs, and other drafts.  September 2022 included witness meetings and 

preparation, and further work on pretrial documents.  October 2022 included 

preparation for trial and attendance at pretrial matters.  November 2022 included 

the trial fees at $50,000.00 per day for 10 days.  December 2022 included 

preparing Orders from trial and drafting proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law. A breakdown was also given by each counsel for hours 

billed in each month.  
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The Court evaluates the hours billed by the three trial counsel in October 

and November 2022 when the trial occurred.  Mark Levine, Esq. billed 145 hours; 

Chris Landgraff, Esq. billed 161.90; and Katharine Roin, Esq. billed 184.00.  The 

Court is fully appreciative that counsel is highly qualified and this was a complex 

matter, but the Court also considers whether all three counsel were required for 

all tasks at trial.  Considering all of these factors, the Court finds it appropriate to 

reduce the hours for Landgraff to 121.90, for Levine to 130.00, and for Roin to 

142.00.  The Court also considers that Alexandra Genord, Esq. billed 180.48 

hours in October 2022 and 182.37 hours in November 2022.  In light of the hours 

spent by the trial counsel, the Court does not see a basis for the total amount 

sought in that time period given that Ms. Genord is an associate, and appears to 

have come into the case only in October 2022, and in those two months billed 

over 362 hours.  The Court finds it appropriate to reduce the hours to for that 

time period.  The Court also considers that there is a lack of support for work 

performed by Lori Barnicke and Kim Solorzano and there was no detail as to 

their qualifications or anything for the Court to analyze based on the pleadings. 

The Court finds that there is insufficient support in the application to justify the 

176.25 hours sought by Lori Barnicke and 158.50 hours sought by Kim 

Solorzano for November 22, 2022.  Thus, the Court finds it appropriate to reduce 

the hours to zero as Brunzell and Beattie require the Court to evaluate each 

individual for whom fees are sought and the Court cannot do so based on the 

lack of information provided.   

d. The Outcome Obtained for Defendant 

It is undisputed that Defendant prevailed.  The Court, thus, finds that it is 

appropriate to award fees to Bartlit Beck; however, the overall fees do need to be 

reduced both in amount and in hours and $1,695,735.59 is appropriate. 
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In sum, based on the foregoing, the Court awards fees in the amount of 

$407,018.80 for Snell & Wilmer and $1,695,735.59 for Bartlit Beck. 
 
III. Defendant’s Request for Costs and Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax And 

Costs.  

The February 9, 2023, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth 

that that “any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed 

Motion.”42 On February 14, 2023, Defendant PwC timely filed a Verified 

Memorandum of Costs (DOC 417), and Appendix thereto (DOC 418).  Then on 

February 15, 2023, the parties then filed a Stipulation and Order to Extend Time 

to File Memorandum of Costs and Motion to Retax (DOC 419).  Thereafter, on 

February 24, 2023, Defendant filed an Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs 

(DOC 422) and Appendix thereto (DOC 423), seeking a total of $921,833.58 in 

costs.  Plaintiff then filed Tricarichi’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended 

Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 424).  Defendant filed an Opposition to 

Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs (DOC 440) on March 31, 2023.  Pursuant to 

NRS 18.020(3), costs must be awarded to the prevailing party against any 

adverse party in an action where Plaintiff sought to recover more than $2,500.00. 

In this action, Plaintiff was seeking far in excess of that amount.  Following 

conclusion of the bench trial, Judgment was entered in favor of Defendant and 

Plaintiff was awarded nothing from his Complaint.43 Thus, an award of costs is 

appropriate here. 

Additionally, as set forth at the May 30, 2023, hearing, costs sought under 

NRS 18 pre-date the 2021 Offer of Judgment; and thus, the statute is the basis of 

the award of costs.  As the Court has found that the elements of NRCP 68 were 

                                                           
42 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law at P. 41, DOC 416 filed February 9, 2023, Notice of Entry 
of Order thereof DOC 420 filed February 22, 2023. 
43 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law at P. 41, DOC 416 filed February 9, 2023, Notice of Entry 
of Order thereof DOC 420 filed February 22, 2023. 
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met based on the 2021 Offer of Judgment, NRCP 68 provides an independent 

basis for costs incurred after the 2021 Offer of Judgment.  Although both the NRS 

and the NRCP provide independent basis for costs post the 2021 Offer, as those 

amounts are not cumulative, the Court analyzes the total costs that are to be 

awarded utilizing the statutory framework. 44 
 

A. Defendant Was the Prevailing Party Pursuant to NRS 18 et seq.  
 

1. Based on the Documentation and 
Applicable Authority, Defendant’s Cost 
Request is Reduced. 

 
NRS 18.005 allows recovery of the following amounts: 

(1)      Clerks’ fees. 
(2)      Reporters’ fees for depositions, including a reporter’s    

fee for one copy of each deposition. 
(3)      Jurors’ fees and expenses, together with reasonable 

compensation of an officer appointed to act in 
accordance with NRS 16.120. 

(4)      Fees for witnesses at trial, pretrial hearings and 
deposing witnesses, unless the court finds that the 
witness was called at the instance of the prevailing 
party without reason or necessity. 

(5)      Reasonable fees of not more than five expert 
witnesses in an amount of not more than $1,500 for 
each witness, unless the court allows a larger fee 
after determining that the circumstances surrounding 
the expert’s testimony were of such necessity as to 
require the larger fee. 

(6)      Reasonable fees of necessary interpreters 
(7)      The fee of any sheriff or licensed process server for 

the delivery or service of any summons or subpoena 
used in the action, unless the court determines that 
the service was not necessary. 

(8)      Compensation for the official reporter or reporter pro 
tempore. 

(9)      Reasonable costs for any bond or undertaking 
required as part of the action. 

                                                           
44 May 30, 2023 Transcript DOC 448 at 73:15-18. 
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(10) Fees of a court baliff or deputy marshal who was     
required to work overtime. 

(11) Reasonable costs for telecopies. 
(12) Reasonable costs for photocopies. 
(13) Reasonable costs for long distance telephone   calls. 
(14) Reasonable costs for postage. 
(15) Reasonable costs for travel and lodging incurred 

taking depositions and conducting discovery. 
(16) Fees charged pursuant to NRS 19.0335. 
(17) Any other reasonable and necessary expense 

incurred in connection with the action, including 
reasonable and necessary expenses for 
computerized services for legal research.  

 

Applicable case law provides that any award of costs must be 

“reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred, and supported by justifying 

documentation submitted to the Court.  In re Dish Network, 133 Nev. 438, 452, 

401 P.3d 1081, 1093 (2017); Cadle v. Woods & Erickson, LLP, 131 Nev. 114, 

120-121, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015);  Bobby Berosini, Ltd. v. PETA, 114 Nev. 

1348, 1352-53, 971 P.2d 383, 386 (1998); Fairway Chevrolet Company v. 

Kelley,484 P.3d 276 (Nev. 2021) (unpublished). As set forth in Cadle, sufficient 

documentation requires more than an itemized memorandum, there must be 

evidence presented to substantiate the cost requested. 131 Nev. at 120-121, 345 

P.3d at 1054-1055 (2015).  The Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 

422) sought the following costs: 
a. Reporters’ Fees for Depositions, 

Hearings, and Trial 

Reporters’ fees requested are broken down by the amount sought by each 

firm representing Defendant and by the type of reporter fees.  Defendant seeks 

$73,354.31 for reporters’ fees for depositions incurred by the Bartlit Beck firm 

under NRS 18.005(2).  The amount included $59,221.51 for deposition 

transcripts and $15,554.11 for daily transcript fees for the Trial.  The Court 

considers North Las Vegas Infrastructure Investment and Construction, LLC v. 
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City of North Las Vegas, 139 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 525 P.3d 836 (2023).  There, 

costs for videotaped depositions were denied because the depositions were not 

used at trial and there was no explanation of why the videos were necessary. 

The Court notes that here, Plaintiff challenges, within the reporters’ costs for the 

depositions, optional reporting services such as RealTime, rush fees, and 

videotaping. 

 Invoices for deposition transcripts were provided for services dated 

August 3, 2020, for $750.00, $443.50, and $1,382.15 including a $175.00 

Realtime Setup Fee and $239.80 Realtime Over Internet Fee; August 4, 2020, 

for $2,481.20 including a $695.20 Realtime Over Internet fee, and $665.00 

including a $190.00 rush fee; August 11, 2020, for $1,100.00, $641.50, and 

$2,280.85 including a $175 Realtime Setup Fee and $385.00 Realtime Over 

Internet Fee; August 18, 2020, for $542.50, $925.00, and $1,478.75 including a 

$175.00 Realtime Setup Fee and a $204.60 Realtime Over Internet Fee,; August 

19, 2020, for $542.50, $925.00, and $1,878.10 including a $175.00 Realtime 

Setup Fee and $325.60 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 1, 2020, for 

$805.00, $1,317.40, and $1,176.75; September 16, 2020, for $1,450.00, 

$839.50, and $4,064.20 which included a $175.00 Realtime Setup Fee and a 

$576.40 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 17, 2020, for $685.00 for 

videography services for the deposition of Mark Boyer, and $2,683.90 which also 

included a $424.60 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 18, 2020, for $635.00, 

and $2,023.50 which included a $367.40 Realtime Over Internet fee; September 

22, 2020, for $610.00 and $2,233.50 which included a $446.60 Realtime Over 

Internet fee; September 25, 2020, for $790.00, $1,362.50, and $3,555.90 which 

included a $175.00 Realtime Setup Fee and $565.40 Realtime Over Internet fee; 

September 29, 2020, for $490.00 and $1,638.90 which included a $301.40 

Realtime Over Internet Fee; September 30, 2020, for $2,750.30 which included a 
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$550.00 Realtime Over Internet fee; October 1, 2020, for $988.00, $1,712.50 for 

videography services for the deposition of Michael Tricarichi, for $3,665.90, 

$780.00 for videography services for the deposition of Kenneth Harris, and for 

$2,675.70 which included a $492.80 Realtime Over Internet fee; October 9, 

2020, for $2,050.70 including a $567.60 Realtime Over Internet fee, and $780.00 

for videography services for the deposition of Brian Meighan.  Invoices for daily 

transcript fees for trial are provided dated October 31, 2022, for $1,830.84; 

November 2, 2022, for $1,140.26; November 3, 2022, for $2,039.62; November 

4, 2022, for $1,919.17; November 5, 2022, for $939.51; November 9, 2022, for 

$1,718.42; November 10, 2022, for $1,862.96 and $2,682.02, and November 11, 

2022 for $1,421.31.  

While under NRCP 68, the costs pre-dating the 2021 Offer of Judgment 

would not be recoverable.  Here, the deposition costs are allowable under NRS 

18 and, in general, are supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, 

necessary, and actually incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, 

Berosini, and Fairway.  Based on the invoices provided, $57,800.20 in deposition 

transcripts incurred by Bartlit Beck is supported; however, that amount includes a 

$190.00 in rush fees, $7,192.40 in Realtime Fees, and $3,957.50 in videography 

services for depositions, which the Court finds would not be appropriate.  Nothing 

is provided be Defendant showing that these extra reporter services were 

reasonable and necessary to this case.  The Court then also considers and finds 

that the invoices provided support the $15,554.11 sought for daily transcript fees. 

Therefore, the Court finds that $62,014.41 in reporters’ and transcript fees 

incurred by Bartlit Beck is appropriate under NRS 18. 

Defendant also seeks $4,894.97 in Reporters’ Fees for Hearings incurred 

by Snell & Wilmer under NRS 18.005(8).  Invoices are provided for hearings 

dated November 16, 2016, for $270.54 and $80.00; May 10, 2017, for $318.53; 
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September 24, 2018, for $169.63 and $40.00; March 21, 2019, for $42.07; July 8, 

2019, for $144.54 and $40.00; March 31, 2020, for $168.63 for an expedited 

transcript; March 24, 2022, for $40.00; March 30, 2022, for $120.00; March 31, 

2022, for $1,216.93 and for $120.00; June 13, 2022, for $186.31 for an expedited 

transcript; October 25, 2022, for $725.16; November 16, 2022, for $944.38; and 

December 27, 2022, for $268.25.  

While, under NRCP 68, the costs pre-dating 2021 Offer of Judgment 

would not be recoverable, here the hearing and trial costs are allowable under 

NRS 18 and are supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, 

necessary, and actually incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, 

Berosini, and Fairway.  Based on the invoices provided, the Court finds that the 

amount sought for reporters’ fees for hearings is supported; however, as noted 

above, some invoices indicate expedited fees without a basis provided for the 

rush charge. Therefore, the Court finds it must reduce the amount to account for 

the rush charges and that $4,540.03 is appropriate in reporters fees incurred by 

Snell & Wilmer for hearings. 

b. Printing, Copying, and Scanning 

Defendant seeks $5,468.66 for printing, copying, and scanning under NRS 

18.005(12).  Four separate invoices were provided: an October 21, 2019, invoice 

for $1,252.46; a July 27, 2020, invoice for $380.00; an October 20, 2022, invoice 

for $2,354.70; and an October 31, 2022, invoice for $1,481.50. While, under 

NRCP 68, the costs pre-dating 2021 Offer of Judgment would not be 

recoverable, here the copying costs are allowable under NRS 18 and are 

supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, necessary, and actually 

incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, Berosini, and Fairway.  

The full $6,468.66 is, therefore, appropriate.  
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c. Travel and Lodging for Hearings and 
Depositions 

Defendant seeks $4,585.60 for travel and lodging costs incurred by Bartlit 

Beck associated with counsel traveling for hearings and depositions.  Defendant 

seeks the amount under NRS 18.005(15).  Invoices were provided for: 

September 4, 2020, travel by Christopher Landgraff for $1,339.65; September 4, 

2020, meals for Christopher Landgraff of $192.50; September 8, 2020, 

conference room, beverage service, and internet for $2,178.36; September 30, 

2022, travel for Christopher Landgraff for $464.53; September 30, 2022, air fare 

for Christopher Landgraff for $323.18; and September 30, 2022, meals for 

$87.38.  At the May 30, 2023, hearing the Court set forth that meals would not be 

appropriate to recover as counsel would have to eat regardless, and that hotel 

costs and tickets would not be appropriate, acknowledging that while parties 

have their choice of counsel, those costs are client driven based on their 

selection of counsel and Plaintiff should not have to bear additional cost for the 

choice of the Defendant.45 After the Court allowed time for the parties to reach an 

agreement as to fees and costs, per the correspondence submitted to the Court 

on July 11, 2023, counsel withdrew the request for travel and meal expenses. 

Thus, the Court need not address the initial travel and lodging and meal request. 

d. Pro Hac Vice Admissions 

Defendant seeks $5,000.00 in costs related to Pro Hac Vice Admissions 

incurred by Bartlit Beck and $3,700.00 in costs related to Pro Hac Vice 

Admissions incurred by Snell & Wilmer.  Defendant seeks these costs under 

NRS 18.005(17) as an “other” reasonable and necessary expense.  Invoices 

were provided for Application fees, Pro Hac Vice fees, and Annual Renewal 

Fees.  Plaintiff challenged the cost in its entirety as not authorized under NRS 

                                                           
45 May 30, 2023, Transcript DOC 448 at 73:19-74:11. 

027



 

28 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

18.46 At the May 30, 2023, hearing the Court stated the cost would not be 

appropriate as it was counsel’s choice to associate pro hac counsel.47 After the 

Court allowed time for the parties to reach an agreement as to fees and costs, 

per the correspondence submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023, counsel 

withdrew the request for Pro Hac Vice fees.  Thus, the Court need not address 

the initial Pro Hac Vice fee request. 

e. Clerk’s Fees 

Defendant seeks $3,386.00 in Clerk’s Fees under NRS 18.005(1).  The 

register of actions was provided showing filing fees on July 11, 2016, for 

$1,483.00; March 6, 2017, for $200.00; August 12, 2019, for $223.00; November 

13, 2020, for $200.00; April 28, 2022, for $200.00; June 13, 2022, for $40.00; 

October 24, 2022, for $120.00; and November 16, 2022, for $920.00.  While 

under NRCP 68 the fees pre-dating 2021 Offer of Judgment would not be 

recoverable, here, the Clerk’s fees are allowable under NRS 18 and are 

supported by adequate documentation as reasonable, necessary, and actually 

incurred as required under In re Dish Network, Cadle, Berosini, and Fairway.  

The full $3,386.00 sought is, therefore, appropriate. 

f. Subpoena Costs 

Defendant seeks various costs associated with subpoenas consisting of 

Clerk’s Fees under NRS 18.005(1); Witness fees under NRS 18.005(4); Service 

of Subpoena under NRS 18.005(7); Messenger Services for Filing/Obtaining 

Foreign Subpoenas under NRS 18.005(17); for a total of $2,081.06.  Invoices are 

provided dated February 4, 2020, for $85.00 to serve a subpoena to Levin & 

Associates; February 7, 2020, for $215.00 for filing fees to issue a foreign 

                                                           
46 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 5:5-18. 
47 May 30, 2023, Transcript DOC 448 at 75:21-25. 
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subpoena; February 28, 2020, for $418.50 to serve a subpoena to Carla 

Tricarichi and Randy Hart; February 28, 2020, for $172.50 to serve a subpoena 

to James Tricarichi; February 28, 2020, for $110.00 for the messenger to the 

courthouse to serve the out-of-state subpoenas; March 20, 2020, for $275.00 for 

a court filing fee on the subpoena to Richard Corn; March 20, 2020, for $560.00 

for a court filing fee on the subpoena to Andrew Mason; May 20, 2020, for 

$120.00 for a court filing fee on the subpoena for Donald Korb; September 8, 

2020, for $84.00 for service of subpoena to Telecom Acquisition Corp.; and June 

13, 2022, for $41.06 in court fees.  While under NRCP 68 the fees pre-dating 

2021 Offer of Judgment would not be recoverable, here, the various subpoena 

costs are allowable under NRS 18 and are supported by adequate 

documentation as reasonable, necessary, and actually incurred as required 

under In re Dish Network, Cadle, Berosini, and Fairway.  The $2,081.06 sought is 

therefore appropriate. 

g. Mediator Fees and Messenger Fees 

Defendant seeks the costs under NRS 18.005(17) as an “other” 

reasonable and necessary expense for both Mediator Fees and Messenger 

Fees.  The Court addresses both in turn.  

Defendant seeks $3,850.00 for Mediation fees. Plaintiff challenged the 

cost as not authorized under NRS 18.48 At the May 30, 2023, hearing, counsel 

confirmed that the mediation was voluntary. 49  After the Court allowed time for 

the parties to reach an agreement as to fees and costs, per the correspondence 

submitted to the Court on July 11, 2023, counsel withdrew the request for 

Mediator fees.  Thus, the Court need not address the initial Mediator fee request. 

                                                           
48 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 5:5-18. 
49 May 30, 2023, Transcript DOC 448 at 72:19-73:14. 
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Defendant also seeks $1,226.00 in Messenger Services costs pursuant to 

NRS 18.005(17).  Receipts were provided for: September 20, 2016, for $37.00; 

September 21, 2016, for $47.00; September 27, 2016, for $94.00; August 11, 

2016, for $35.00; November 8, 2016, for $25.00; February 8, 2017, for $62.00; 

February 10, 2017, for $25.00; May 17, 2017, for $21.00; May 15, 2017, for 

$35.00; July 26-29, 2019, for $40.00; September 9-10, 2020, for $90.00; 

September 23, 2020, for $76.50; October 2, 2020, for $25.00; October 27-31, 

2022, for $350.00; March 25-28, 2022, for $152.50; June 6-10, 2022, for 

$111.00.  Plaintiff challenged the cost in its entirety as not authorized under NRS 

18.50  The Court finds that messenger fees are appropriate, per the statute, and 

supported by documentation for the hearings listed above and thus the Court 

awards $1,226.00. 

h. Expert Witness Fees 

Defendant seeks $814,286.98 in Expert Witness Fees for three experts. 

The amount sought is broken down as $84,655.50 for Joseph Leauanae; 

$36,584.25 for Arthur Dellinger; and $693,046.73 for Kenneth Harris.  Plaintiff 

challenged the amount in its entirety.  In the alternative, if fees were awarded, 

Plaintiff argued that costs should capped at $1,500.00 under NRS 18.005(5).51 At 

the May 30, 2023, hearing, the Court set forth that the amount sought needed to 

be reduced given overlap with the tax court issues, general advice, benefit of 

video, and what the experts needed to specifically look at and do.52 After the 

Court allowed time for the parties to reach an agreement as to fees and costs, 

                                                           
50 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 5:5-18. 
51 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax and Settle PWC’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 
414 at 3:19-5:4.  The Motion and all documents were provided to the Court prior to the Nevada 
Legislature’s amendedments to the Statute and thus the prior statutory amount applied.  Even 
utilizing the current 2023 statute, the Court’s analysis would be the same.  
52 May 30, 2023 Transcript DOC 448 at 74:12-75:20. 
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per the correspondence submitted to the Court July 11, 2023, defense counsel 

agreed to reduce the fee sought for Harris by 50 percent (50%), to $346,523.36.  

Plaintiff’s counsel still objected to that reduced amount. 

In Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 650-51, 357 P.3d 365, 377-78 (Nev. Ct. 

App. 2015), the Court of Appeals set forth that awarding expert witness fees 

more than $1,500.00 per expert requires an analysis of various factors, where 

“not all of these factors may be pertinent to every request for expert witness fees 

in excess of $1,500 per expert under NRS 18.005(5), and thus, the resolution of 

such requests will necessarily require a case-by-case examination of appropriate 

factors”:  

 
(1)  the importance of the expert’s testimony to the party’s 

case; 
(2)  the degree to which the expert’s opinion aided the trier 

of fact in deciding the case; 
(3)  whether the expert’s reports or testimony were 

repetitive of other expert witnesses; 
(4)  the extent and nature of the work performed by the 

expert; 
(5)  whether the expert had to conduct independent 

investigations or testing; 
(6)  the amount of time the expert spent in court, preparing 

a report, and preparing for trial; 
(7) the expert’s area of expertise; 
(8)  the expert’s education and training; 
(9)  the fee actually charged to the party who retained the 

expert; 
(10)  the fees traditionally charged by the expert on related 

matters; 
(11)  comparable experts’ fees charged in similar cases; 

and, 
(12)  if an expert is retained from outside the area where 

the trial is held, the fees and costs that would have 
been incurred to hire a comparable expert where the 
trial was held. 

Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 650-51, 357 P.3d 365, 377-78 (Nev. Ct. 

App. 2015).  The Court notes that there was no Frazier analysis provided in the 
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Verified Memorandum of Costs (DOC 417), nor the Amended Verified 

Memorandum of costs (DOC 424) beyond a footnote stating that the experts 

“have specialized and substantial knowledge in the foregoing field(s),” and that 

the cost was warranted because each expert “(1) prepared a comprehensive 

expert report, (2) sat for a deposition, and (3) testified at trial (and as such, 

incurred the additional time required to sufficiently prepare for both deposition 

and trial)” with the result being in Defendants’ favor.53 Nevertheless, PwC’s 

Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs (DOC 440) addressed the Frazier 

factors; and thus, the Court analyzes each as set forth below. 
 

i. The Court Finds That Most of the Frazier 
Factors Presented Are Met As To Expert 
Joseph Leauanae but Defendant Did Not 
Provide the Court With All the Required 
Information Pursuant to Frazier and 
Other Case Law and Thus, the Amount 
Sought Needs to Be Reduced. 

Defendant seeks $84,655.50 in expert fees for Joseph Leauanae.  Mr. 

Leauanae is a business appraiser and forensic accountant with over 25 years of 

experience in financial evaluation and litigation.54 Mr. Leauanae is a CPA in 

Nevada, Utah, and California, and has additional certifications in information 

technology, financial forensics, and as a fraud examiner.55 The nature of the 

work performed by Mr. Leauanae involved providing an opinion on economic 

damages of Plaintiff.56  Defendant set forth that Mr. Leauanae drafted an expert 

report, rebuttal report, was deposed, prepared demonstrative exhibits, and 

                                                           
53 Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 417 at 3 n.1; 
Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs DOC 422 at 3 n.2. 
54 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:5-14. 
55 Id. 
56 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:17-18. 
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testified at trial.57 No further details were provided in the analysis.  The reports 

and testimony were not repetitive as the three experts were opining from three 

different fields of expertise.  Defendant set forth that the independent 

investigation performed by Mr. Leauanae involved review of documents, 

pleadings, production, discovery, representations to the IRS, Plaintiff’s expert 

report on damages, and deposition transcripts.58 As to the time spent preparing a 

report, preparing for trial, and in court, Mr. Leauanae spent 317.50 hours at a 

rate of $375.00 per hour in 2020 through 2021, and $415.00 per hour in 2022, 

and provided invoices as to the time.59 Defendant provided nothing to show the 

fee charged was in accordance with those traditionally charged by the expert in 

related matters as it instead stated that, “this Court is well positioned to 

determine the reasonableness of the same based on its vast experience with 

similar experts in complex civil litigation matters as well as the submitted 

invoices.”60  While the Court has addressed numerous experts in a wide variety 

of settings, Frazier and the case law regarding costs in general, see e.g. In re 

Dish Network, 133 Nev. 438, 452, 401 P.3d 1081, 1093 (2017);  Cadle v. Woods 

& Erickson, LLP, 131 Nev. 114, 120-121, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (2015);  Bobby 

Berosini, Ltd. v. PETA, 114 Nev. 1348, 1352-53, 971 P.2d 383, 386 (1998); 

Fairway Chevrolet Company v. Kelley,484 P.3d 276 (Nev. 2021) (unpublished) 

all set forth that it is the responsibility of the party who is seeking the costs to 

provide the documentation and explanation necessary for the Court to fully 

analyze any costs sought.  In this case, Defendant has failed to provide any 

                                                           
57 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:20-22:1. 
58 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
22:21-23. 
59 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
24:11-15; 25:3-4. 
60 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
25:9-15. 
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information related to multiple Frazier factors.  As a result of Defendant’s 

decision to provide the Court only limited information, the Court can only take into 

account what was provided and reduces the cost allowed for Mr. Leauanae to 

$46,655.50.  
   

ii. The Court Finds That the Frazier Factors 
Are Met As To Expert Arthur Dellinger 

Defendant seeks $36,584.25 in expert fees for Arthur Dellinger.  Mr. 

Dellinger is a CPA with 53 years of experience with a specialty in tax matters.61 

As to the nature of the work performed, Dellinger provided an opinion on whether 

the standards for disclosures of errors applies to former clients.62 Defendant set 

forth that Mr. Dellinger drafted an expert report, rebuttal report, was deposed, 

prepared demonstrative exhibits, testified at trial, reviewed standards for tax 

services, conducted research, and reviewed information on the case provided by 

counsel.63 The reports and testimony were not repetitive as the three experts 

were opining from three different fields of expertise.  Defendant also sets forth 

that  the independent investigation performed by Mr. Dellinger was that he 

“extensively reviewed the statements on standards for tax services, conducted 

research, and reviewed case information provided by counsel”.64 Unlike Mr. 

Leauanae, however, Defense counsel did provide support of showing that the 

expert’s testimony was of significant importance to the decision.  Specifically, 

Defendant pointed to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and stated 

that it referenced the testimony of Mr. Dellinger on the standard of professional 

                                                           
61 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
20:7-12. 
62 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:16-17. 
63 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:20-22:4. 
64 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
22:19-20. 
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care and Statements on Standards for Tax Services.”65 As to the time spent 

preparing a report, preparing for trial, and in court, Mr. Dellinger spent 72.45 

hours at a rate of $500.00 per hour, and provided invoices as to the time.66 

Defendant provided nothing to show the fee charged was in accordance with 

those traditionally charged by the expert in related matters.  Instead, it again set 

forth that “this Court is well positioned to determine the reasonableness of the 

same based on its vast experience with similar experts in complex civil litigation 

matters as well as the submitted invoices.”67 Nevertheless, to support that the fee 

was comparable to what would have been incurred by a local expert, Defendant 

compared Dellinger’s rate of $500.00 to Plaintiff’s local expert, Greene’s, rate of 

$400.00 who has been practicing for roughly 15 less years than Dellinger.68 As a 

result of the more detailed analysis, the Court finds that there is enough support, 

pursuant to the case law and given the nature of the instant case, to award 

Defendant the entirety of the costs sought on behalf of Mr. Dellinger in the 

amount of $36,584.25. 
 

iii. The Court Finds That the Frazier Factors 
and Applicable Case Law Warrant a 
Reduction As to Expert Kenneth Harris 

Defendant initially sought $693,046.73 in expert fees for Kenneth Harris, 

and in the correspondence submitted to the Court wherein the parties sought to 

reach an agreement as to fees and costs Defendants had agreed to reduce the 

amount by 50 percent (50%) to $346,523.36.  Mr. Harris has practiced in tax law 

                                                           
65 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
23:15-16. 
66 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
24:6-10; 25:1. 
67 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
25:9-15. 
68 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
26:7-9. 
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for 35 years, with experience in mergers, acquisitions, spin offs, divestitures, and 

internal reorganizations.69 Mr. Harris also teaches tax law at Northwestern 

School of Law.70 As to the nature of the work performed, Defendant sparsely 

provided that Mr. Harris gave an opinion as to Defendant’s conduct in advising 

Plaintiff on the transaction.71 Defendant set forth the same description for all of its 

experts -- that Mr. Harris drafted an expert report, rebuttal report, was deposed, 

prepared demonstrative exhibits, and testified at trial.72 No further details were 

included in Defendant’s Frazier analysis as to this factor.  Defendant then 

addressed that the reports and testimony were not repetitive as the three experts 

were opining from three different fields of expertise.  In support of showing that 

the expert’s testimony was of significant importance to the decision, Defendant 

pointed to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law referencing the testimony 

of: “Mr. Harris twelve separate times when: (1) analyzing standard tax industry 

terms, (2) distinguishing facts between the Westside, Enbridge, and Marshall 

transactions, (3) interpreting Notice 2008-111, (4) interpreting of the Statements 

on Standards for Tax Services, (5) and analyzing PwC’s confidentiality 

obligations under applicable standards.”73  It is asserted by Defendant that Mr. 

Harris spent 1,089.90 hours preparing a report, preparing for trial, and in court at 

a rate of $775.00 per hour.  It did provide invoices as to the time, as noted in the 

Opposition, and it also contended that Harris also utilized lower billing associates 

at $525.00 per hour.74 It is not clear to the Court the role of the “billing 

                                                           
69 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
20:13-21:4. 
70 Id.  
71 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:18-19. 
72 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
21:20-22:1. 
73 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
23:11-14. 
74 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
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associates” or how those rates could be justified, pursuant to Nevada law, given 

the limited billing details provided.  Defendant also failed to provide anything to 

show the fee charged was in accordance with those traditionally charged by the 

expert in related matters, instead relying on the assertion that “this Court is well 

positioned to determine the reasonableness of the same based on its vast 

experience with similar experts in complex civil litigation matters as well as the 

submitted invoices.”75 Next, to support that the fee was comparable to what 

would have been incurred by a local expert, Defendant compared Harris’ rate of 

$775.00, and experience as an attorney since 1985, to its own retained counsel 

Mr. Byrne’s rate of $750.00 who has been practicing since 1988.76 The 

comparison provided by Defendant was a rate for an attorney, and while the 

Court acknowledges Mr. Harris is an attorney, no comparison was provided for 

what is the appropriate rate for an expert standard who plays a different role than 

counsel for the party.  In short, there was no analysis as what a comparable 

attorney acting in an expert capacity would charge in Nevada or Clark County. 

Considering the invoices provided, the fee summary description for Mr. Harris is 

listed under “Lawyer” and other lawyers at the firm are also listed as billing on the 

matter.  Based on the limited analysis given of the foregoing Frazier factors, the 

Court finds it appropriate to reduce the expert fee sought for Mr. Harris. 

 For example, some of the items in the invoices contain insufficient detail 

for the Court to consider, appear to be representation work beyond the scope 

necessary for an expert opinion, appear to be other parties conducting review for 

the expert, or appear to be duplicative intra-office conferencing with the expert, 

                                                                                                                                                                             
24:16-20; 25:5-6. 
75 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
25:9-15. 
76 Pricewaterhouse Cooper LLP’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Costs DOC 440 at 
26:5-7. 
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as further discussed below. The invoices reflect the billings of Mr. Harris (KLH) 

and other billing entries are included billed by Andrea M. Despotes (AMD) and 

Matthew Koenders (KM) yet there is nothing to provide the Court how three 

attorneys were needed to prepare an expert report particularly when there were 

other experts that presented opinions that overlapped but were not duplicative.  

The following entries show billing for intra-office communications and, in 

some instances, duplicative billing for the same intra-office meeting.  On August 

6, 2019, MK billed $1,207.50 to conference with KLH as well as to review the 

complaint, research, and analysis, and did not parse out the amount of time 

spent conferring with KLH.  Then on August 26, 2019, AMD billed $1,840.00 to 

review the file, conduct research, and confer with KLH; again, not breaking down 

the amount of time spent for inter-office conferencing.  On August 27, 2019, MK 

again billed $1,312.50 to again review the complaint, analysis, and confer with 

KLH.  On August 30, 2019, there are billing entries for KLH for conferencing with 

MK, as well as a duplicative $525.00 entry for MK for conferencing with KLH.  On 

September 5, 2019, MK billed $1,050.00 to review the record and confer with 

KLH.  On September 16, 2019, AMD billed $2,760.00 for an office conference 

with KLH and work on research, with no breakdown for the timing as to each.  On 

September 18, 2019, AMD billed $172.50 for an office conference.  On February 

20, 2020, and February 27, 2020, MK billed $787.50 and $2,467.50, respectively, 

to review record and analysis and confer with KLH; again, with no breakdown of 

the time spent on intra-office conference.  Then on March 21, 2020, and March 

31, 2020, MK billed $1,680.00 and $367.50, respectively, to work on the draft 

expert report, research, and conference with KLH with no temporal breakdown. 

On April 8, 2020, and April 12, 2020, AMD billed $230 and $57.50, respectively, 

to conference with KLH.  On April 13, 2020, there are billing entries for KLH for 

conferencing with MK, as well as a duplicative $787.50 entry for MK for 
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conferencing with KLH.  Similarly, on April 14, 2020, there are billing entries for 

KLH conferencing with MK on the report, and a duplicative entry for $1,470.00 

MK to conference with KLH and review and revise the draft report, the time is not 

parsed out for the activities.  On April 20, 2020, and April 21, 2020, AMD billed 

$115.00 for both entries to conference with KLH.  On April 27, 2020, MK billed 

$1,207.50 for an entry covering work on a draft report and conferencing with 

KLH, with no breakdown of the time spent on each task.  On May 7, 2020, MK 

billed $210.00 to conference with KLH.  On June 5, 2020, KLH billed to 

conference with AMD, and there was a duplicative billing entry by AMD for 

$1,207.50 to conference with KLH and work on the rebuttal report, with no 

breakdown of the time allotted to each activity.  

Some billed activities appear to be representation work beyond the scope 

necessary of an expert opinion and the entries do not contain sufficient detail for 

the Court to fully evaluate the distinction between expert tasks and tasks that 

would be handled by counsel.  For example, on November 16, 2020, KLH billed 

$630.000.00 to review a Motion in Limine pertaining to expert testimony, and 

then on November 19, 2020, billed $232.50 for “research re: MIL issue.” 

Additionally, there were billing entries for drafting the expert report and 

rebuttal report performed by parties that were not expert Mr. Harris.  There was 

no information provided as to the nature or scope of the work, whether this work 

was duplicative, or what role each person had in the preparation of the report for 

the Court to assess in its review of the records.  On January 24, 2020, AMD 

billed $632.50 for a generic entry of “worked on matters re: expert opinion.”  On 

February 4, 2020, AMD billed $920.00; on February 7, 2020, AMD billed 

$805.00; on February 11, 2020, AMD billed $2,127.50; on February 12, 2020, 

AMD billed $1,782.50; on February 14, 2020, AMD billed $115.00; on February 

19, 2020, AMD billed $977.50; on February 21, 2020, AMD billed $3,220.00; on 
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February 25, 2020, AMD billed $2,300.00; on February 26, 2020, AMD billed 

$2,507.50; on February 28, 2020, AMD billed $2,817.50; all of the foregoing 

entries were for a generic description of “worked on expert opinion matter.”  It is 

unclear to the Court whether these were part of preparing the opinion or whether 

they were other actions associated with the file as there is minimal description of 

the work given.  

Then, turning to entries where it was apparent the work was pertaining to 

the report, on March 2, 2020, KLH billed $4,107.50 and on March 5, 2020, billed 

$1,007.50 to research and work on the expert report.  On March 6, 2020, KLH 

billed $5,580.00 to work on the expert report while MK also billed $1,942.50 that 

same day to work on the draft report and research.  Similarly, on March 7, 2020, 

KLH billed $2,480.00 to work on the expert report and MK also billed $1,312.50 

to work on the draft.  Thereafter, KLH billed $1,162.50 for “work on expert report” 

on March 8, 2020; $5,037.50 on March 9, 2020; $5,435.00 on March 10, 2020; 

$2,325.00 on March 11, 2020; $3,100.00 on March 12, 2020; $3,100.00 on 

March 13, 2020; $1,550.00 on March 14, 2020; $2,945.00 on March 15, 2020; 

$4,262.50 on March 16, 2020; $4,107.50 on March 17, 2020; $4,262.50 on 

March 18, 2020; $4,650.00 on March 19, 2020; $4,495.00 on March 20, 2020; 

$3,875.00 on March 21, 2020; $3,875.00 on March 22, 2020; $5,347.50 on 

March 23, 2020; $5,192.50 on March 24, 2020; $3,487.50 on March 25, 2020; 

$4,650.00 on March 26, 2020; $4,650.00 on March 27, 2020; $5,037.50 on 

March 28, 2020; $3,875.00 on March 29, 2020; $4,650.00 on March 30, 2020; 

and $3,487.50 on March 31, 2020.  Overlapping many of those same dates, MK 

billed $1,680.00 on March 21, 2020, (which was already referenced above for 

overlapping with intra-office conferencing with KLH); $1,050.00 on March 22, 

2020; $787.50 on March 23, 2020; $1,470.00 on March 24, 2020; $1,312.50 on 

March 27, 2020; $3,150.00 on March 28, 2020; $3,937.50 on March 29, 2020; 
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$1,995.00 on March 30, 2020; and $367.50 on March 31, 2020, (this entry was 

also accounted for above for the overlapping conference with KLH), all for 

generic descriptions of “work on draft report.”  

KLH then billed for revisions to the report on April 1, 2020; April 2, 2020; 

April 11, 2020; and April 20, 2020, in the amounts of $2,945.00, $2,092.50, 

$1,395.00, and $1,705.00 respectively.  For further work on the expert report, 

KLH billed $1,782.50 on April 13, 2020; $3,022.50 on April 14, 2020; $1,162.50 

on April 15, 2020; $775.00 on April 16, 2020; $2,712.50 on April 17, 2020; 

$3,100.00 on April 19, 2020; $3,875.00 on April 20, 2020; $3,642.50 on April 21, 

2020; $3,410.00 on April 22, 2020; $2,712.50 on April 23, 2020; $4,107.50 on 

April 24, 2020; $3,177.50 on April 27, 2020; $1,550.00 on April 28, 2020; and 

$1,937.50 on April 29, 2020.  Overlapping many of those same dates, MK billed 

$787.50 on April 13, 2020 (addressed above for the entry also covering intra-

office conference); $1,470.00 on April 14, 2020; $945.00 on April 25, 2020; and 

$1,207.50 on April 27, 2020 (addressed above for the entry overlapping intra-

office conference as well), all to “work on draft report.”  AMD also billed $345.00 

on April 15, 2020; $115.00 on April 17, 2020; $3,392.50 on April 22, 2020; 

$2,875.00 on April 23, 2020; $3,162.50 on April 24, 2020; $4,772.50 on April 25, 

2020; $3,622.50 on April 26, 2020; $4,657.50 on April 27, 2020; and $3,277.50 

on April 28, 2020, for generic entries of “worked on opinion draft.” 

KLH then made further revisions to the report as part of billing blocks, 

including multiple other activities without distinguishing the time spent specifically 

on the report for $2,170.00 on May 13, 2020, and $1,705.00 on May 15, 2020. 

KLH billed $1,937.50 on May 30, 2020; $2,325.00 on June 1, 2020; $3,255.00 on 

June 2, 2020; $2,170.00 on June 3, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 5, 2020; $3,100.00 

on June 7, 2020; $3,642.50 on June 8, 2020; $3,100.00 on June 9, 2020; 

$2,712.50 on June 10, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 11, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 12, 
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2020; $3,100.00 on June 13, 2020; $3,487.50 on June 14, 2020; $2,712.50 on 

June 15, 2020; $1,782.50 on June 16, 2020; $2,092.50 on June 17, 2020; 

$3,875.00 on June 18, 2020; $3,100.00 on June 19, 2020; and $1,705.00 on 

June 24, 2020, to work on his rebuttal report and make revisions thereto.  Some 

of the foregoing entries were also lumped with activities such as reviewing 

production without breaking down the time spent for the Court to consider.  

Again, overlapping many of these same dates, there were entries by other 

persons for work on the expert rebuttal report.  There were also billing entries by 

MK for work on the rebuttal report of $1,312.50 on June 28, 2020, and $2,782.50 

on June 29, 2020.  AMD billed $575.00 on June 1, 2020; $2,645.00 on June 2, 

2020; $2,645.00 on June 3, 2020; $1,207.50 on June 5, 2020; $2,990.00 on June 

9, 2020; $2,645.00 on June 10, 2020; $2,875.00 on June 11, 2020; $3,162.50 on 

June 12, 2020; $2,760.00 on June 13, 2020; $3,392.50 on June 14, 2020; 

$172.50 on June 15, 2020; $690.00 on June 18, 2020; $1,035.00 on June 19, 

2020; $1,035.00 on June 23, 2020; $920.00 on June 24, 2020; $1,610.00 on 

June 26, 2020; $632.50 on June 27, 2020; and $2,472.50 on June 28, 2020.  

The Court notes that in addition to the foregoing entries that specifically 

referenced work on the report, and as highlighted above, AMD frequently billed 

generic entries for “work on expert matter” and it is not clear for the Court to 

assess the work done and whether it was in preparation of the report or another 

matter.  On July 1, 2020, KLH billed $1,085.00 to review comments and edits to 

the rebuttal report; on July 2, 2020, KLH billed $1,162.50 to revise the rebuttal 

report; and on July 7, 2020, KLH billed $1,937.50 to conference with AMD and 

work on final edits to the rebuttal report for which AMD also billed $575.00 to 

work on “expert opinion matters.” 

While the Court appreciates that the testimony was important to the 

Defendant’s case, and it is cited as being an aid to the Court’s decision, it is 
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unclear how the expert report and rebuttal reports alone could be billed at over 

$302,400.00, including work by two persons who were not the expert himself, 

and have that amount be considered “reasonable.”  The Court fully considers the 

nature of the case, the sophisticated parties, and the complex matters involved. 

The Court also fully considers that due to the nature of the invoices, some of the 

matters have other activities included in the line item accounting for the total time 

billed for that entry, but also notes that there are many other generic entries that 

could have involved billing for work on the report that were unclear, and the 

foregoing entries were only the ones that it was clear to the Court that the work 

done pertained to the actual reports.  

Next, the Court also considers the billing entries pertaining to Mr. Harris’ 

participation in trial.  On November 1, 2022, KLH billed $3,875.00 to review the 

transcript of the first day of trial and prepare for testimony; AMD also billed 

$3,852.50 that day to review the transcript, research tax issues, prepare notes for 

KLH, and partake in “related expert preparation activities.”  On November 2, 

2022, KLH billed $5,037.50 to review the transcript of the second day of trial, 

prepare for testimony, and travel to Las Vegas; AMD also billed $3,450.00 that 

day to again review the transcript, research tax issues, prepare notes for KLH, 

and “related expert preparation activities.”  On November 3, 2022, KLH billed 

$6,200.00 to attend trial; AMD billed $3,852.50 to review the transcript, research 

tax issues, prepare notes for KLH, and “related expert preparation activities.”  On 

November 4, 2022, KLH billed $5,812.50 to prepare in the morning and then 

attend trial in the afternoon; AMD billed $2,530.00 for the same activities 

articulated in the preceding entries.  On November 5, 2022, KLH billed $6,200.00 

to prepare for cross examination.  On November 6, 2022, KLH billed $5,425.00 to 

again prepare for cross examination; AMD billed $2,587.50 that day for the same 

activities articulated in the preceding entries.  On November 7, 2022, KLH billed 

043



 

44 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

$6,975.00 to attend trial and prepare for direct testimony; AMD billed $3,852.50 

for the same activities articulated in the preceding entries.  On November 8, 

2022, KLH billed $6,975.00 to attend trial and prepare for direct testimony.  On 

November 9, 2022, KLH billed $6,975.00 to attend trial and give direct and cross 

examination testimony.  On November 10, 2022, KLH billed $3,875.00 to attend 

trial and give cross examination testimony, as well as billed travel time.  Upon 

review, the Court notes that Mr. Harris testified 4 hours and 44 minutes over two 

days at the trial, and pursuant to applicable law the Court takes that into account 

in ascertaining what is the reasonable and necessary cost amount that Plaintiff 

should be responsible for. 

In sum, while the Court is appreciative of the extent of Mr. Harris’ 

expertise, based on the limited information provided by Defendant, the 

requirements of Nevada case law, and the analysis of entries set forth above, the 

Court finds that costs to be borne by Plaintiff associated with Mr. Harris should 

be reduced to $160,000.00    

As noted above, while Defendant’s prevailed on their 2021 Offer of 

Judgment which would entitle them to costs after said Offer was declined, that 

amount is subsumed in the NRS 18 analysis.  Accordingly, there are no 

additional costs that the Court need address.  

 

ORDER 

Having reviewed the papers and pleadings on file herein, including, but 

not limited to, the pleadings, exhibits and affidavits; having heard oral arguments 

of the parties, this Court makes the following ruling:  

IT IS, THEREFORE, HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED 

that Defendant Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees and 

Costs (DOC 427) is granted in part and denied in part without prejudice as follows:  
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The Court finds it appropriate to award Defendant Attorney’s Fees for the 

work of Snell & Wilmer in the amount of $407,018.80. 

The Court finds it appropriate to award Defendant Attorney’s Fees for the 

work of Bartlit Beck in the amount of $1,695,735.59. 

The Court further finds it appropriate to award costs, as set forth above 

pursuant to NRS 18 without being duplicative of NRCP 68 in the amount of 

$322,955.91. 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Plaintiff 

Tricarichi’s Motion To Retax and Settle PwC’s Amended Verified Memorandum 

Of Costs (DOC 414) is granted in part and denied in part without prejudice 

consistent with the Court’s ruling on Defendant Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP’s 

Motion For Attorneys’ Fees And Costs as set forth herein. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this 25th day of August, 2023. 

 
 
     ______________________________ 
     HON. JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on or about the date filed, a copy of this Order was 
served via Electronic Service to all counsel/registered parties, pursuant to the 
Nevada Electronic Filing Rules, and/or served via in one or more of the following 
manners: fax, U.S. mail, or a copy of this Order was placed in the attorney’s file 
located at the Regional Justice Center: 
 
 
            
      ______________________________ 
      TRACY L. CORDOBA-WHEELER 
      Judicial Executive Assistant 

 

 

           /s/ Tracy L. Cordoba
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